NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRATION

## Technical Report 32-1292

# The Surveyor III and Surveyor IV Flight Paths and Their Determination From Tracking Data

W.J. O'Neil R.G. Labrum S.K. Wong G.W. Reynolds

JET PROPULSION LABORATORY CALIFORNIA INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY PASADENA, CALIFORNIA

August 15, 1968

### TECHNICAL REPORT 32-1292

Copyright © 1969 Jet Propulsion Laboratory California Institute of Technology

Prepared Under Contract No. NAS 7-100 National Aeronautics and Space Administration

## Preface

The work described in this report was performed by the Systems Division of the Jet Propulsion Laboratory. Mr. W. J. O'Neil, who served as the Systems Analysis Project Engineer and a mission advisor, wrote the Introduction and integrated the sections of the report. Those sections were jointly prepared by Mr. S. K. Wong and Mr. R. C. Labrum with the following exceptions. Analysis of the AFETR tracking data for *Surveyor III* was provided by Mr. Labrum; and the corresponding analysis for *Surveyor IV* was provided by Mr. G. W. Reynolds, who also assisted with Section IX.

### Foreword

This is the second in a series of three reports concerning the determination of the flight paths of the seven Surveyor spacecraft. The Surveyor I and Surveyor II flight path determinations are described in Technical Report 32-1285. The flight path determinations for Surveyors V, VI and VII are described in Technical Report 32-1302. This report describes the current best estimate of the Surveyor III and Surveyor IV flight paths and the way in which they were determined. Postflight analysis of the tracking data has verified the adequacy of the inflight orbit determinations and provided valuable information regarding tracking station locations and physical constants.

Surveyor III and Surveyor IV were launched from Cape Kennedy on April 17 and July 14, 1967, respectively. Surveyor III successfully soft-landed on the moon at its prime target located at approximately 3°S lat and 23°W lon. It was the first Surveyor to carry the soil mechanics/surface sampler (SMSS) experiment. Extensive data were obtained with both the SMSS and the television experiment. Communications with Surveyor IV were permanently lost during its terminal descent phase approximately 2 min 31 s before the predicted touchdown time. The cause of this failure could not be determined.

This report is divided into three major parts. The first part, which consists of Sections I through IV, applies to both *Surveyors III* and *IV*. It summarizes the key flight path events and describes the basic orbit determination process, the tracking stations, and the inflight computational sequence. Parts two and three pertain to *Surveyor III* and *Surveyor IV*, respectively. Each of these parts discusses the inflight orbit solutions, the postflight analysis, the comparison of the inflight and postflight results, and the analysis of the Air Force Eastern Test Range (AFETR) tracking data for the respective *Surveyor* flight.

### Contents

I. Introduction		-	•	·	•	•	1
A. Surveyor III Flight Path Events		•	•	•	•	·	2
B. Surveyor IV Flight Path Events			•			•	3
U. C		-		_			3
	•	•	•	•	•		3
A. Orbit Determination Program	•	•	•	•	•	•	-
B. Data Weighting and Error Sources	•	·	•	•	•	•	10
C. Data Sample Rate	•	•	•	•	•	•	10
D. Data Editing	•	•	•	•	·	•	10
III. Description of DSIF Tracking Stations		•	•	•	•	•	10
IV Inflight Sequence and Types of Solutions							14
							14
V. Surveyor III Inflight Orbit Determination Analysis	·	•	•	•	•	•	10
A. View Periods and Tracking Patterns	•	·	·	•	•	•	10
B. Premaneuver Orbit Estimates	•	·	•	•	٠	·	16
C. Postmaneuver Orbit Estimates	•	•	•	•	·	•	29
D. AMR Backup Computations	•	•	•	·	•	•	31
VI. Surveyor III Postflight Orbit Determination Analysis	•					•	35
A. Introduction	•		•	•	•		35
B. Premaneuver Orbit Estimates	•		•		•		36
C. Postmaneuver Orbit Estimates							37
D. Evaluation of Midcourse Maneuver From DSIF Tracking Data							38
E. Estimated Tracking Station Locations and Physical Constants .							39
and Conclusions From Surveyor III Mission	1				_		47
VII. Observations and Conclusions from Solveyor in Mission	•	•	·				47
A. Tracking Data Evaluation	•	•	•	•		•	47
B. Comparison of Inflight and Postflight Results	·	•	•	•	•	•	47
VIII. Analysis of Air Force Eastern Test Range Tracking Data—Surveyor III							51
A. Introduction					•	•	51
B. Analysis of the Parking Orbit Data				•			52
C. Analysis of the Transfer Orbit Data	•		•				52

D. Analysis of the Postretro Orbit Data	56
E. Conclusions	56
IX. Surveyor IV Inflight Orbit Determination Analysis	57
A. View Periods and Tracking Patterns	57
B. Premaneuver Orbit Estimates	57
C. Postmaneuver Orbit Estimates	64
D. AMR Backup Computations	64
X. Surveyor IV Postflight Orbit Determination Analysis	78
A. Introduction	78
B. Premaneuver Orbit Estimates	78
C. Postmaneuver Orbit Estimates	81
D. Evaluation of Midcourse Maneuver From DSIF Tracking Data	84
E. Estimated Tracking Station Locations and Physical Constants	87
XI. Observations and Conclusions From Surveyor IV	89
A. Tracking Data Evaluation	89
B. Comparison of Inflight and Postflight Results	89
XII. Analysis of Air Force Eastern Test Range Tracking Data—Surveyor IV	92
A. Introduction	92
B. Analysis of the Transfer Orbit Data	92
C. Analysis of the Postretro Orbit Data	98
D. Conclusions	<del>9</del> 9
Appendix A. Definition of Doppler Data Types	00
Appendix B. Definition of the Miss Parameter B	01
Glossary	02
References	03

## Tables

1.	DSS locations,	Surveyor III .	٠	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	·	•	٠		13
2.	DSS locations	Surveyor IV		•	•	•	•											13

1

## Tables (contd)

3.	DSS general tracking capabilities	13
4.	Nominal schedule for orbit computations	14
5.	Physical constants used for Surveyors III and IV	15
6.	Summary of premaneuver and postmaneuver data used in orbit determination for Surveyor III	21
7.	Premaneuver computations for Surveyor III	24
8.	Premaneuver position and velocity at injection epoch for Surveyor III $\ldots$ .	25
9.	Summary of premaneuver DSS tracking data used in orbit computations for Surveyor III	26
10.	Postmaneuver computations for Surveyor III	30
11.	Postmaneuver position and velocity for Surveyor III at injection epoch	31
12.	Summary of postmaneuver DSS tracking data used in orbit computations for Surveyor 111	33
13.	Inflight results of orbit determination AMR backup computations, Surveyor III	35
14.	Comparisons of inflight and postflight AMR backup computations, Surveyor III	<b>3</b> 5
15.	Summary of postflight orbit parameters, Surveyor III	36
16.	Summary of data used in postflight orbit solutions, Surveyor III	37
17.	Midcourse maneuver evaluated at midcourse epoch, Surveyor III	39
18.	Lunar unbraked impact points, Surveyor III	39
19.	Station locations and statistics, Surveyor III (referenced to 1903.0 pole)	44
20.	Physical constants and statistics, Surveyor III	45
21.	. Correlation matrix of estimated parameters, Surveyor III (solution on postmaneuver data with premaneuver data as a priori	
	at maneuver epoch}	46
22.	. Summary of target impact parameters, Surveyor III	51
23.	. Parking orbit injection conditions, Surveyor III	52
24.	. Summary of AFETR tracking data used in orbit computations for Surveyor III/Centaur	55
25	. Converged conditions at injection epoch in space-fixed cartesian coordinates, Surveyor III	55
26.	Transfer orbit parameter solutions, Surveyor III	56
27	. Postretro parameter solutions, Surveyor III	57

## Tables (contd)

28	. Summary of premaneuver and postmaneuver data used in orbit determination for Surveyor IV				63
29	. Premaneuver computations for Surveyor IV				65
30	. Premaneuver position and velocity at injection epoch, Surveyor IV .				66
31	. Summary of premaneuver DSS tracking data used in orbit computations for Surveyor IV				67
32	Postmaneuver computations for Surveyor IV				72
33	. Postmaneuver position and velocity for Surveyor IV at injection epoch				73
34	Summary of postmaneuver DSS tracking data used in orbit computations for Surveyor IV				76
<b>3</b> 5.	Inflight results of orbit determination AMR backup				77
36.	Summary of postflight orbit parameters, Surveyor IV	•		·	79
37.	Summary of data used in postflight orbit solutions, Surveyor IV				79
38.	Comparisons of inflight and postflight AMR backup computations for Surveyor IV				84
39.	Midcourse maneuver evaluated at midcourse epoch, Surveyor IV		•		<b>8</b> 5
40.	Lunar unbraked impact points, Surveyor IV				85
41.	Station locations and statistics, Surveyor IV (referenced to 1903.0 pole)				86
42.	Physical constants and statistics, Surveyor IV			•	87
43.	Correlation matrix of estimated parameters, Surveyor IV (solution on postmaneuver data with premaneuver data				88
44.	Summary of target impact parameters. Surveyor IV	•	•	•	90
45.	AFETR station locations used for Surveyor IV	÷		•	92
46.	Transfer orbit solutions, Surveyor IV				94
47.	Statistics of real-time transfer orbit tracking data residuals, Surveyor IV				94
48.	Postflight transfer orbit solutions, Surveyor IV				97
49.	Statistics of postflight transfer orbit tracking data residuals, Surveyor IV	_	_	_	97
50.	Summary of Centaur postretro orbit injection conditions. Surveyor IV	•	•	•	98 98
51	Statistics of JPL postflight Centaur postretro orbit tracking	•	·	•	/0
<b>U</b> 1.	data residuals, Surveyor IV				98

## Figures

7 8 9 11
8 9 11
9 11
11
16
17
18
19
20
22
23
32
40
42
45
48
49
50
52
53
57
58
5 <b>9</b>
60
61
62
69

## Figures (contd)

30.	Estimated postmidcourse unbraked impact point for Surveyor	IV	•	•	•	•	•	•	74
31.	Postmaneuver two-way doppler residuals for Surveyor IV, trajectory not corrected for perturbations		•				•		75
32.	Premaneuver two-way doppler residuals for Surveyor IV, trajectory corrected for perturbations	•	•	•					80
33.	Postmaneuver two-way doppler residuals for Surveyor IV, trajectory corrected for perturbations								82
34.	Midcourse maneuver doppler for Surveyor IV	•	•	•	•		•		90
35.	Main retromotor burn phase doppler for Surveyor IV		•	•	•			•	91
36.	AFETR tracking coverage for Surveyor IV	•							93
37.	AFETR station elevation angles for Surveyor IV				•				93
38.	AFETR tracking data residuals for Surveyor IV		•	•	•			•	<b>9</b> 5
B-1.	Definition of $\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{T}$ , $\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{R}$ system		·						101

### Abstract

This report describes the current best estimate of the Surveyor III and the Surveyor IV spacecraft flight paths and the way in which they were determined. The inflight orbit determination analysis is presented. The results of inflight and postflight analyses on the tracking data are presented along with the determination of certain physical constants and station locations.

## The Surveyor III and Surveyor IV Flight Paths and Their Determination From Tracking Data

### I. Introduction

This report describes the current best estimates of the Surveyor III and Surveyor IV flight paths and the way in which they were determined. Postflight analysis of the Deep Space Instrumentation Facility (DSIF) tracking data has verified the adequacy of the inflight orbit determinations. For example, the current best estimates of the premideourse maneuver unbraked lunar impact points differ from those obtained during the flight by only 0.95 km for Surveyor III and 4.43 km for Surveyor IV.

The overall objectives of the Surveyor Project are

- To accomplish successful soft landings on the moon as demonstrated by operations of the spacecraft subsequent to landing.
- (2) To provide basic data in support of Apollo.
- (3) To perform operations on the lunar surface which will contribute new scientific knowledge about the moon and provide further information in support of Apollo.

Surveyor III, which was launched from Cape Kennedy on April 17, 1967 and which successfully landed on the moon on April 20, 1967, more than fulfilled its objectives. Surveyor IV was launched from Cape Kennedy on July 14, 1967, but its signal was permanently lost during the terminal descent phase approximately 2 min 31 s before the predicted touchdown time. Although the Surveyor IV mission ended prematurely, all flight path functions had already been completed. Therefore, the scope of the inflight and postflight flight path analyses is essentially the same for both Surveyor III and Surveyor IV.

The inflight Surveyor flight path analysis is the responsibility of the Surveyor Flight Path Analysis and Command (FPAC) team, which is staffed jointly by Hughes and the Jet Propulsion Laboratory (JPL). The FPAC team comprises the following functional groups: tracking data analysis (TDA), orbit determination (OD), maneuver analysis (MA), trajectory (TRAJ), and computer support (CS).

In order to provide perspective into the overall flight path activities, the key flight path events of *Surveyor III* and *Surveyor IV*, which are reported in greater detail in Refs. 1 and 2, are briefly summarized in this introduction. The main purpose of this report is to give additional insight into the overall performance of the orbit determination function specifically.

1

Only data taken during free flight are used for orbit solutions. This results in a discontinuity at the midcourse maneuver epoch that logically divides the tracking data into two blocks: (1) data taken before midcourse maneuver execution, and (2) data taken after midcourse maneuver execution. Results of the inflight orbit solutions arrived at from these two blocks of data, are used primarily by the maneuver analysis group to compute the midcourse and terminal maneuvers, and to provide the best estimate of the time at which a ground command should be sent to initiate the terminal retroignition sequence in the event that the onboard altitude marking radar (AMR) does not function. The solutions are also used by the trajectory group to obtain spacecraft trajectory information and view-period summaries, and by the tracking data analysis group to generate predictions of the observables for the Deep Space Stations.

### A. Surveyor III Flight Path Events

The Surveyor III spacecraft was launched from the AFETR launch site 36B at Cape Kennedy, Florida, at 07:05:01.59 GMT on April 17, 1967. A 9.83-min Atlas/ Centaur first burn injected the vehicle into a parking orbit having an altitude of approximately 90 nmi. After a coast of 22.1 min., a 1.86-min. Centaur second burn accurately injected the spacecraft into the desired lunar transfer trajectory. All event times for the launch phase were close to nominal except for the duration of the Centaur burns, which were longer than expected because of the 2% to 3% low main-engine thrust. This launch marked the first operational use of the Centaur in the parking orbit ascent mode.

Initial DSIF acquisition by the Tidbinbilla station (DSS 42) was close to optimum. Station 42 reported good one-way data at 07:55:42 GMT, only seconds after the predicted rise over the horizon mask of the station. Good two-way data were reported at 08:01:50. After DSS 42 acquisition, the DSIF stations continued to provide good two-way doppler data for the remainder of the flight with few exceptions.

The landing site, which was used in targeting the ascent trajectory was in an area of lunar maria of interest to the *Apollo* program, located at 3.33° S lat and 23.17° W lon. The *Centaur* injection was so accurate that the uncorrected, unbraked impact point was only about 466 km southwest of this site. The preflight site selection assumed the 99% landing site dispersions to be a 30-km radius circle on the lunar surface. However, primarily because of the small midcourse correction required and the high quality of the tracking data, the 99% dispersion that was computed during the flight from the predicted midcourse execution errors and orbit determination errors was a 10.6-km  $\times$  15.1-km ellipse. Because of this smaller dispersion, and the hazardous features of the lunar terrain that were observed in the high-resolution *Lunar Orbiter III* photographs, the midcourse aim point was biased 0.42 deg approximately north of the site selected preflight in order to enhance the probability of soft landing.

A midcourse correction of 4.19 m/s was successfully executed during the first Goldstone view period at approximately 05:00 GMT on April 18, 1967. This velocity increment was required in the critical plane to correct for "miss only." The velocity component normal to the critical plane is referred to as the *noncritical component* since it does not affect the miss to first order. The noncritical component principally influences the flight time, main retro burnout velocity, vernier propellant margin, and landing site dispersions. A noncritical component of zero was selected to minimize landing site dispersions since there were ample margins in all of the above parameters. Execution of the midcourse correction during the second Goldstone view period (approximately 46 h after injection) would have doubled the required velocity correction while reducing the expected landing site dispersions by one-fourth because of the reduction in orbit determination errors with the additional tracking data. However, the very small net gain in soft landing probability did not warrant the 24-h reduction in the time available after midcourse to diagnose and correct failures which might have occurred as a result of the midcourse execution.

A terminal attitude maneuver, consisting of -157.90 deg yaw, -76.78 deg pitch, and -63.92 deg roll, was initiated 38 min before retroignition to properly orient the spacecraft for the powered descent. The terminal roll attitude of the spacecraft was constrained by a problem with sidelobe crosscoupling of the radar altimeter and doppler velocity sensor (RADVS). The terminal descent was near nominal with the exception that the vernier engines were not automatically shut off at the 14-ft altitude mark. Consequently, the spacecraft bounced off the surface twice before the engines were shut off by ground command. Initial touchdown occurred at 00:04:17 GMT on April 20, 1967, at a mission time of L + 64 h 09 min.

Early television pictures from Surveyor III indicated that the spacecraft had landed within a crater having a diameter of about 200 m. The Lunar Orbiter III highrcsolution photographs of the general landing area were scanned, and a crater was discovered in surroundings which resembled those appearing in the Surveyor pictures. Closer examination of the photographs revealed sufficient landmarks recognizable in both the Surveyor and Lunar Orbiter pictures to conclude with high confidence that Surveyor was, indeed, in this particular crater. With the use of simple triangulation methods, the Surveyor III spacecraft was found to be at  $2.94^{\circ}$  S lat and  $23.34^{\circ}$  W lon, a mere 2.8 km from the final aim point.

### **B.** Surveyor IV Flight Path Events

The Surveyor IV spacecraft was launched from the AFETR launch site 36A at Cape Kennedy, at 11:53:29.215 GMT on July 14, 1967. Since this was a direct ascent flight, a single Atlas/Centaur burn of 11.46-min injected the spacecraft into the desired lunar transfer trajectory. All event times were well within the 3- $\sigma$  tolerances.

The tracking by the DSIF stations provided virtually continuous, high-quality, two-way doppler data with few exceptions throughout the mission. Initial DSIF acquisition was smoothly accomplished by DSS 72 at Ascension Island. Station 72 reported good one-way doppler data at 12:10:03 GMT only seconds after the predicted spacecraft rise at the station. Good two-way data was reported at 12:16:23 GMT.

The landing site initially selected for Surveyor IV, which was used in targeting the launch vehicle ascent trajectory, was in Sinus Medii at 0.58°N lat and 0.83°W lon. This site was selected because of its prime interest to the Apollo program. Subsequently, NASA Headquarters directed a refinement of the aim point to 0.417°N lat and 1.333°W lon at the request of the Apollo program office. The precision of the Centaur injection achieved an uncorrected, unbraked impact point that was only about 176 km southwest of the initial target point. Primarily because of the small midcourse correction required, and the high quality of the tracking data, the 99% landing site dispersion that was computed from the predicted midcourse execution errors and the orbit determination errors for a correction during the second Goldstone view period (about L + 38 h) was a 7.2 km  $\times$  10.8 km ellipse. The midcourse correction was delayed until the second Goldstone view period because the predicted landing site dispersions were substantially less than those predicted for a midcourse correction during the first Goldstone view period. Landing accuracy was particularly critical on this mission because of the hazardous surface features seen near the desired landing site in the high resolution Lunar Orbiter photographs. This was the only Surveyor mission in which midcourse correction was delayed until the second Goldstone view period.

A midcourse correction of 10.27 m/s was commanded and successfully executed at about 02:30 GMT on July 16, 1967. The velocity component in the critical plane to correct "miss only" was 2.47 m/s. The noncritical component of -10.0 m/s (negative sign indicates reduction in flight time) was selected because (1) predicted landing site dispersions were fairly constant out to this value, (2) the main retro burnout velocity would be reduced to a more comfortable level of about 500 ft/s, and (3) the Goldstone post-arrival visibility time would be increased.

A terminal attitude maneuver, consisting of +80.85 degroll, +92.68 deg yaw, and -25.24 deg roll, was initiated approximately 38 min before retroignition in order to properly orient the spacecraft for the powered descent. The final roll maneuver was performed to achieve a spacecraft roll attitude that would satisfy the constraints of the radar altimeter and doppler velocity sensor and of the post-landing operations. Sudden loss of the spacecraft signal occurred about 41 s after main retroignition at 02:02:40 GMT on July 17, 1967 at a mission time of L + 62:09:10. This was about 2.5 min before the predicted touchdown time. Since all control of the powered descent is performed automatically onboard the spacecraft, it is possible that the Surveyor IV spacecraft soft-landed even though all communication was lost. The best estimate of the landing site, assuming soft landing occurred, is 0.37°N lat and 1.55°W lon. This point is 6.6 km approximately due west of the final aim point.

### II. Computational Philosophy

### A. Orbit Determination Program

The Single Precision Orbit Determination Program (SPODP) of the Jet Propulsion Laboratory (Ref. 3) is the principal analysis tool used for *Surveyor* orbit determination. This program uses an iterative, modified-least-squares technique to find that set of initial conditions at a given epoch which causes the weighted sum of squares of the tracking data residuals (defined as observed values minus computed values [O - C]) to be minimized. Here the term *modified* is used to indicate that the weighting of individual data types is accomplished in a different manner than in the usual least-squares method. The Single Precision Cowell Trajectory Program, SPACE (Ref. 4), and the double precision JPL Development Ephemeris No. 19, DE-19, are used in conjunction with the SPODP.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Before the Surveyor IV mission, the JPL Ephemeris EPHEM-1 was used.

The weighted-least-squares technique used for the parameter estimates has the refinement that  $a \ priori$  information on the parameters together with their statistics influence the estimate. The basic equations are

$$\Delta \mathbf{q}_i = [\mathbf{A}^T \mathbf{W} \mathbf{A} + \widetilde{\mathbf{r}}^{-1}]^{-1} [\mathbf{A}^T \mathbf{W} (\mathbf{O} - \mathbf{C}) + \widetilde{\mathbf{r}}^{-1} \Delta \mathbf{q}_i]$$

and

$$\mathbf{q}_{i+1} = \mathbf{q}_i + \Delta \mathbf{q}_i$$

where

- $\mathbf{q}_i$  = the estimate of the solution parameter vector  $(m \times 1)$  on the *i*th iteration.
- A = the matrix of first-order partial derivatives on each observable with respect to each solution parameter  $(n \times m)$ .
- W = the diagonal weighting matrix formed by taking the reciprocal of the *a priori* estimated effective variance on each observable ( $n \times n$ ).
- $\tilde{\mathbf{r}}$  = the *a priori* covariance matrix on the solution parameters  $(m \times m)$ .
- O C = the vector of differences between the observed data and the calculated data  $(n \times 1)$ .
  - $\Delta \mathbf{q}_i$  = the difference between the *a priori* solution estimate and the *i*th iteration estimate  $(m \times 1)$ .

The statistics associated with the parameter estimates are given in the covariance matrix  $[\mathbf{A}^T \mathbf{W} \mathbf{A} + \widetilde{\mathbf{\Gamma}}^{-1}]^{-1}$ , from which it can be seen that the statistics are a direct reflection of the data weights.

Trajectory perturbations caused by gas leaks in the attitude control systems were observed during the *Mariner IV* and *Pioneer 6* missions. The postflight analysis of *Mariner IV* data by G. W. Null<sup>2</sup> led to an improved model for handling nongravitational, nondrag trajectory perturbations that was included in the Mod II version of the SPODP. The equations for this model are as follows:

$$\Delta \ddot{\mathbf{r}} = \left[ f_1 \left( 1 - \alpha_1 \tau - \alpha_2 \tau^2 \right) + \frac{A_p}{m_p} \frac{SC}{r_{sp}^2} \left( 1 + G_R + \Delta G_R \right) \right] \mathbf{U} \\ + \left[ f_2 \left( 1 - \alpha_1 \tau - \alpha_2 \tau^2 \right) + \frac{A_p}{m_p} \frac{SC}{r_{sp}^2} \left( G_T + \Delta G_T \right) \right] \mathbf{T} \\ + \left[ f_3 \left( 1 - \alpha_1 \tau - \alpha_2 \tau^2 \right) + \frac{A_p}{m_p} \frac{SC}{r_{sp}^2} \left( G_N + \Delta G_N \right) \right] \mathbf{N}$$

$$(1)$$

 $[\Delta \ddot{r}]$  = change of acceleration of probe caused by solar radiation pressure and small forces such as gas leaks in attitude control system, noncoupled attitude control jets, etc.

where

(1) The parameters to be solved for are

 $f_1, f_2, f_3 =$  accelerations due to gas leaks

 $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 = \text{coefficients of polynomial in } \tau$ 

 $G_R, G_T, G_N$  = solar radiation coefficients in the radial, tangential and normal directions

(2) The constants, or parameters not to be solved for, are

$$T = T_c - T_0$$
, where  $T_c = \text{current}$   
time,  $T_0 = \text{initial epoch}$ 

- $A_p$  = nominal area of spacecraft projected onto plane normal to sunprobe line, m<sup>2</sup>
- $m_p =$ instantaneous mass of probe, kg

 $r_{sp}$  = distance from sun to probe, km

$$SC =$$
spacecraft solar radiation constant

$$=\frac{J(AU)^2}{c}\times\frac{1\,\mathrm{km}^2}{10^6\,\mathrm{m}^2}$$

$$= 1.031 \times 10^{8} \frac{\mathrm{km^{3} \, kg}}{\mathrm{s^{2} \, m^{2}}}$$

where

J = solar radiation constant

$$= 1.383 \times 10^{3} \text{ W/m}^{2}$$

 $= 1.383 \times 10^{3} \text{ kg/s}^{2}$ 

AU = astronomical unit

$$= 1.496 \times 10^8 \text{ km}$$

$$c =$$
 speed of light

$$= 2.997925 \times 10^{5} \text{ km/s}$$

 $\mathbf{U} = \mathbf{a}$  unit vector directed out from the sun as in the case of  $\mathbf{a}$ radiation pressure force. For *Surveyor* this corresponds to the spacecraft +Z direction (roll axis)

<sup>\*</sup>From Jet Propulsion Laboratory.

- T = a unit vector in the direction of the projection of the spacecraft-Canopus vector in the plane normal to U. For Surveyor this corresponds to the spacecraft +X direction (pitch axis)
- N = a unit vector in the direction required to make T, N, and U a right-hand orthogonal system.
  For Surveyor this corresponds to the spacecraft + Y direction (yaw axis)

 $\Delta G_R, \Delta G_T, \Delta G_N =$  input values specified at up to 100 time-points with linear interpolation between points

The portion of the trajectory during which these accelerations are estimated is under option control. That is, during a given orbit computation the acceleration can be estimated either for specific parts of the trajectory or for the entire trajectory.

### **B. Data Weighting and Error Sources**

The philosophy used for weighting data in the SPODP is to base the calculation of a weight value on the effective (or expected) variance of a given data type. The effective variance for a given data type is determined by summing up the variances caused by all known error sources. For two-way doppler data,<sup>3</sup> the error sources were divided into two general classes: (1) hardware, or station equipment errors; and (2) software, i.e., computing and model errors. For the first class of errors, such items as transmitter reference oscillator stability, doppler counter roundoff error or quantization, and doppler counter error due to dropped or added cycles in the presence of a low signal-to-noise ratio were considered. Of these, the major contributor is counter quantization error which is estimated to be 0.017 Hz (equivalent to a velocity error of 0.0011 m/s for a data sample rate of 60 s. For the second class of errors it is known that certain model errors exist which are not adequately accounted for in the SPODP and are not sufficiently known so that they may be reflected in the effective variance. Among these are planetary and earth-moon ephemerides errors. The planetary ephemerides errors are negligible for a lunar trajectory, but earth-moon ephemerides errors will affect such quantities as predicted unbraked impact time, i.e., unbraked time of arrival. This is evidenced by the fact that the predicted time tends to vary as more near-moon

tracking data is included in the orbit solution. The error in the refraction correction model used to correct low elevation data contributes a maximum of  $1.07 \times 10^{-4}$  m/s for a 60-s sample rate. In the ODP, statistics are based upon 1- $\sigma$  data weights modified by an empirical refraction formula to account for varying elevation angles. Computing errors incurred within the program are the major contributors to the two-way doppler data weight. These errors (approximately 0.012 m/s for a 60-s sample rate) are due to the fact that most of the computations are done in single precision and result in interpolation errors and the build-up of roundoff errors. Based on the above error sources, the effective two-way doppler data weight is 0.013 m/s which corresponds to 0.2 Hz for S-band stations.

The error sources associated with angle data (hour angle-HA, and declination angle-dec; or azimuth angle-az, and elevation angle-el) are

- (1) Angle jitter or variation about the aiming point caused by antenna drive servomechanisms.
- (2) Angle correction errors caused by differences between the empirical correction model which is based on the antenna optical axis, and the RF pointing axis.
- (3) Angle encoder readout errors caused by inaccuracies in the compensation cams. Resolution of the encoder is plus or minus one count which corresponds to 0.002 deg.
- (4) Refraction correction errors due to the difference between the atmospheric model used in the SPODP and the actual atmosphere at a given time.

Of these, the dominant error sources are angle correction errors which contribute an estimated variance of 0.033 deg<sup>2</sup> for a sample rate of 60 s. Thus, an effective data weight of 0.18 deg was used for HA-dec and az-el data. In past missions it was observed that a bias remained after the corrections were applied to the angle data. Therefore, these data arc usually omitted from the orbit solution as soon as enough two-way doppler data are available to obtain a good solution. An idea of the biases for both uncorrected and corrected angle data can be obtained by examining the residual plots for DSS 42 and 51 premaneuver angle data in Figs. 1 through 4. These residuals were obtained by passing a converged set of initial conditions through the angle data. This set of initial conditions was obtained from an orbit solution which used all premaneuver two-way doppler data in the fit; i.e., no angle data were used to obtain the conditions. The residuals are plotted vs hour angle rather than time. Thus,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>See Appendix A for a definition of tracking data types.



the shape of the uncorrected residual plots (Figs. 1 and 3) will show the total deflection or pointing error (main antenna structure deflection plus quadripod deflection) as the antenna moves from one horizon to the other. Figures 2 and 4 show the residuals of the same angle data after corrections, intended to remove the systematic pointing errors, were applied. These corrections are given in the form of polynomial coefficients based on optical horizon-to-horizon star tracks. That is, a polynomial curve fit is made to the optical pointing errors<sup>4</sup> resulting from a given horizon-to-horizon star track. The results of a number of such star tracks, using different stars, are combined to obtain the actual polynomial coefficients used in the orbit data generator program (ODG) to correct the angle data before it is used in the ODP. Star tracks, of stars which were not used in the polynomial curve fits, are periodically conducted to validate the coefficients. A comparison between the corrected residuals (Figs. 2 and 4) and the uncorrected residuals (Figs. 1 and 3) shows

that a large percentage of the skew and curvature has been removed by the angle corrections, but some bias still exists. Similar biases have been observed in all previous lunar and planetary missions. These biases are most likely due to a difference between the antenna optical axis and the antenna RF axis. An optical ray path is directed from the source to a small telescope mounted near the bottom of the main paraboloidal reflector. On the other hand, the RF signal path is more complex. In general terms, an RF signal arriving at the main dish is reflected to a hyperboloidal reflector (part of the Cassegrain feed system) located essentially at the apex (focal point of the paraboloid) of a quadripod structure approximately 36 ft above the bottom of the paraboloidal reflector. From the hyperboloid, the signal is reflected back to the Cassegrain cone which supports the Cassegrain tracking feed. The net result is that another deflection has been introduced: that of the quadripod structure. Efforts are now under way to use RF sources such as post landing Surveyor tracking to generate more accurate correction coefficients. Even though the present corrections do not completely remove the systematic pointing errors, the corrected angle data are extremely valuable in converging to an orbit solution during the early part of a mission.

<sup>&#</sup>x27;The optical pointing error is defined as the difference between the known star position (in terms of topocentric hour angle and declination) at a given time and the corresponding antenna position at the same time.



Fig. 2. DSS 42 corrected premaneuver angular residuals for Surveyor III



Fig. 3. DSS 51 uncorrected premaneuver angular residuals for Surveyor III



Fig. 4. DSS 51 corrected premaneuver angular residuals for Surveyor III

### C. Data Sample Rate

The sample spacing to be used at the tracking station is determined by the tradeoff between doppler counter roundoff errors and truncation errors occurring in the doppler frequency computations. The expression used in the SPODP for the computations is

$$f(t_{ob}) = \int_{T-1/2\tau}^{T+1/2\tau} \vec{F}(t) dt$$

where

- $f(t_{ob})$  = integrated doppler frequency which should be observed by a station at time  $t_{ob}$ 
  - $T = t_{ob} \frac{1}{2} \tau$

 $\tau =$  sample spacing

F(t) = instantaneous frequency of the doppler shift which should have been observed at time t

This integral is evaluated by expanding a Taylor series about T and integrating term by term leading to

$$f(t_{ob}) = \tau F(t) + \frac{\tau^3}{24} \mathbf{\dot{F}}(t) + 0(F^{\text{IV}})$$

Thus, the truncation error is a function of  $\tau$  and the fourth derivative of the frequency (which is dependent on the fifth derivative of range). Sample spacing has to be reduced during two phases of flight: (1) near earth, and (2) during midcourse maneuver. For these phases a sample spacing of 10 s was used. At all other times a sample spacing of 60 s was used.

### **D. Data Editing**

The JPL tracking data processor (TDP) and orbit data generator (ODG) programs (Ref. 5) are used to edit all incoming tracking data and to prepare a data file for input to the SPODP. Data points are first read into the TDP which checks each data sample for acceptable format; i.e., it checks to determine if it is one of 30 acceptable message formats, if each item in the sample is the proper field, and if any item contains a missing or illegal character. During flight operations, time does not permit reconstruction of data points which were rejected

10

for bad format. The next item the TDP checks is the data condition code. A data point is given a bad data condition code when automatic detectors, at the station, sense that the data would be unusable. These detectors have manual overrides which are used whenever an equipment malfunction is suspected, and during periods when the transmitter is being retuned before the transmitting assignment is transferred to another station. A coarse, in-range value check is made by the TDP to determine if each data type is within an acceptable limit; i.e., 360° for angles and 104 cycles for doppler. All data which have passed these checks or are not rejected by a user option are time-sorted and written on disk and magnetic tape for access by the ODG. If the ODG, upon reading the data file, finds angle data from DSS 42 or DSS 51, the values are corrected to remove systematic antenna pointing errors. Next, the doppler data is checked for monotonicity, valid tracking mode, and valid sample rate, and is converted from cycles to cycles per second by differencing adjacent samples and dividing by the sample time. Pertinent transmitter and receiver frequencies are entered on the file with each doppler sample (these frequencies are read in by the user; or, in some formats may be included with the data sample). The data are then written on disk and magnetic tape for access by the SPODP.

Blunder points are the data points rejected by the TDP and ODC during validity checks, or by application of user rejection limits during the orbit computation. These limits are based on experience gained in previous missions, and on the philosophy that it is better to immediately reject questionable points, which could create difficulties in converging to an orbit, than to attempt to salvage every point. This is particularly true when very few data are available during the early phase of the mission.

### III. Description of DSIF Tracking Stations

The following Deep Space Stations provided tracking data for both Surveyors III and IV: DSS 11 (Pioneer: Goldstone, California), DSS 42 (Tidbinbilla, Australia), DSS 51 (Johannesburg, South Africa) and DSS 61 (Madrid, Spain). DSS 72 (Ascension Island) also participated as a backup station but provided two-way tracking only for Surveyor IV. The locations of these stations for Surveyors III and IV are given in Tables 1 and 2, respectively. The locations are mission-dependent because of the correction for polar motion, which is time-dependent. Figure 5 is a simplified functional diagram of the prime tracking stations. Table 3 summarizes the tracking capability of these stations.



\_

\_\_\_\_

-



DEEP SPACE INSTRUMENTATION FACILITY, SURVEYOR CONFIGURATION





. . . **\*** 

DSS	Geocentric radius, km	Geocentric latitude, deg (minus, south)	Geocentric longitude, deg
11	6372.020	35.20822	243.15070
42	6371.691	- 35.21942	148.98140
51	6375.506	- 25.73926	27.68568
61	6370.012	40.23882	355.75110
72	6378.239	-7.8999	345.6736

Table 1. DSS locations, Surveyor III

## Table 2. DSS locations, Surveyor IV

DSS	Geocentric radius, km	Geocentric latitude, deg (minus, south)	Geocentric longitude, deg
11	6372.0107	35.208360	243.150980
42	6371.6771	-35.219193	148.981630
51	6375.5063	-25.739289	27.685671
61	6369.9955	40.238785	355.751300
72	6378.239	-7.89993	345.67362

Table 3. DSS general tracking capabilities

Deep Space Stations 11, 42, 51, 61		Deep Space Stations 11, 42, 51, 61						
Configuration GSDS S-band		Configuration	GSDS S-band					
Antenna		Transmitter characteristics						
Tracking	85-ft parabolic	Frequency (nominal)	2113 Mc					
Mount	Polar (HA-dec)	Frequency channel	14Ь					
Beamwidth $\pm$ 3 dB	~0.4 deg	Power, maximum	10 kW					
Gain, receiving	53.0 dB, +1.0, -0.5	Tuning range	±100 kc					
Gain, transmitting	51.0 dB, +1.0, -0.5	Modulator, phase						
Feed	Cassegrain	Input impedance	$\geq$ 1 k $\Omega$					
Polarization	LH or RH circular	Input voltage	$\leq$ 2.5 V peak					
Maximum angular tracking	51 deg/min = 0.85 deg/s	Frequency response (3 dB)	1 to 100 kHz					
rate" Maximum angular acceleration	5.0 deg/s/s	Sensitivity at carrier output frequency	1.0 rad peak per V peak					
Tracking accuracy (1 $\sigma$ )	0.14 deg	Peak deviation	2.5 rad peak					
Receiver	S-band	Modulation deviation stability	±5%					
Typical system temperature	o bana	Rubidium standard	Yes					
with paramp	270°K ±50°K	Stability, short term $(1\sigma)$	$1 \times 10^{-11}$					
with maser	55°K ±10°K	Stability, long term (1 $\sigma$ )	$5 \times 10^{-11}$					
		Doppler accuracy at $F_{rc}$ (1 $\sigma$ )	$0.2 \ \text{Hz} = 0.03 \ \text{m/s}$					
Loop noise bandwidth		Data transmission, teletype						
Threshold (2B <sub>L0</sub> )	12, 48, or 152 Hz $+0, -10\%$	Angle	Near-real-time					
Strong signal (2B <sub>L0</sub> )	120, 255, or 550 Hz	Doppler	Near-real-time					
	+0, -10%	Telemetry	Near-real-time					
Frequency (nominal)	2295 Mc	Command and data handling console	Yes					
Frequency channel	14a	Command capability	Yes					
«Both axes.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							

### **IV. Inflight Sequence and Types of Solutions**

During the flight the orbit solution is periodically updated as new tracking data becomes available. The nominal schedule on which these computations are made and the purpose of each computation is given in Table 4. Because a late (during DSS 11 [Goldstone] second pass) midcourse maneuver was decided upon and executed for Surveyor IV, the nominal schedule was modified after the normal LAPM orbit time. Since the computers are heavily loaded (i.e., a number of different engineering programs must be run at various intervals) throughout most of the mission, the type of orbit solution must be held to a minimum. That is, the number of parameters estimated in a solution must be restricted to the minimum set which will still allow the orbit determination accuracy goals to be met.5 Experience gained from analyzing the data on Surveyors I and II and Ranger Block III preflight, inflight, and postflight analysis led to the determination that, in general, estimating only the position and velocity of the spacecraft at a given epoch is the best compromise between accuracy and computer time for inflight Surveyor

<sup>3</sup>The Surveyor guaranteed orbit determination accuracy capabilities are given in Refs. 6 and 7.

orbit determination, assuming that the improved physical constants and station location parameter solutions obtained from the *Ranger* Block III and *Mariners II* and *IV* tracking data be used. Numerical values of these and other critical constants are given in Tables 1, 2, and 5.

In the premidcourse maneuver phase, all orbit solutions are obtained by estimating only the standard 6 parameters. After midcourse maneuver execution, all premidcourse tracking data from initial DSS acquisition until start of maneuver roll turn are used to obtain a best estimate premidcourse  $6 \times 6$  orbit solution. The state vector (probe position and velocity) at injection epoch is integrated forward to the end of midcourse motor burn and incremented by the commanded midcourse velocity change. The resulting vector is then used as the initial estimate of the spacecraft postmidcourse orbit.

During the postmidcourse maneuver phase from end of midcourse motor burn until lunar encounter minus 5 h 40 min (E - 5 h 40 min), the orbit solutions are based

Orbit	Time of co	mputation	Type of						
identification Beginning End		Ending	solution	Purpose or computation					
AFETR	L + 45 min	L + 1 h 10 min	6 × 6	Backup to AFETR orbit computation using AFETR C-band Centaur tracking data.					
PROR	L + 1 h 15 min	L + 1 h 45 min	6 × 6	Estimate initial spacecraft orbit, based on DSS data; orbital elements, to generate acquisition predictions for Deep Space Stations.					
ICEV	L + 2 h 20 min	L + 2 h 50 min	6 × 6	Evaluate initial injection conditions.					
PREL	() + 3 h 30 min	L + 4 h 30 min	6 × 6	Provide orbital and target information for preliminary midcourse study, and elements for updating acquisition predictions.					
DACO	MC — 11 h 45 min	MC — 8 h 45 min	6 × 6	Check data consistency computations; i.e., validate consistency of all available data.					
LAPM	MC — 4 h 30 min	MC — 3 h	6 × 6	Final premidcourse orbit for determining midcourse maneuver cor- rections.					
PRCL	MC + 2 h	MC + 4 h	6 × 6	Clean up orbit for generating a priori covariance matrix for post- midcourse orbit computations.					
1 POM	MC + 7 h	MC + 9 h 40 min	6 × 6	Make preliminary evaluation of midcourse maneuver execution; pro- vide orbital elements to generate acquisition predictions for Deep Space Stations.					
2 POM	MC + 12 h 50 min	MC + 14 h 30 min	6 × 6	Update postmidcourse orbit solution based on postmidcourse data only.					
3 POM	R — 24 h	R — 21 h 30 min	6 × 6	Update postmidcourse orbit solution.					
4 POM	R - 14 h 5 min	R — 11 h 5 mìn	6 × 6	Update postmidcourse orbit solution.					
5 POM	R — 5 h 40 min	R — 2 h 45 min	6 × 6	Solve final postmidcourse orbit for determining terminal spacecraft attitude maneuvers.					
FINAL	R — 2 h	R 40 min	10 × 10	Obtain best estimate of unbraked impact time for AMR backup.					
Abbreviations: L	= launch; MC == midcourse;	R = retrofire.							

Table 4. Nominal schedule for orbit computations

<sup>&</sup>quot;This type of orbit solution is commonly referred to as a " $6 \times 6$ " or "standard 6."

	Va	lue	SPODP symbolic	SPACE symbolic	Basic source
Constant	Surveyor III	Surveyor IV	desig- nation	desig- nation	Busic source
Earth gravitational coefficient, km <sup>3</sup> /s <sup>2</sup>	398601.27	398601.27	KE	GME	Ranger Block III (Ref. 6)
Moon gravitational coefficient, km <sup>3</sup> /s <sup>2</sup>	4902.6309	4902.6309	км	GMM	Ref. ó
Earth radius to convert lunar ephemeris to km, km	6378.3106*	6378.1495	RE	REM	Ref. ó
Earth radius to be used in the oblate potential of earth, km	6378.1650	6378.1650		RE	Ref. 7
Ephemeris-Universal time reduction $\Delta T = \mathrm{ET} - \mathrm{UT}$ , s	37.8	38.0	DUT	DUT	Internal publication
Earth-moon mass ratio GM <sub>earth</sub> /GM <sub>moon</sub> , kg-km <sup>2</sup>	81.304389	81.304389			(Ref. 6)
Moments of inertia of moon for lunar oblate potential, kg-km²	$0.88778216 \times 10^{29}$ $0.88796612 \times 10^{29}$ $0.88833394 \times 10^{29}$	$0.88778216  imes 10^{29}$ $0.88796612  imes 10^{29}$ $0.88833394  imes 10^{29}$		A B C	Derived from Ranger Block III value of KM
Coefficient of second harmonic in oblateness of earth	0.00162345	0.00162345	L	L	Internal publication
Coefficient of third harmonic in oblateness of earth	-0.00000575	-0.00000575	н	н	Internal publication
Coefficient of fourth harmonic in oblateness of earth	0.000007875	0.000007875	D	D	Internal publication
Speed of light, km/s	299792.5	299792.5			Ref. /
Lunar radius at target, km	1737.5 <sup>b</sup>	1736.8	RSTOP		ACIC lunar charts, Ranger, Surveyor, and Lunar Orbiter

Table 5. Physica	l constants	used for	Surveyo	rs III	and	IV
------------------	-------------	----------	---------	--------	-----	----

<sup>b</sup>During the postmidcourse orbit computations this value was changed to 1736

on estimating only the standard 6 parameters. The spacecraft terminal attitude maneuvers are computed from the final  $6 \times 6$  orbit solution. The rationale here is the same as that used for the premaneuver  $6 \times 6$  solutions. That is, even though model errors and ephemerides errors exist, and errors that might occur because of differences between the assumed values of physical constants and station locations and the *true* values, the orbit determination accuracy goal can be achieved by estimating only the standard 6 orbital parameters.

To provide an effective backup for the Surveyor altitude marking radar (AMR), the type of orbit solution must be changed during the last few hours of the mission. The backup consists of transmitting a retromotor ignition sequence turn on command (from a ground station) at such a time that if a turn on pulse has not been generated by the AMR by the time the backup command reaches the spacecraft, the backup command will initiate the sequence. The transmission time is inten-

JPL TECHNICAL REPORT 32-1292

tionally biased late, so that the AMR has ample opportunity to function, yet in time to save a significant percentage of missions in the event the AMR does not function. This requires that the SPODP be capable of predicting the unbraked impact time to within an uncertainty of approximately  $0.5 \text{ s} (1 \sigma)$ . The uncertainty must include all error sources. Error sources, exclusive of tracking data errors, that significantly affect the predicted unbraked impact time are: (1) assumed value of lunar elevation at the impact point, (2) errors in earth-moon ephemerides, and (3) timing errors. The lunar elevation is obtained from NASA Langley Research Center and closely agrees with the elevation based on the Air Force Aeronautical Chart and Information Center (ACIC) lunar charts less 2.4 km. The 2.4 km is the amount by which elevations based on the appropriate ACIC lunar charts exceed elevations obtained from the Rangers VI, VII, and VIII tracking data. An a priori 1- $\sigma$  uncertainty of  $\pm 1$  km (roughly equivalent to  $\pm 0.4$  s) is assigned to the elevation. A study using Ranger Block III tracking data indicated that the two remaining error sources could be adequately reduced by relying heavily on the near-moon tracking data and processing the data in the following manner:

- (1) Process all available two-way doppler data from the midcourse epoch to approximately E 5 h 40 min and map the resulting solution plus covariance matrix to the time of the last data point. Nothing is significant about the E 5 h 40 min epoch other than its consistency with nominal sequence of events items. Degrade the diagonal elements of the mapped covariance matrix by 0.25 km<sup>2</sup> on position components and  $1 \times 10^{-10}$  km<sup>2</sup>/s<sup>2</sup> on velocity components.
- (2) Expand the estimate list to include geocentric radius and longitude of the two observing stations. That is, the type solution is expanded to a  $10 \times 10$ . A priori uncertainties of 12 m in spin axis distance, 40 m in station longitude, and 25 m in longitude difference between the two stations are added to the mapped covariance matrix.
- (3) Reduce the effective data weight to 0.003 m/s (0.0195 Hz) to obtain realistic statistics on predicted unbraked impact time. This reduction is valid since computational errors are no longer a source of major error; i.e., the trajectory is only being integrated over a 6-h period. Also, the model errors have been

taken into account by degrading the covariance matrix and by adding the station parameters to the estimate list.

### V. Surveyor III Inflight Orbit Determination Analysis

### A. View Periods and Tracking Patterns

Figure 6 summarizes the tracking station view periods and their data coverage for the period from launch to lunar touchdown. Figures 7 to 10 are stereographic projections for the prime tracking stations which show the trace of the spacecraft trajectory for the view periods of Fig. 6.

#### **B.** Premaneuver Orbit Estimates

Table 6 summarizes the tracking data used for both the inflight and postflight orbital calculations and analyses. This table provides a general picture of the performance of the data recording and handling systems.

The Air Force Eastern Test Range C-band tracking data obtained from Pretoria during the period between *Centaur* second main engine cutoff (MECO 2) and *Centaur*-spacecraft separation indicates that the Pretoria radar had problems in staying locked to the *Centaur*.



Fig. 6. Tracking station view periods and doppler data coverage for Surveyor III



Fig. 7. DSS 42 stereographic projection for Surveyor III



Fig. 8. DSS 51 stereographic projection for Surveyor III

÷


Fig. 9. DSS 61 stereographic projection for Surveyor III



Fig. 10. DSS 11 stereographic projection for Surveyor III

Because of these problems, the AFETR check orbit was computed at JPL using only 5 data points of which 2 points were burn data and another 2 points were post-*Centaur*-spacecraft separation data. Only one usable data point was available between second main engine cutoff and *Centaur*-spacecraft separation. Therefore confidence in the solution was limited. Since the mark times indicated a near nominal flight, the preflight nominal injection conditions were used as starter values for the initial orbit computations.

The first estimate of the spacecraft orbit was completed at L + 1 h 54 min, and was based on approximately 20 min of DSS 42 angle and two-way doppler data. Mapping this solution forward to the target indicated that the correction required to achieve encounter at the prelaunch aiming point was well within the midcourse correction capability as was verified by the second (ICEV) and third (PREL) orbit computations completed at L + 2h 50 min and L + 3h 48 min, respectively.

During the third orbit computation period a comparison was made between solutions with and without angle (HA, dec) data. On the prime computer, the orbit computation (PREL YA) was made using DSS 42 angle and two-way doppler (CC3) data in the least-squares fit. On

DSS	Data type	Points received	Number used in re % of re	of points eal time, eceived	Bad fo % of re	rmat, iceived	Bad cond % of re	data ition, eceived	Blunder % of re	points, eceived	Rejection limits on blunder	Points used in postflight
			Points	%	Points	%	Points	%	Points	%	points	analysis
(A)	(B)	(C)	([	))	(E	)	()	F)	(0	;)	(н)	ω
					Pre	emaneuve	er data				• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	·····
11	ССЗ	515	387	75.1	19	3.7	1	0.2	28	5.4	0.05 Hz	378
	НА	416	0	0	19	4.5	33	7.9	_	_	_	o
	Dec	416	0	0	19	4.5	33	7.9	-	-		0
42	ССЗ	507	429	84.6	7	1.4	3	0.6	5	1.0	0.06 Hz	418
	HA	699	383	54.8	15	2.1	66	9.4	2	0.3	0.20 deg	0
	Dec	699	383	54.8	15	2.1	66	9.4	4	0.6	0.20 deg	0
51	ССЗ	354	242	68.4	30	8.5	15	4.2	5	1.4	0.08 Hz	239
	HA	735	0	0	51	6.9	93	12.6			—	o
	Dec	735	0	0	51	6.9	93	12.6	—	-	-	0
61	ССЗ	290	140	48.3	26	9.0	48	16.5	66	22.7	0.03 Hz	69
	НА	1045	133	12.7	98	9.4	80	7.7	1	0.1	0.20 deg	0
	Dec	1045	133	12.7	98	9.4	80	7.7	1	0.1	0.20 deg	0
	•	-		L	Pos	tmaneuve	r data			L		
11	ССЗ	792	602	76.0	6	0.8	22	2.8	18	2.3	0.08 Hz	585
42	CC3	755	593	78.5	3	0.4	17	2.3	2	0.3	0.02	590
51	ссз	204	101	49.5	6	2.9	0	0.0	1	0.5	0.10	101
61	ссз	830	581	70.0	26	3.1	48	5.8	3	0.4	0.03	551

Table 6. Summary of premaneuver and postmaneuver data used in orbit determination for Surveyor III

the backup computer, the orbit computation (PREL XA) was made using only DSS 42 two-way doppler data in the fit. The comparison showed a difference in the **B**-plane target parameters of approximately 115 km in  $\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{TT}$  and approximately 133 km in  $\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{RT}$ . These differences are outside the stated uncertainties, and clearly demonstrate how the orbit solution is corrupted by using the biased angle data.

During the data consistency (DACO) computation period from MC - 11 h 45 min to MC - 8 h 45 min, eight orbital solutions were obtained using various combinations of DSS 42, DSS 51, and DSS 61 data. The solutions obtained from these computations indicated that the twoway doppler data from the three Deep Space Stations were consistent. However, the DSS 61 data were excessively noisy owing to a counter problem which was corrected before the next DSS 61 rise.

At the beginning of the last premidcourse (LAPM) orbit computation time block, the following amount of two-way doppler data was available: 3 h 43 min from DSS 42, 8 h 4 min from DSS 51, 7 h 35 min from DSS 61, and 2 h 10 min from DSS 11. An orbit computation (LAPM YA) was made from these data and the solution showed that the DSS 11 data were also consistent with data from the other three Deep Space Stations. The data file was updated to include an additional 54 min of DSS 11 twoway doppler for the final premideourse orbit computation (LAPM YC). When this solution was mapped to the moon, it indicated that the uncorrected unbraked lunar impact would occur at 10.07° S lat and 323.02° E lon, approximately 430 km west and 205 km south of the aiming point.

The numerical results of the premaneuver orbit computations are presented in Tables 7 and 8. Figure 11 is a plot showing the unbraked impact points obtained from the representative premaneuver orbit solutions. Amounts and types of tracking data used in the various orbit computations, together with the associated noise statistics, are given in Table 9. Figure 12 shows representative premidcourse residuals plots for two-way doppler data used in the orbit solutions.



Fig. 11. Estimated premidcourse unbraked impact point for Surveyor III



# • -----

\_\_\_\_\_

\_

.- .-

re F

-



Type	Date	s used
tion	DSS	Data
6×6	42	Angles, CC3
6×6	42	CC3
6×6	42	Angles, CC3
6×6	42, 51	CC3
6×6	42, 51, 61	CC3
5×6	42, 51, 61	CC3
5×6	42,61	CC3
5×6	51,61	CC3
5×6	42, 51, 61	Angles, CC3
5×6	42, 51	Angles, CC3
	+ 61	Angles
5×6	42, 51	CC3
o ^ o	42, 51	663
v.	+ 51, 61	Angles
	42, 51, 61	CC3
$\sqrt{2}$	42, 51, 61	CC3
	42, 51, 61	
	42,51,01	CC3
XA	42, 51, 61, 11	
XA	42, 31, 61, 11	CC3
XA	42, 51, 61, 11	CC3
XA	42, 51, 61, 11	CC3
XA	42,51,01,11	CC3
XA	42,51,61,11	CC3
XA	42 51 11	CC3
~•	42, 51, 11	
		I



Fig. 12. Premaneuver two-way doppler residuals for Surveyor III

	Ti	me puted					Target	statistics					Selenocentric conditions at unbraked impact			
identifi- cation	Start h:min	Stop h:min	B, km	B•Tĭ, km	B∙R7, km	T <sub>L</sub> , h	SMAA, km (1 <i>0</i> }	SMIA, km (1σ)	θ <sub>Ţ</sub> , deg	σ <sub>7. impact</sub> , s (1σ)	φ <sub>PP</sub> , deg	SVFIXR, km/s (10)	Latitude, deg (south)	Longi- tude, deg (east)	GMT h:min Apr 19 1967	
PROR YA	08:28	08:59	922.123	878.773	-279.411	64.425	564.03	107.01	60.638	48.0449	7.654	0.000696	6.277	324.184	23:57:35.	
PROR XA	08:30	09:03	703.318	680.229	178.733	64.434	524.99	105.02	61.501	39.8485	7.6136	0.000656	15.911	320.487	23:57:44.	
ICEV YA	09:32	09:55	962.949	942.159	- 199.016	64.424	82.216	54.19	78.017	10.2877	1.3636	0.000608	-7.832	325.613	23:57:36.	
ICEV XA	09:56	10:30	962.221	944.958	- 181.453	64.424	78.680	46.39	91.096	10.8191	1.2589	0.000608	- 8.187	325.692	23:57:38.	
PREL XA	10:33	10:53	817.395	815.762	-51.641	64.442	1668.94	98.850	90.346	252.453	24.702	0.0008834	11.0217	323.072	23:58:23.	
PREL YA	10:46	11:12	948.797	930.556	185.153	64.425	65.835	31.176	102.07	8.23346	0.99335	0.000608	-8.1333	325.379	23:57:39	
UPDATE XB	13:56	14:18	817.107	813.935	-71.931	64.441	51.43	4.983	82.47	91.00	7,944	0.000642	- 10.609	323.008	23:58:21.	
UPDATE YA	15:01	15:20	821.457	816.481	- 90.28	64.440	35.19	3.999	85,12	5.851	0.5387	0.000608	- 10.231	323.041	23:58:17	
UPDATE YB	16:04	16:06	821.694	816.596	-91.405	64.440	24.068	3.659	87.924	3.742	0.3630	0.000608	- 10.208	323.0428	23:58:17.	
DACO YA	18:03	18:24	826.531	816.582	-90.046	64.44	186.6	3.752	88.73	27.68	2.790	0.0006116	- 10.236	323.04	23:58:17.	
DACO YB	18:31	18:49	831.165	824.561	- 104.572	64.438	312.31	77.51	73.33	120.55	5.968	0.0006678	-9.928	323,199	23:58:11.	
DACO XA	18:13	18:51	815.144	809.081	99.241	64.440	14.937	3.839	86.547	2.709	0.2299	0.0006080	- 10.059	322.873	23:58:17.	
DACO XB	18:56	19:26	830.443	817.541	-145.818	64.437	20,794	4.604	79.271	4.367	0.3399	0.0006080	- 9.095	323.003	23:58:08.	
DACO YC	18:59	19:15	822.120	816.842	-93.010	64.440	23.72	4.270	81.81	4.894	0.3765	0.0006080	- 10.175	323.046	23:58:17.	
<b>DACO XC</b>	19:33	20:05	814.703	812.895	- 54.260	64.442	20.88	4.571	82.32	4.554	0.3291	0.0006080	- 10.972	323.007	23:58:25.	
DACO XD	20:15	20:49	821.650	816.499	-91.864	64.440	14.926	3.715	89.65	2.732	0.2269	0.0006080	- 10.199	323.040	23:58:17.	
DACO YE	20:04	20:23	821.740	816.490	-91.863	64.440	15.696	3.335	88.959	2.865	0.2390	0.0006080	- 10,199	323.042	23:58:17.	
NOMA XA	22:17	22:43	820.708	815.806	- 89.554	64.441	14.804	3.087	89.412	2.755	0.2250	0.0006080	- 10.247	323.028	23:58:18.	
NOMA YA	22:21	23:00	820.824	815.876	- 89.990	64.441	15.147	2.810	89.673	2.750	0.2295	0.0006080	- 10.238	323.029	23:58:18.	
NOMA YB	23:19	23:24	820.976	815.527	-94.429	64.440	10.319	2.573	84.534	2.193	0.1623	0.0006079	- 10,148	323.016	23:58:17.4	
NOMA XB	23:46	00:13	820.659	815.142	-95.003	64.440	9.080	2.598	79.792	2.161	0.1483	0.0006079	- 10,137	323.008	23:58:17.5	
LAPM YA	00:44	01:02	821.231	815.461	-97.171	64.440	6.763	1.779	71.860	1.8025	0.1162	0.0006079	- 10.092	323.012	23:58:17.0	
LAPM XA	00:35	00:42	820.711	815.050	-96.225	64.440	7.300	1.950	71.204	1.9764	0.1263	0.0006079	- 10.112	323.004	23:58:17.	
LAPM YB	01:10	01:26	821.351	815.527	-97.644	64.440	6.644	1.774	71.579	1.776	0.1143	0.0006079	10.082	323.013	23:58:16.8	
LAPM XB	00:48	01:25	821.097	815.303	-97.373	64.440	6.948	1.886	70.049	1.900	0.1210	0.0006079	- 10.088	323.008	23:58:17.0	
LAPM YC"	01:33	01:54	821.443	815.595	-97.845	64.440	6.633	1.771	71.395	1.767	0.1142	0.0006079	- 10.07B	323.014	23:58:16.8	
PRCL YL <sup>b</sup>	08:00	08:53	821.533	815.644	- 98.192	64.440	10.18	1.779	70.77	2.74	0.176	0.000607	10.071	323.015	23:58:16.5	
h		hanne and		L	L			L								

## Table 7. Premaneuver computations for Surveyor III

"Orbit used for midcourse computations.

<sup>h</sup>Current best estimate, premaneuver as of July 24, 1967.

NOTE

SMAA == Semimajor axis of dispersion ellipse.

SMIA = Semiminor axis of dispersion ellipse.

 $\theta_{\rm T}=$  Orientation angle of dispersion ellipse measured counterclockwise from **B** • TT axis.

 $\sigma_{T_{1} \ impact} \equiv$  Uncertainty in predicted unbraked impact time.  $\phi_{PP} \equiv$  99% velocity vector pointing error.

SVFIXR = Uncertainty in magnitude of velocity vector at unbraked impact.

Orbit	Ge	ocentric space	-fixed	Geo	centric spac	e-fixed			Uncertai	nties $(1\sigma)$		
identifi-		position, km	1		velocity, kn	n/s	P	osition, kn	1	v	elocity, m	/s
cution	x	Y	z	DX	DY	DZ	σχ	σγ	σz	σ <sub>D.X</sub>	σ <sub>DY</sub>	$\sigma_{DZ}$
PROR YA	5841.6414	- 1727.0861	-2420.0416	1.8261961	10.099453	- 3.842853	1.6754	2.2304	9.5415	7.5074	1.6742	3.4360
PROR XA	5840.2444	- 1728.6297	- 2410.6895	1.8340982	10.100999	-3.8456459	1.7286	2.2802	9.6332	7.9193	1.8916	2.9030
ICEV YA	5840.5008	- 1728.4595	-2419.0524	1.8285653	10.098959	-3.8453789	0.8908	1.2694	2.0897	2.9159	0.6433	1.1558
ICEV XA	5840.4074	- 1728.5290	- 2418.8681	1.8286530	10.098813	-3.8460368	0.9108	1.3050	2.0598	3.0468	0.6369	1.1996
PREL XA	5839.3624	- 1730.8779	-2412.1385	1.8372045	10.102435	-3.8392922	19.92	30.88	50.01	78.91	15.41	11.40
PREL XA	5840.5200	- 1728.4157	2418.7000	1.8287019	10.099046		0.8098	1.161	1.681	2.696	0.5278	1.060
UPDATE XB	5839.6214	- 1730.4804	-2412.7323	1.8362213	10.102260	- 3.8393942	5.798	9.373	16.771	25.313	5.959	6.339
UPDATE YA	5839.8268	- 1730.1482	- 2413.3323	1.8353244	10.102049	- 3.8396109	0.4195	0.6775	1.130	1.774	0.4015	0.4744
UPDATE YB	5839.8395	1730.1277	-2413.3690	1.8352694	10.102037	- 3.8396234	0.3043	0.4920	0.7646	1.254	0.2743	0.3598
<b>DACO YA</b>	5839.8226	- 1730.1546	- 2413.3258	1.8353389	10.102051	- 3.8396090	2.121	3.271	5.508	8.466	1.653	1.055
DACO YB	5839.0758	- 1729.9783	2413.4444	1.8352032	10.102526	- 3.8400436	11.84	10.50	8.334	15.902	7.243	9.211
<b>ΔΑCO ΧΑ</b>	5840.1876	- 1729.5077	- 2413.9399	1.8338174	10.101666	- 3.8404395	0.2019	0.3338	0.4881	0.8323	0.1897	0.3086
DACO XB	5840.7132	- 1728.6373	-2415.5449	1.8314503	10.101078	- 3.8411077	0.2504	0.4202	0.7125	1.102	0.2747	0.3900
DACO YC	5839.8568	- 1730.1002	-2413.4197	1.8351946	10.102020	- 3.8396398	0.3023	0.5075	0.8375	1.327	0.3294	0.4608
DACO XC	5839.3517	- 1730.9422	- 2412.0304	1.8374025	10.102555	3.8389599	0.2832	0.4783	0.7603	1.238	0.3098	0.4602
DACO XD	5839.8461	- 1730.1183	- 2413.3816	1.8352447	10.102032	- 3.8396284	0.2233	0.3712	0.5241	0.9227	0.2117	0.3278
DACO YE	5839.8441	— 1730.1211	- 2413.3797	1.8352527	10.102035	- 3.8396220	0.2276	0.3790	0.5503	0.9466	0.2173	0.3197
ΝΟΜΑ ΧΑ	5839.8287	- 1730.1451	-2413.3135	1.8353257	10.102051	3.8396200	0.2163	0.3588	0.5238	0.9011	0.2085	0.3050
NOMA YA	5839.8346	— 1730.1342	-2413.3302	1.8352996	10.102046	- 3.8396274	0.2187	0.3626	0.5315	0.9089	0.2079	0.2956
NOMA YB	5839.9020	— 1730.0234	- 2413.4860	1.8350247	10.101986	- 3.8397032	0.1393	0.2338	0.3581	0.5915	0.1428	0.2238
NOMA XB	5839.9173	— 1729.9993	- 2413.5088	1.8349660	10.101973	- 3.8397281	0.1155	0.1961	0.3113	0.5000	0.1263	0.2140
LAPM YA	5839.9416	- 1729.9584	-2413.5816	1.8348623	10.101950	- 3.8397466	0.07225	0.1276	0.2206	0.3320	0.0936	0.1785
LAPM XA	5839.9354	- 1729.9697	2413.5520	1.8348917	10.101957	- 3.8397498	0.0770	0.1356	0.2370	0.3527	0.0987	0.1882
LAPM YB	5839.9470	— 1729.9497	-2413.5977	1.8348388	10.101945	- 3.8397519	0.0708	0.1252	0.2161	0.3256	0.0921	0.1772
LAPM XB	5839.9479	1729.9490	2413.5916	1.8348365	10.101943	-3.8397610	0.0716	0.1269	0.2226	0.3304	0.0941	0.1847
LAPM YC <sup>a</sup>	5839.9485	— 1729.9473	- 2413.6036	1.8348321	10.101943	- 3.8397522	0.0701	0.1242	0.2141	0.3229	0.0917	0.1789
PRCL YC <sup>b</sup>	5839.9676	- 1729.9084	- 2413.6501	1.8347366	10.10912	- 3.8398219	0.1161	0.2079	0.3829	0.5715	0.1697	0.2839
<sup>a</sup> Orbit used fo	r midcourse ma	ineuver computat	ions.									
-Current Dest 6	simare, premo	aneuver as of Ma	IY I, 1907.									

Table 8. Premaneuver position and velocity at injection epoch for Surveyor III

JPL TECHNICAL REPORT 32-1292

Orbit	Dif	Data	Data sp h:n	an, GMT nin:s	Number	Standard	Root mean	Mean residual,"	Sample
identification	660	type <sup>n</sup>	Beginning (Apr. 1	Ending 7, 1967)	points	deviation®	square*	(O – C)	rate, s
PROR YA	42	CC3	08:01:57	08:17:49	93	0.0189	0.0189	0.000478	10
		HA	07:57:42	08:17:52	104	0.0210	0.0210	0.000318	10
		Dec	07:57:42	08:17:52	104	0.0438	0.0438	-0.00103	10
PROR XA	42	CC3	08:04:37	08:22:07	99	0.0271	0.0902	-0.0861	10
		HA	07:57:42	08:22:12	107	0.0106	0.0106	-0.000196	10
		Dec	07:57:42	08:22:12	106	0.00500	0.00501	-0.000335	10
ICEV YA	42	CC3	08:01:57	09:20:32	319	0.0382	0.0389	0.00735	10 and 60
		HA	07:58:02	09:21:02	331	0.00672	0.00825	-0.00479	10 and 60
		Dec	07:58:02	09:21:02	331	0.0200	0.0216	0.00818	10 and 60
ICEV XA	42	CC3	08:04:37	09:55:32	318	0.0375	0.0382	0.00720	10 and 60
		HA	07:58:02	09:56:02	329	0.00791	0.00969	-0.00558	10 and 60
		Dec	07:58:02	09:56:02	329	0.0187	0.0203	-0.00787	10 and 60
PREL XA	42	CC3	08:04:37	10:24:32	342	0.0190	0.0190	0.000420	10 and 60
PREL YA	42	CC3	08:01:57	10:24:32	364	0.0453	0.0462	0.00869	10 and 60
		HA	07:58:02	10:25:02	383	0.0087	0.0107	- 0.00629	10 and 60
		Dec	07:58:02	10:25:02	383	0.0211	0.0243	-0.0121	10 and 60
UPDATE XB	42	CC3	08:04:37	11:45:32	401	0.0176	0.0176	0.00018	10 and 60
	51	CC3	12:23:32	13:41:32	67	0.00907	0.00907	-0.000364	60
UPDATE YA	42	CC3	08:01:57	11:45:32	427	0.0169	0.0169	-0.000056	10 and 60
	51	CC3	12:23:32	13:47:32	63	0.00809	0.00810	-0.000349	60
	61	CC3	14:32:32	14:41:32	10	0.0456	0.0456	0.00132	10
UPDATE YB	42	CC3	08:01:57	08:56:32	287	0.0201	0.0201	0.0000817	10
		CC3	08:57:32	11:45:32	139	0.00429	0.00429	-0.000302	60
	51	ссз	12:23:32	14:27:32	94	0.00879	0.00881	-0.000473	60
	61	CC3	14:32:32	15:44:32	39	0.0151	0.0151	-0.000313	60
<b>DACO YA</b>	42	CC3	08:01:57	08:56:32	287	0.0201	0.0201	0.000116	10
	42	CC3	11:45:32	11:45:32	139	0.00422	0.00423	-0.00033	60
	61	CC3	12:23:32	14:32:32	1	0.0000	0.000977	-0.000977	60
	61	CC3	14:33:32	16:49:32	55	0.0154	0.0154	0.0000888	60
DACO YB	51	CC3	08:01:57	14:27:32	93	0.00844	0.00847	-0.00080	60
		CC3	17:04:32	18:16:32	45	0.00984	0.00989	-0.00106	60
	61	CC3	14:32:32	14:32:32	1	0.0000	0.000977	-0.000977	60
		CC3	14:33:32	16:49:32	55	0.0153	0.0154	-0.00103	60
<b>DACO XA</b>	61	CC3	14:32:32	14:32:32	1	0.0000	0.000488	0.000488	60
		HA	14:22:02	14:32:02	5	0.00402	0.0076	0.0064	60
		Dec	14:22:02	14:32:02	5	0.00402	0.0120	-0.011	60
		CC3	14:33:32	16:52:32	83	0.0470	0.0478	0.00923	60
		HA	14:33:02	16:53:02	112	0.0122	0.0123	0.00121	60
		Dec	14:33:02	16:53:02	112	0.0160	0.0276	0.0225	60
		HA	17:07:02	17:33:02	13	0.00577	0.0065	0.00299	60
		Dec	17:07:02	17:33:02	13	0.00773	0.011	0.00781	60
<b>DACO XA</b>	51	CC3	12:23:32	14:27:32	49	0.0121	0.0131	0.00504	60
		HA	12:16:02	14:28:02	115	0.00533	0.0572	0.0570	60
		Dec	12:16:02	14:28:02	115	0.00505	0.0353	-0.0349	60
		CC3	17:04:32	17:58:32	36	0.0101	0.0118	-0.00613	60
	1	HA	14:34:32	18:02:02	166	0.0071	0.055	0.0545	60
	1	Dec	14:34:32	18:02:02	166	0.0102	0.0299	-0.0281	60
	42	CC3	08:04:37	08:52:47	276	0.038	0.038	0.00198	10
	1	HA	07:58:02	08:55:02	283	0.00586	0.00722	-0.00422	10
		Dec	07:58:02	08:55:02	283	0.00666	0.0472	0.0467	10
	1	HA	08:57:02	08:57:02	1	0.000	0.00219	0.00219	60
		Dec	08:57:02	08:57:02	1	0.000	0.0516	-0.0516	60
		CC3	08:57:32	08:57:32	1	0.000	0.040	0.04	60
	1	662	08.58.32	11:45:32	124	0.0367	0.0385	-0.0117	60

# Table 9. Summary of premaneuver DSS tracking data used in orbit computations for Surveyor III

"Hour angle (HA) and declination (dec) are expressed in degrees; and two-way doppler (CC3), in Hz.

Table 9 (contd)

Orbit	Dec	Data	Data sp h:m	an, GMT in:s	Number	Standard	Root mean	Mean residual,"	Sample
Identification	555	type"	Beginning (Apr. 17	Ending 7, 1967)	points	deviation <sup>a</sup>	square"	(O C)	rate, s
DACO XA	42	HA	08:58:02	11:51:02	137	0.00669	0.0158	-0.0143	60
(contd)	(contd)	Dec	08:58:02	11:51:02	137	0.00445	0.0478	-0.0476	60
		НА	12:28:02	14:19:02	98	0.0102	0.0353	-0.0338	60
		Dec	12:28:02	14:19:02	97	0.0103	0.0373	-0.0359	60
DACO XB	61	HA	12:16:02	14:32:02	5	0.00403	0.00907	0.00812	60
		Dec	12:16:02	14:32:02	5	0.00404	0.0154	-0.0149	60
		HA	14:33:02	16:53:02	112	0.0122	0.0125	0.00284	60
		Dec	14:33:02	16:53:02	112	0.0159	0.0244	0.0185	60
		HA	17:07:02	18:44:02	16	0.00653	0.00720	-0.00304	60
		Dec	17:07:02	18:44:02	16	0.0165	0.0169	-0.00388	60
	51	CC3	12:23:32	14:27:32	99	0.00986	0.0109	0.00454	60
		CC3	17:21:32	17:21:32	1	0.000	0.0337	0.0337	60
		CC3	17:22:32	18:42:32	62	0.0118	0.0306	0.282	60
	42	CC3	08:04:37	08:52:47	276	0.0334	0.0346	0.00903	10
		HA	07:58:02	08:55:02	283	0.00594	0.00595	-0.00023	10
		Dec	07:58:02	08:55:02	283	0.00953	0.0406	- 0.395	10
		HA	08:57:02	08:57:02	1	0.000	0.00548	0.00548	60
		Dec	08:57:02	08:57:02	I I	0.000	0.0487	- 0.0487	60
		CC3	08:57:32	08:57:32	1	0.000	0.0352	0.0352	60
		CC3	08:58:32	11:45:32	124	0.0401	0.0495	-0.0289	60
		НА	08:58:02	15:51:02	137	0.0069	0.0137	-0.0119	60
		Dec	08:58:02	11:51:02	137	0.00503	0.0484	-0.0481	60
		НА	12:28:02	14:19:02	98	0.0102	0.0337	-0.0321	60
		Dec	12:28:02	14:19:02	97	0.0101	0.0403	- 0.039	60
<b>DACO YC</b>	42	CC3	08:01:57	08:56:32	288	0.0204	0.0204	0.000268	10
		CC3	08:57:32	11:45:32	139	0.00432	0.00432	0.000102	60
	51	CC3	12:23:32	17:21:32	94	0.00836	0.00836	0.0000779	60
		CC3	17:22:32	18:41:32	61	0.00923	0.00923	0.00064	60
DACO XC	61	HA	14:22:02	14:32:02	5	0.00403	0.00465	0.00233	60
		Dec	14:22:02	14:32:02	5	0.00400	0.0114	-0.0107	60
		HA	14:33:02	16:53:02	112	0.0122	0.0125	-0.00283	60
		Dec	14:33:02	16:53:02	112	0.0162	0.0287	0.0237	60
		HA	17:07:02	19:21:12	176	0.00547	0.0166	- 0.0156	60
		Dec	17:07:02	19:21:12	176	0.0122	0.0323	-0.0299	60
	51	CC3	12:23:32	14:27:32	99	0.00843	0.0137	0.0108	60
		HA	07:58:02	14:28:02	115	0.00532	0.0529	0.0526	60
		Dec	07:58:02	14:28:02	115	0.00493	0.0354	-0.0350	60
		HA	14:34:02	17:21:02	128	0.00678	0.0525	0.0520	60
		Dec	14:34:02	17:21:02	128	0.0102	0.0313	-0.0296	60
		CC3	17:21:32	17:21:32	1	0.000	0.0259	-0.0259	60
		CC3	17:22:32	19:20:32	103	0.0172	0.0306	- 0.0254	60
		HA	17:22:02	19:21:02	117	0.00509	0.0447	0.0444	60
		Dec	17:22:02	19:21:02	117	0.00476	0.0135	-0.0126	00
	42	CC3	08:04:37	08:52:47	276	0.0227	0.0238	-0.00689	10
			08:57:32	08:57:32	1	0.0000	0.00195	-0.00195	60
			08:58:32	11:45:32	124	0.0141	0.0220	0.0169	00
DACO XD	61		14:32:32	14:32:32		0.000	0.0176	-0.0176	00
			14:33:32	16:52:32	83	0.0464	0.0497	-0.01/8	60
	51		12:23:32	14:27:32	99	0.00847	0.0183	-0.0162	00
			17:21:32	17:21:32	1	0.000	0.0244	-0.0244	60
			17:22:32	19:44:32	121	0.0160	0.0273	-0.0221	10
	42	🚽	08:04:37	08:52:47	276	0.0211	0.0223	-0.00/42	40
	1	T	08:57:32	08:57:32		0.000	0.00488	-0.00488	40
		CC3	08:58:32	11:45:32	124	0.00460	0.0130	-0.0122	<b>6</b> U

Orbit	DSS	Data	Data s h:	pan, GMT min:s	Number	Standard	Root mean	Mean residual,ª	Sample
identification		type*	Beginning (Apr.	Ending 17, 1967)	points	deviation"	square"	(O — C)	rate, s
DACO YE	61	ССЗ	14:32:32	14:32:32	1	0.000	0.00146	-0.00146	60
		1	14:33:32	16:49:32	55	0.0153	0.0153	-0.0000089	60
	51		12:23:32	17:21:32	94	0.00840	0.00846	-0.00103	60
			17:22:32	19:44:32	122	0.0161	0.0162	-0.00164	60
	42		08:01:57	08:56:32	287	0.0201	0.0201	-0.000362	10
			08:57:32	11:45:32	139	0.00423	0.00423	-0.0000703	60
NOMA XA	61		14:32:32	14:32:32	T	0.000	0.00684	-0.00684	60
			14:33:32	20:31:27	54	0.0155	0.0160	-0.00380	60
			20:31:37	22:02:32	84	0.0137	0.0160	0.00824	60
	51		12:23:32	17:21:32	100	0.00841	0.00841	0.0000293	60
			17:22:32	20:29:32	145	0:0106	0.0115	-0.00435	60
	42		08:04:37	08:57:32	274	0.0205	0.0205	0.000127	10
			08:58:32	11:45:32	124	0.00440	0.00445	0.000665	60
NOMA YA	61		14:32:32	14:32:32	1	0.000	0.00684	-0.00684	60
	1		14:33:23	20:31:27	55	0.0155	0.0161	-0.00435	60
			20:31:37	22:07:32	86	0.0146	0.0162	0.00696	60
	51		12:23:32	17:21:32	92	0.00772	0.00772	-0.000138	60
			17:22:32	20:29:32	133	0.00793	0.00903	-0.00431	60
	42		08:01:57	08:56:32	275	0.0186	0.0186	0.000087	10
			08:57:32	11:45:32	139	0.00439	0.00439	0.000239	60
NOMA YB	61		14:32:32	14:32:32	1	0.000	0.00586	-0.00586	60
			14:33:32	20:31:32	55	0.0155	0.0156	-0.00171	60
			20:31:57	22:07:32	84	0.0161	0.0185	0.00917	60
	51		12:23:32	17:21:32	90	0.00777	0.00851	-0.00347	60
			17:22:32	20:28:32	134	0.00807	0.00845	0.00249	60
	42		08:01:57	08:56:32	272	0.0187	0.0187	0.000582	10
	1		08:57:32	11:45:32	139	0.00564	0.00565	0.000341	60
	11		22:18:32	23:00:32	10	0.00426	0.0170	0.0165	60
NOMA XB	61		14:32:32	20:31:32	52	0.0121	0.0122	-0.00199	60
			20:31:57	22:07:32	82	0.0119	0.0151	0.00923	60
	51		12:23:32	17:21:32	93	0.00756	0.00888	-0.00466	60
			17:22:32	20:28:32	132	0.00846	0.00888	-0.00270	60
	42		08:04:37	08:57:32	260	0.0189	0.0189	0.000193	10
			08:58:32	11:45:32	124	0.00636	0.00638	-0.000441	60
			72:18:32	23:16:32	21	0.00426	0.0101	0.00918	60
LAPM TA	61		14:32:32	20:31:32	56	0.0154	0.0156	-0.00245	60
			20:31:57	22:07:32	84	0.0160	0.0176	0.00733	60
	51		12:23:32	17:21:32	84	0.00718	0.0100	-0.00699	60
			17:22:32	20:28:32	132	0.00841	0.00911	-0.00350	60
	42		08:01:57	08:56:32	275	0.0193	0.0193	0.000151	10
			08:57:32	11:45:32	139	0.00697	0.00719	0.00175	60
1 1 11 1 1 1			22:18:32	00:28:32	119	0.00562	0.00594	0.00193	60
LAPM XA	01		14:32:32	20:31:32	52	0.0120	0.0122	-0.00221	60
			20:31:57	22:07:32	82	0.0120	0.0146	0.00841	60
	51		12:23:32	17:21:32	89	0.00733	0.00935	-0.00581	60
			17:22:32	20:28:32	130	0.00847	0.00911	-0.00336	60
	42		08:04:37	08:57:32	258	0.0188	0.0188	0.0000927	10
		1	08:58:32	11:45:32	124	0.00697	0.00710	-0.00131	60
	11	CC3	22:18:32	00:20:32	92	0.00461	0.00522	0.00245	60

Table 9 (contd)

Table	9 (	contd)
-------	-----	--------

Orbit	Dec	Data	Data sp h:n	ian, GMT nin:s	Number	Standard	Root mean	Mean residual."	Sample
identification	033	type"	Beginning (Apr. 1	Ending 7, 1967)	ot points	deviation <sup>®</sup>	square <sup>a</sup>	(O - C)	rate, s
LAPM YB	61	CC3	14:32:32	20:31:32	56	0.0154	0.0154	-0.000872	60
		İ 1	20:31:57	22:07:32	84	0.0160	0.0182	0.00862	60
	51		12:23:32	17:21:32	84	0.00724	0.00971	-0.00648	60
			17:22:32	20:28:32	134	0.00846	0.00896	- 0.00296	60
	42		08:01:57	08:56:32	275	0.0193	0.0193	0.000914	10
			08:57:32	11:45:32	139	0.00706	0.00719	-0.00138	60
	11		22:18:32	00:57:32	145	0.00666	0.00767	0.00380	60
LAPM XB	61		14:32:32	20:31:32	52	0.0120	0.0210	-0.0000563	60
			20:31:57	22:07:32	82	0.0120	0.0156	0.0101	60
	51		12:23:32	17:21:32	89	0.00723	0.00952	-0.00619	60
			17:22:32	20:28:32	131	0.00841	0.00886	-0.00278	60
	42		08:04:37	08:57:32	277	0.0216	0.0216	0.00162	10
		ł	08:58:32	11:45:32	124	0.00716	0.00730	-0.00144	60
	11		22:18:32	01:19:32	156	0.00731	0.00877	0.00484	60
LAPM YC	61		14:32:32	20:31:32	56	0.0154	0.0157	-0.00308	60
			20:31:57	22:07:32	83	0.0149	0.0162	0.00635	60
	51		12:23:32	17:21:32	77	0.00641	0.0102	-0.00796	60
			17:22:32	20:28:32	131	0.00830	0.00983	0.00526	60
	42		08:01:57	08:56:32	274	0.0190	0.0190	0.000672	10
			08:57:32	11:45:32	139	0.00735	0.00801	-0.00318	60
	11		22:18:32	01:22:32	165	0.00719	0.00728	0.00117	60
PRCL YC	11		22:18:32	04:37:32	344	0.00969	0.0109	0.00490	60
			04:39:32	04:46:32	43	0.0214	0.0245	0.0119	60
	42		08:01:57	08:52:47	288	0.0221	0.0222	0.00254	10
			08:55:32	11:45:32	141	0.00950	0.0110	-0.00549	60
	51	L	12:23:32	18:48:32	155	0.00844	0.0115	-0.00779	60
		V	18:49:37	18:52:37	19	0.0358	0.0385	-0.0141	60
		CC3	18:54:32	20:24:32	68	0.00825	0.0179	-0.0159	60

#### **C. Postmaneuver Orbit Estimates**

The first postmidcourse orbit computation was completed approximately 9 h 7 min after the midcourse maneuver. For this computation, approximately 3 h 24 min of DSS 11 and 5 h of DSS 42 two-way doppler data were available. The starter values for the first postmidcourse orbit were the conditions obtained from mapping the PRCL YC conditions to an epoch at the end of midcourse burn and adding the midcourse velocity increment. *A priori* information from the premaneuver tracking data was not used. When the first postmidcourse orbit was mapped to the moon, it indicated that unbraked impact point to be approximately 1.5 km north and 8.4 km west of the aiming point. Subsequent inflight postmidcourse orbit computations refined the estimated unbraked impact point to 1.8 km south and 4.2 km west of the aiming point.

During the postmidcourse phase a problem occurred with the DSS 51 data. A pass of DSS 51 two-way doppler data appeared to be biased from the DSS 11 and DSS 61 two-way doppler data and it was therefore ignored in the

JPL TECHNICAL REPORT 32-1292

subsequent orbit computations. The cause of this bias has not been determined. It has been verified that the correct transmitter frequency was used for this pass of DSS 51 data.

A decision must be made by 6 h before the retrofiring whether to track the spacecraft with DSS 51 or DSS 61, along with DSS 11, during the terminal phase. DSS 51 had the two-way doppler bias problem and DSS 61 had the counter problem during the premidcourse phase. It was decided to track with DSS 61 because the counter problem appeared to have been solved. The final spacecraft terminal attitude maneuver computations were based on the fifth postmidcourse orbit solution (5 POM YD) completed approximately 4½ h before nominal retroignition.

Numerical results of the inflight postmidcourse orbit computations are presented in Tables 10 and 11. Figure 13 is a plot showing the postmidcourse unbraked impact points obtained from these solutions. The current best

	Data	ប្ល	-																			ប្ល		
Data use	DSS	11,42	11, 42	11, 42, 51, 61	11, 42, 51, 61	11, 42, 51, 61	11, 42, 61	11, 42, 51, 61	11, 42, 61	11, 42, 61	11, 42, 61	61	61	61	61	11, 61	11, 61	11	11, 61	=	11, 61	42, 51, 61, 11		
	Type solution	6×6	6×6	<b>6</b> ×6	6×6	6×6	6×6	6×6	6×6	6×6	<b>6</b> ×6	6×6	6×6	6×6	6×6	6×6	6×6	6×6	9×9	<b>9</b> ×9	6×6	12×12		
conditions impact	GMT h:min:s Apr. 20, 1967	00:03:14.342	00:01:59.756	00:01:51.561	00:01:49.445	00:01:49,178	00:01:45.782	00:01:46.415	00:01:46.483	00:01:46.779	00:01:47.191	00:01:47.496	00.01.47.418	00:01:47.632	00:01:47.578	00:01:48.427	00:01:48.380	00:01:47.928	00:01:47.971	00:01:48.322	00.01 47.646	00:01:47.317		
ocentric	Longi- tude, deg	336.50	336.65	336.62	336.68	336.68	336.800	336.82	336.81	336.80	336.79	336.78	336.77	336.78	336.77	336.78	336.78	336.78	336.76	336.78	336.76	336.78		
Selen at u	Lati- tude, deg (south)	-1.724	-2.826		-3.047	- 3.033	2.939	- 2.937	-2.945	- 2.951	-2.941	-2.938	-2.961	-2.959	- 2.976	- 2.835	-2.837	-2.776	-2.868	- 2.709	- 2.876	2.966		
	SVFIXR, m/s (1 <i>d</i> )	1.389	0.6372	0.6095	0.6087	0.6086	0.6082	0.6089	0.6089	0.6089	0.6089	0.6089	0.6089	0.6089	0.6089	0.6089	0.6089	0.6089	0.6089	0.6089	0.6089	0.6089		
	ბ <sup>ო,</sup>	66.96	2.786	0.5792	0.3554	0.3471	0.1197	0.055	5.25	0.0389	0.0356	0.0374	0.0349	0.0354	0.0347	0.0320	0.0316	0.0354	0.0312	0.0306	0.0303	0.0448		
	στ. impact, s (1σ)	1847.2	105.1	7.99	5.305	5.197	1.785	0.950	0.9316	0.7071	0.5393	0.5786	0.5684	0.5688	0.5631	0.5551	0.5513	0.5068	0.5299	0.4819	0.5024	0.6324		
	$\theta_{\rm T}'$ deg		63.07	55.15	44.92	44.25	59.22	79.28	80.78	86.40	82.90	82.56	89.92	82.93	83.60	82.05	82.05	86.84	82.76	87.58	84.98	81.76		
atistics	SMIA, km (1σ)	130.9	24.86	6.5	<b>3</b> .09	3.04	1.899	1.432	1.411	0.9324	0.5601	0.7601	0.7492	0.7518	0.7467	0.7461	0.7425	0.5983	0.7307	0.5958	0.7071	0.7476		
Target st	SMAA, km (1ơ)	1357.3	205.1	23.19	11.655	11.312	4.6859	2.838	2.734	2.652	2.601	2.731	2.583	2.625	2.577	2.372	2.338	2.533	2.292	2.161	2.203	3.343		
	л. Н	43.133	43.11	43.11	43.11	43.110	43.109	43.109	43.109	43.109	43.109	57.61	57.61	57.61	57.61	57.61	57.61	57.61	57.61	57.61	57.61	43.11		
	B • RT, km	-453.47	- 397.23	-386.90	-386.12	-386.74	-390.77							-389.67			-395.76			-401.98	- 393.96	-389.37		167.
	8 • 11, km	1460.23	1464.665	1462.96	1465.13	1465.55	1470.72	1470.62	1470.48	1469.97	1469.35	1468.96	1468.34	1468.82	1468.42	1469.36	1469.01	1469.22	1468.33	1469.52	1468.10	1468.90	itations.	of May 1, 19
	a, E	1529.0	1517.58	1513.25	1515.16	1515.72	1521.75	1521.59	1521.36	1520.81	1520.35	1520.04	1519.16	1519.63	1519.05	1521.74	1521.39	1522.36	1520.35	1523.51	1520.05	1519.63	uver compi	neuver ds
- •	stop h:min	12:16	14:07	17:43	20:15	00:26	02:54	12:13	12:35	18:58	21:13	20:52	22:20	22:20	22:51	22:46	23:06	23:10	23:24	23:22	23:55	NAC	nal mane	e, postmo
Ţi	comp Start h:min	12:03	13:54	17:23	19.09	00:08	02:12	11:34	12:12	18:31	20:42	20:42	22:03	22:05	22:39	22:37	22:55	22:50	23:11	23:13	23:37	پ ۲	for termi	st estimat
, T	Cation cation	POM YA	POM YD	POM YA	POM YD	POM YA	B POM YE	I POM XF	I POM YF	FOM YA	FOM YD <sup>a</sup>	5 POM XD	FINAL YA	FINAL XA	INAL YB	FINAL XB	INAL YC	INAL XC	INAL YD	INAL XD	FINAL YE	POST 1 <sup>b</sup>	aOrbit used	<sup>b</sup> Current be

Table 10. Postmaneuver computations for Surveyor III

Orbit	Georgentric	nara-fixed a	acitian km	Gaarantria	ne fixed vel	native less to			Uncertaint	ies (1σ)		
identifi-	Geotennic s	pare-lixea f	Joshion, Km	Geocennic sp	ace-nxea ven	ocity, km/s		Position, ki	n	v	elocity, m/	\$
cation	x	Y	Z	DX	DY	DZ	σχ	σγ	σz	σ <sub>DX</sub>	σργ	συΖ
1 POM YA	-152090.04	111756.66	43614.824	-1.3825557	0.60936115	0.51981518	494.44	412.25	2828.60	8.009	11.372	13.000
1 POM YD	- 152110.38	111773.96	43733.391	- 1.3822504	0.60980822	0.51924782	38.89	53.79	209.0	0.2042	0.4958	1.813
2 POM YA	- 152112.92	111776.95	43746.498	- 1.3822246	0.60985777	0.51915663	2.087	4.886	5.684	0.0854	0.0662	0.1449
2 POM YD	-152113.00	111777.16	43749.388	-1.382209	0.60987654	0.51915170	1.779	2.467	3.519	0.556	0.0452	0.0731
3 POM XA	- 152113.08	111777.01	43749.589	-1.3822064	0.60987806	0.51915632	1.749	2.396	3.432	0.0545	0.0447	0.0708
3 POM YE	- 152114.04	111775.96	43751.033	-1.3821719	0.60990536	0.51919761	1.1368	1.3843	2.163	0.01959	0.01867	0.03246
4 POM XF	-152114.03	111776.04	43750.883	1.3821726	0.60990521	0.51919647	0.9529	1.041	1.945	0.00977	0.0128	0.0209
4 POM YF	- 152114.15	111776.07	43750.370	-1.3821729	0.60990553	0.51919630	0.9627	1.016	2.033	0.0093	0.0126	0.0230
5 POM YA	-152114.10	111776.22	43749.992	-1.3821761	0.60990234	0.51919457	0.9454	0.9705	1.865	0.0067	0.0106	0.0199
5 POM YD	- 152113.98	111776.36	43749.554	-1.3821805	0.60989582	0.51919667	0.9367	0.9591	1.7 <b>97</b>	0.0046	0.0079	0.0197
5 POM XD	- 289766.26	163392.01	100073.78	-0.78552219	0.29053491	0.37827816	0.7441	1.240	1.741	0.0121	0.0193	0.0266
FINAL YA	- 289766.28	163392.31	100072.90	-0,78552884	0.29052667	0.37826901	0.7366	1.191	1.619	0.0113	0.0186	0.0254
FINAL XA	- 289766.20	163392.41	100073.02	-0.78552864	0.29052742	0.37826794	0.7364	1.210	1.643	0.0112	0.0186	0.0256
FINAL YB	- 289765.99	163392.66	100072.42	-0.78553638	0.29051731	0.37825889	0.7256	1.187	1.613	0.0109	0.0182	0.0251
FINAL XB	- 289765.88	163389.96	100076.71	-0.78555579	0.29047802	0.37829382	0.7061	1.119	1.496	0.0104	0.0170	0.0248
FINAL YC	- 289764.64	163389.93	100076.53	-0.78556329	0.29046747	0.37828987	0.6984	1.105	1.477	0.0101	0.0167	0.0245
FINAL XC	- 289765.54	163388.23	100079.05	-0.78552301	0.29051344	0.37830580	0.5611	1.246	1.623	0.0074	0.0077	0.0206
FINAL YD	- 289765.32	163390.86	100075.47	-0.78556304	0.29046588	0.37829373	0.6446	1.084	1.449	0.0097	0.0161	0.0244
FINAL XD	- 289765.15	163386.64	100081.11	-0.78552465	0.29050294	0.37831737	0.5397	1.066	1.393	0.0074	0.0065	0.0200
FINAL YE	- 289765.99	163389.75	100075.38	-0.78554669	0.29049334	0.37829746	0.5691	1.047	1.404	0.0095	0.0154	0.0244
POST 1	-152114.15	111776.63	43748.41	- 1.3821823	0.60989540	0.51919357	1.2134	1.0707	3.5490	0.0056	0.0154	0.0285
NOTE			L		L			L				
1 POM Y	A through 5 POA	AYD are at mi	idcourse epoch.									
5 POM X	D through FINAL	YE are at un	braked impact a	ninus 5 h 40 min								

Table 11. Postmaneuver position and velocity for Surveyor III at injection epoch

estimate of landed spacecraft location is 2.4 km south and 3.6 km west of the aiming point. The amounts of tracking data used in the various postmidcourse orbit computations, together with the associated noise statistics, are given in Table 12.

#### **D. AMR Backup Computations**

After the 5 POM YD computation, primary OD emphasis was placed on obtaining the best estimate of unbraked impact time to be used for sending a ground command to back up the onboard AMR. All subsequent computations used a priori information from all postmaneuver tracking data up to the time of the last data point in 5 POM YD. This information was in the form of a covariance matrix mapped to an epoch a few minutes past the time of the last data point in 5 POM YD. The covariance matrix was degraded and expanded as discussed in Section IV. In addition to being able to account for the SPODP model errors by using this method, a considerable saving in program running time is achieved by working from the updated epoch. This is very important since the basic philosophy is that the near-moon data will yield the best estimate of unbraked impact time. This requires that as much near-moon data as possible be included in the orbit solution while still being able to provide the results at retro minus 40 min (R - 40 min), the lead time required to implement the backup command.

For the AMR backup computations, a lunar elevation of 1736.1 km at the predicted unbraked impact point was used. This lunar elevation was obtained from NASA Langley Rescarch Center (LRC) and it agreed closely with the elevation obtained from the appropriate ACIC lunar chart less 2.4 km. The 2.4 km is the amount by which the elevation obtained from the appropriate ACIC lunar chart exceeds the elevation obtained from the *Ranger VI*, VII and VIII tracking data. An *a priori* 1- $\sigma$  uncertainty of  $\pm 1$  km (roughly equivalent to  $\pm 0.4$  s) was assigned to the elevation.

During the AMR backup computations, an inconsistency appeared between the DSS 61 and DSS 11 data. At that time it was believed that the inconsistency was caused by small biases in the DSS 61 data since DSS 61 had a counter problem earlier. (However, it was discovered later, during postflight analysis, that an incorrect frequency input was made for DSS 11). Therefore, the FINAL XC and XD solutions were run with only the DSS 11 data. The FINAL YE orbit solution using DSS 61



Fig. 13. Estimated postmidcourse unbraked impact point for Surveyor III

JPL TECHNICAL REPORT 32-1292

1

Orbit		<b>.</b>		Data s	pan, GMT		Number	Standard	Root mean	Mean residual	
identifi- cation	DSS	type	Beg 1967	;inning h:min:s	E 1967	nding h:min:s	of points	deviation, Hz	square, Hz	(O — C), Hz	Sample rate, s
I POM YA	42	CC3	4/18	08:43:32	4/18	09:59:32	76	0.00534	0.00534	0.000077	60
	11	1	1	05:09:12		05:12:12	19	0.0346	0.0362	-0.0105	10
				05:14:32		08:33:32	182	0.00428	0.00429	0.000278	60
I POM YD	11			05:09:12		05:12:12	19	0.0346	0.0372	-0.0137	10
				05:14:32		08:33:32	180	0.0043	0.00431	0.000301	60
	42			08:43:32		13:44:32	288	0.00585	0.00585	0.0000543	60
2 POM YA	11			05:01:92		05:12:12	19	0.0345	0.0371	-0.0138	10
				05:14:32		08:33:32	18	0.00429	0.0043	0.000168	60
1	42			08:43:32		14:39:32	338	0.00638	0.0638	-0.0000455	60
	51			16:42:32		17:07:32	26	0.00846	0.00853	-0.00106	60
	61			14:43:32		16:33:32	94	0.00528	0.00529	0.000183	60
2 POM YD	1 11			05:09:12		05:12:12	10	0.0148	0.0172	0.00869	10
				05:14:32		08:33:32	180	0.00505	0.00505	-0.0000814	60
				22:23:32		23:21:32	56	0.00422	0.00842	0.00728	60
	42			08:43:32		14:39:32	338	0.00611	0.00627	0.00138	60
	51			16:42:32		21:11:32	75	0.00771	0.0139	-0.0115	60
				21:12:32		22:19:32	62	0.00844	0.00952	-0.00429	60
-	61			14:43:32		16:33:32	94	0.00550	0.00735	-0.00488	60
				18-13-32		21.03.32	153	0.00618	0.00760	0.00442	60
3 POM YA	11			05:09:12		05:12:12	10	0.0146	0.0163	-0.00725	10
				05:14:32		08:33:32	180	0.00475	0.00476	0.000281	60
				22.23.32		23:50:32	85	0.00480	0.00817	0.00667	60
	42			08:43:32		14.39.32	338	0.00616	0.00629	0.00125	60
	51			16.42.32		21-11-32	75	0.00781	0.0147	-0.0124	60
	51			21.12.32		22.19.32	62	0.00851	0.00939	-0.00397	60
	61			14.43.32		16.33.32	94	0.00539	0.00824	- 0.00623	
				18.13.32		21.03.32	153	0.00537	0.00749	0.00023	60
3 POM YE	11		🕇	05.09.12		05.12.12	11	0.0135	0.00/47	-0.00510	10
			4/18	05-14-32	4/18	08-38-32	169	0.00566	0.00600	0.00201	60
			4/18	22.23.32	4/10	00.07.32	102	0.00530	0.00532	0.000511	60
			4/18	02.22.32	4/10	06.34.32	246	0.00522	0.00534	-0.000429	60
	42		4/18	08.43.32	4/18	14.33.32	290	0.00507	0.00524	-0.00149	60
			4/19	06.43.32	4/10	07.33.32	37	0.00593	0.00025	-0.0203	60
	61		4/18	16.42.32	4/19	16.33.32	07	0.00593	0.00627		40
			4/18	18.13.32	A/10	00.28.32	151	0.00301	0.00683	-0.00267	40
			4/10	00.20.32	4/10	02.11.32	04	0.00836	0.00005	0.00340	40
4 POM XE	11		4/18	05.00.12	4/19	05.12.12	12	0.00830	0.00900		10
			4/18	05.14.32	4/18	08.33.32	160	0.00553	0.0103	0.00222	40
			4/18	22.23.32	4/10	00.07.32	86	0.00508	0.00516	0.00223	60
			4/10	02.22.32	A/10	06.34.32	246	0.00512	0.00515	-0.000558	60
	42		4/18	08.43.32	4/18	14.33.32	240	0.00312	0.00313	-0.000785	60
	~~		4/10	06.43.32	4/10	14:55:52	219	0.00405	0.004/1	0.000785	60
	51		4/19	21.11.22	4/19	21.11.22	515	0.00080	0.00684	-0.00505	60
			A/10	21.10.22	4/10	21:11:52	50	0.00711	0.00084	-0.00789	40
	61		4/18	14.43.32	4/10	16.12.22	71	0.00/11	0.00554	-0.00210	
	61		4/19	18.12.22	4/10	00.28.22	151	0.00460	0.00554	-0.00310	40
			4/10	00.20.22	4/10	02.11.22	71	0.00024	0.00001	0.00272	
			4/10	14.22.22	4/19	14.10.22	20	0.00900	0.00989	-0.00410	20
	11		4/19	05.01.02	4/19	10:18:32	30	0.00903	0.0104	-0.00317	10
4 FOM IF			4/18	05:01:92	4/18	09 72 70	19	0.0346	0.0348	-0.00320	
			4/18	03:14:32	4/18	08:33:32	180	0.00623	0.00624	0.000412	00
			4/18	22:23:32	4/19	00:13:32	92	0.00519	0.00528	0.000983	00
	17		4/19	02:22:32	4/19	00:34:32	242	0.00500	0.005/3		00
	42		4/18	08:43:32	4/18	14:33:32	28/	0.00442	0.00444		60
		CC3	4/19	06:43:32	4/19	14:19:32	329	0.00512	0.00549	0.00196	60

Table 12. Summary of postmaneuver DSS tracking data used in orbit computations for Surveyor III

Orbit		Bata	L	Data sp	an, GMT		Number	Standard	Root mean	Mean residual	Sample
identifi- cation	DSS	type	Begi 1967	inning h:min:s	Er 1967	nding h:min:s	of points	deviation, Hz	square, Hz	(O — C), Hz	rate, s
	61	CC3	4/18	21-11-32	4/18	16:33:32	72	0.00453	0.00488	0.00182	60
(contd)	(contd)	1	4/18	18:13:32	4/19	00:28:32	155	0.00586	0.00586	0.000197	60
			4/19	00:29:32	4/19	02:13:32	67	0.00829	0.00833	-0.000813	60
			4/19	14:23:32	4/19	16:28:32	61	0.00981	0.00995	-0.00165	60
5 POM YA	1 11		4/18	05:09:12	4/18	05:12:12	19	0.0346	0.0346	-0.00204	10
			4/18	05:14:32	4/18	08:33:32	180	0.00617	0.00649	0.00200	60
			4/18	22:23:32	4/19	00:13:32	92	0.00508	0.00508	0.00000398	60
			4/19	02:22:32	4/19	09:38:32	272	0.00512	0.00605	-0.00322	60
	42		4/18	08:43:32	4/18	14:33:32	287	0.00438	0.00461	-0.00144	60
	-		4/19	06:43:32	4/19	14:19:32	329	0.00525	0.00649	0.00381	60
	61		4/18	21:11:32	4/18	16:33:32	72	0.00455	0.00490	0.00181	60
			4/18	18:13:32	4/19	00:28:32	155	0.00582	0.00584	-0.000438	60
		•	4/19	00:29:32	4/19	02:13:32	67	0.00830	0.00957	-0.00477	60
			4/19	14:23:32	4/19	17:54:32	140	0.00990	0.00993	-0.000746	60
5 POM YD	11		4/18	05:09:12	4/18	05:12:12	19	0.0345	0.0346	0.00227	10
			4/18	05:14:32	4/18	08:33:32	180	0.00618	0.00882	0.00629	60
	11		4/18	22:23:32	4/19	00:13:32	92	0.00468	0.00729	-0.00559	60
			4/19	02:22:32	4/19	09:38:32	272	0.00565	0.00700	-0.00412	60
	42		4/18	08:43:32	4/18	14:33:32	287	0.00442	0.00544	-0.00317	60
			4/19	06:43:32	4/19	14:19:32	329	0.00647	0.00791	0.00454	60
	61		4/18	21:11:32	4/18	16:33:32	72	0.00456	0.00462	-0.000744	60
			4/18	18:13:32	4/19	00:28:32	155	0.00583	0.00604	0.00156	60
			4/19	00:29:32	4/19	02:13:32	67	0.00838	0.0131	-0.0101	60
			4/19	14:23:32	4/19	20:34:32	236	0.0104	0.0109	0.00308	60
5 POM XD	61		4/19	18:49:32	4/19	20:32:32	87	0.00625	0.00625	0.0000884	60
FINAL YA	61		4/19	18:21:32	4/19	21:52:32	162	0.00766	0.00766	0.000190	60
FINAL XA	61		1	18:21:32		21:57:32	151	0.00779	0.00779	0.000125	60
FINAL YB	61			18:21:32		22:09:32	173	0.00779	0.00779	0.0000734	60
FINAL XB	11			22:18:32		22:25:32	8	0.00312	0.00990	0.00940	60
	61			18.49:32		22:11:32	157	0.00949	0.00949	-0.000304	60
FINAL YC	11			22:18:32		22:26 32	9	0.00384	0.00952	0.00871	60
	61			18:21:32		22:12:32	176	0.00896	0.00896	-0.000153	60
FINAL XC	11			22:18:32		22:40:32	23	0.0127	0.0128	0.00202	60
FINAL YD	11			22:18:32		22:45:32	28	0.0111	0.0111	0.00142	60
	61			18:21:32		22:12:32	176	0.00949	0.00949	-0.000221	60
FINAL YD	11			22:18:32		22:50:32	33	0.00797	0.00811	0.00154	60
FINAL YE	11		V	22:18:32		22:56:32	39	0.00349	0.00413	0.00221	60
	61		4/19	18:21:32	4/19	22:12:32	176	0.0111	0.0111	0.000298	60
POST 1	11		4/18	05:09:12	4/18	05:12:12	19	0.0344	0.0355	0.0085	10
			4/18	05:14:32	4/18	08:38:32	169	0.0072	0.0117	0.0092	60
			4/18	22:23:32	4/18	00:07:32	86	0.0049	0.0049	0.0003	60
1			4/19	02:22:32	4/19	08:43:32	247	0.0050	0.00/5	-0.0056	60
	42		4/18	08:43:32	4/18	14-33:32	275	0.0051	0.0062	-0.0035	60
			4/19	06:43:32	4/19	14:19:32	318	0.0052	0.0061	0.0032	60
	51		4/19	21:11:32	4/18	21:11:32		0.0000	0.0010	0.0010	40
			4/18	21:12:32	4/19	18:44:32	100	0.0069	0.0069	-0.0004	40
	61		4/18	14:43:32	4/18	16:33:32	71	0.0046	0.0116	-0.0106	40
			4/18	18:13:32	4/19	00:28:32	151	0.0068	0.0095	-0.0067	60
		T	4/19	00:29 32	4/19	02:11:32	//	0.0090	0.0090	0.0008	40
		CC3	4/19	14:23:32	4/19	22:11:32	288	0.0141	0.0151	0.0055	00

Table 12 (contd)

and DSS 11 data indicated an unbraked impact time of 00:01:47.646 GMT and the FINAL XD orbit solution using only DSS 11 data showed an unbraked impact time of 00:01:48.322. The FINAL XD solution contained DSS 11 data taken up to 1 h 12 min before encounter; the YE solution contained DSS 11 and DSS 61 data taken up 1 h 6 min before encounter. The unbraked impact time that was used for the AMR backup computations was 00:01:48.000, which was obtained by averaging the FINAL XD and YE solutions. With this unbraked impact

 Table 13. Inflight results of orbit determination

 AMR backup computations, Surveyor III

Orbit solutio	on data span	Predicte	ed selenoce at unbraked	ntric conditions d impact		
From	То	Latitude, deg (minus, south)	Longi- tude, deg	GMT, h:min:s (Apr. 20,1967)		
Midcourse®	E — 5 h 40 min <sup>b</sup>	- 2.951	336.803	00:01:46.779*		
E — 5 h 40 min	E — 2 h 09 min	- 2.961	336.767	00:01:47.418		
E — 5 h 40 min	E — 1 h 52 min	- 2.976	336.769	00:01:47.578		
E — 5 h 40 min	E — 1 h 35 min	- 2.837	336.777	00:01:48.380		
E — 5 h 40 min	E — 1 h 16 min	-2.868	336.763	00:01:47.971		
E — 5 h 40 min	E — 1 h 05 min	- 2.876	336.758	00:01:47.646		
E — 5 h 40 min	E — 1 h 48 min	- 2.852	336.768	00:01:47.912		
Best estimate of unbraked impact time 00:01:48.159						
Midcourse refers mate of AMR m	to initial postmided ark time.	ourse epoch.	Solution us	ed for initial esti-		

<sup>b</sup>E refers to lunar encounter.

 Table 14. Comparisons of inflight and postflight

 AMR backup computations, Surveyor III

Orbit solutio	n data span	Unbraked in	npact, GMT	Differ-
From	To	Inflight computa- tions, h:min:s	Postflight computa- tions," h:mln:s	ence be- tween solu- tions, s
Midcourse <sup>b</sup>	E — 5 h 40 min	00:01:46.779	00:01:46.779	0
E — 5 h 40 min	E — 2h 9min	00:01:47.418	00:01:47.777	0.359
E — 5 h 40 min	E — 1 h 52 min	00:01:47.578	00:01:47.895	0.317
E — 5 h 40 min	E — 1 h 35 min	00:01:48.380	00:01:48.094	0.286
E 5 h 40 min	E — 1 h 16 min	00:01:47.971	00:01:48.069	0.098
E — 5 h 40 min	E — 1 h 05 min	00:01:47.646	00:01:48.006	0.360
E - 5 h 40 min	E — 48 min	00:01:47.912	00:01:48.014	0.102
*With corrected D	SS 11 frequency and	lunar radius.		

time, the estimated nominal AMR mark time was computed as 00:01:11.52 GMT, April 20, 1967. This time was used as the basic reference point from which the desired time of backup command transmission from the ground station was calculated. The backup command was transmitted from DSS 11 at such a time that it was predicted to arrive at the spacecraft 1.73 s after the nominal AMR mark time. The time at which the AMR provided a mark pulse onboard the spacecraft was  $00:01:11.61 \pm 50$  ms. This observed time was 0.09 s later than the nominal AMR mark time used for the backup command computations. The AMR backup command arrived at the spacecraft at 00:01:13.13  $\pm 0.1$  s about 1.52 s after the AMR MARK. The inflight results of AMR backup computations are given in Table 13 and the comparison between inflight and postflight AMR backup computations can be seen in Table 14. Even though an incorrect frequency was used for the last pass of DSS 11 data, the difference between the estimated unbraked impact time provided for the AMR backup and the current best estimate is well within the 0.5-s desired  $1-\sigma$  orbit determination accuracy.

# VI. Surveyor III Postflight Orbit Determination Analysis

#### A. Introduction

This section presents the best estimate of the Surveyor III flight path, and other significant results obtained from the DSS tracking data. The analysis verified that both the premaneuver and postmaneuver inflight orbit solutions were within the orbit determination accuracy requirements of the Surveyor Project. The inflight philosophy of estimating only a minimum parameter set (i.e., the 6 components of the spacecraft position and velocity vectors) for the orbital computations was again proved valid.

For the postflight orbital computations and analysis, only two-way doppler data were used. Column I of Table 6 summarizes the data used for the premaneuver orbit computation in the postflight analysis. A comparison between columns D (amount of data used inflight) and I of Table 6 shows that fewer two-way doppler data points were used for the postflight computations. This was the result of removing some noisy DSS 61 data caused by the counter problem and rejecting some suspected bad data points. Column I of Table 6 summarizes the data used for postmaneuver orbit computations in postflight analysis. Once again the amount of data used for postflight computations was smaller than the amount of data used for inflight computation, the difference being the rejection of data obtained at an elevation angle below 17 deg.

#### **B.** Premaneuver Orbit Estimate

All the known or suspected bad data points were removed in the orbit data generator program (ODG) before the analysis of the premaneuver orbit data was begun. The DSS 61 data, which were disregarded on the preclean orbit computation immediately after midcourse because of its counter problem, was reexamined. The reexamination indicated that approximately 11/2 h of usable data were obtained after the counter was fixed. Therefore this span of data was added in the postflight analysis. An orbit solution, based on estimating only the standard 6 parameters (position and velocity) using DSS 11, 42, 51, and 61 data was obtained and mapped forward to the target. The plot of observed minus computed (O - C)residuals showed that the data were not fitting as well as they should. A number of computer runs were made for data consistency checks. These runs indicated that the data were fairly consistent, with possibly very small biases in the DSS 51 and DSS 11 data. An attempt was made to remove the effect of these small biases and obtain a better data fit by expanding the set of estimated param-

eters from 6 to 18 to include the three station location parameters (radius, latitude, longitude) for DSS 11, 42, 51, and 61. An  $18 \times 18$  orbit solution was then obtained and mapped forward to target. The O - C residual plots from this solution showed excellent data fit. The maximum difference between the estimated station-location and the nominal station-location parameters was in the longitude of DSS 11. This difference was 0.00019 deg or approximately 19 m. This longitude change could represent a station timing error of approximately 45.6 ms, or it could be caused by an error in station longitude, or a combination of both. It does not seem likely that the entire 19-m difference was due to an error in station longitude, since the uncertainty in the station locations was determined from the Ranger mission to be less than 15 m. The causes of this small bias are still being investigated. Even though the  $6 \times 6$  orbit solution used the biased data in its orbit computations, the solution is well within the accuracy requirement for the orbit determination. The difference in the predicted unbraked impact point between the  $6 \times 6$ and  $18 \times 18$  orbit solutions is 0.01 deg in latitude and 0.03 deg in longitude.

Parameter	Premidcourse	Postmidcourse
Epoch, GMT	07:38:39.838	05:00:05.000
	(Apr 17, 1967)	(Apr 18, 1967)
Geocentric position and		
velocity at epoch		
X, km	5839.9228 ±0.3794 (1σ)	-152113.39 ± 2.92
Y, km	$-1730.0102 \pm 0.5975$	111775.36 ± 2.55
Z, km	$-2413.5785 \pm 1.1268$	43749.888 ±7.638
DX, km/s	1.8349446 ±0.0017087	-1.3821714 ±0.000048
DY, km/s	10.101593 ±0.000521	0.60990978 ±0.000056
DZ, km/s	$-3.8397087 \pm 0.0008211$	0.51919389 ± 0.000042
Target statistics		
BB, km	822.7767	1520.0479
B•T7, km	816.9932	1469.5219
₿•R7,km	- 97.3867	
SMAA, km	10.0	7.0
SMIA, km	2.0	5.0
θ <sub>T</sub> , deg	77.33	85.20
OT, impact \$	2.74	0.500
φ <sub>99</sub> , deg	0.504073	0.106929
SVFIXR, m/s	0.608185	0.611175
Latitude, deg	- 10.085561	2.9760013
Longitude, deg	323.04465	336.79968
Unbraked impact, GMT	23:58:16.297	00:01:48.158
	(April 19, 1967)	(April 20, 1967)

Table 15. Summary of postflight orbit parameters, Surveyor III

The  $18 \times 18$  solution is considered the best estimate of the spacecraft premaneuver orbit. The uncorrected unbraked impact point predicted by this solution (latitude =  $10.09^{\circ}$ S, longitude =  $36.96^{\circ}$ W) was 6.76 deg south and 13.79 deg west of the prelaunch targeted site (latitude =  $3.33^{\circ}$ S, longitude =  $23.17^{\circ}$ W). This is roughly equivalent to 202.8 km and 413.7 km, respectively. Other numerical values from this solution are presented in Table 15 and the number of data points, together with data noise statistics, are given in Table 16. A graphical comparison between the predicted unbraked impact (in the **B**-plane system) of this solution and the inflight solution may be seen in Fig. 11.

#### C. Postmaneuver Orbit Estimate

Before the analysis of the postmaneuver tracking data was started, all known or suspected bad data points were removed. An objective of the postflight analysis was to obtain an orbit solution by processing all postmaneuver tracking data in one block. This differed from the inflight computations which required that the data be processed in two blocks in order to meet the AMR backup requirements.

A  $6 \times 6$  orbit solution based on all postmaneuver data and a lunar radius of 1736.1 km was obtained and mapped forward to the target. The value of 1736.1 was based on Lunar Orbiter photographs of the landing area. Examination of the residual plots indicated a very poor fit. The unbraked impact location predicted from this solution was in good agreement with the inflight results, but the impact time was approximately 0.460 s earlier than the observed time. A number of  $6 \times 6$  orbit computations were made with various combinations of data from three stations. A comparison of the resulting orbit solutions indicated that all data were consistent. Consequently, the value of the lunar radius was suspected to be in error. The lunar radius was then changed to 1735.7 km, a value obtained by subtracting 2.4 km from the radius shown on the ACIC charts (2.4 km is the amount by which the ACIC elevations exceed the elevations obtained from Rangers VI, VII and VIII tracking data). The impact time obtained using this radius in a  $6 \times 6$  solution was only 0.330 s earlier than the observed time. An attempt was then made to improve the fit by expanding the set of estimated parameters to 18 to include the station location parameters of the four stations. Examination of the residual plots from this  $18 \times 18$  solution indicated a poor, but improved, fit; but

Table 16. Summary of data used in postflight orbit solutions, Surveyor III

		Time da	ta, GMT			General	Beatman	
DSS	Beg	jinning	Er	nding	Number of points	deviation,	square,	(O — C),
	1967	h:min:s	1967	h:min:s		Hz	Hz	Hz
				Premidco	JISE			
11	4/17	22:18:32	4/18	04:37:32	341	0.00422	0.00437	-0.00114
11	4/18	04:39:32	4/18	04:46:32	37	0.0162	0.0162	0.000501
42	4/17	08:01:57	4/17	08:52:42	277	0.0196	0.0196	0.000328
42	4/17	08:55:32	4/17	11:45:32	141	0.00436	0.00456	0.00134
51	4/17	12:23:32	4/17	18:48:32	154	0.00828	0.00836	-0.00116
51	4/17	18:49:37	4/17	18:52:37	17	0.0258	0.0261	-0.00419
51	4/17	18:54:32	4/17	20:24:32	68	0.00777	0.00842	-0.00324
61	4/17	20:37:07	4/17	22:07:32	67	0.0138	0.0138	-0.000743
				Postmidco	urse			
11	4/18	05:09:17	4/18	05:12:12	17	0.0242	0.0266	0.0110
11	4/18	05:14:32	4/18	08:38:32	169	0.00462	0.00463	0.000347
11	4/18	22:41:32	4/19	00:07:32	84	0.00395	0.00399	-0.000564
11	4/19	02:22:32	4/19	23:12:32	315	0.00519	0.00520	-0.000267
42	4/18	08:43:32	4/18	13:40:32	275	0.00456	0.00457	-0.000316
42	4/19	06:43:32	4/19	13:46:32	315	0.00467	0.000953	
51	4/18	21:12:32	4/19	18:44:32	100	0.00718	0.00719	-0.000398
61	4/18	15:07:32	4/18	16:33:32	71	0.00456	0.00518	0.00244
61	4/18	18:13:32	4/19	00:28:32	146	0.00493	0.00493	0.000187
61	4/19	00:29:32	4/19	01:39:32	61	0.00505	0.00506	-0.000372
61	4/19	15:10:32	4/19	22:11:32	273	0.00726	0.00726	0.0000510
Note Only two	o-way doppler date	a were used.						

the predicted target parameters did not agree with any previous results.

A number of orbital computations were made using the Mod II ODP in an attempt to improve the data fit by solving for nongravitational trajectory perturbations and thereby provide a refined estimate of the postmaneuver orbit. The formulation referred to in this paragraph is discussed in Section II.A. The coefficients of the time polynomial  $(\alpha_1, \alpha_2)$  were not estimated for any case, and for most cases the solar radiation coefficients  $(G_R, G_T, G_N)$  were not estimated. In such computations, Eq. (1) was reduced to simply

$$\Delta \mathbf{\ddot{r}} = f_1 \mathbf{U} + f_2 \mathbf{T} + f_3 \mathbf{N}$$
 (2)

A  $17 \times 17$  orbit solution, using all postmaneuver data, was obtained and mapped to target. This solution was based on an estimation of the standard 6 parameters; the station location parameters radius and longitude for the four stations (8 total); and the three accelerations ( $f_1, f_2$ and  $f_3$ ) for the entire trajectory. Examination of the doppler residual plots (Figs. 14, 15) indicated that the fit had been significantly improved. Also, the predicted unbraked impact point agreed very well with the inflight results, and the predicted impact time agreed with the observed time to within 0.07 s. This  $17 \times 17$  orbit solution using all postmaneuver data is considered the current best estimate of the *Surveyor III* postmaneuver orbit.

The following are the nongravitational acceleration perturbations estimated in the  $17 \times 17$  solution:

$$f_1 = 0.14 \times 10^{-9} \text{ km/s}^2$$

$$f_2 = 0.70 \times 10^{-10} \text{ km/s}^2$$

$$f_3 = -0.95 \times 10^{-10} \text{ km/s}^2$$

$$[\Delta \mathbf{\ddot{r}}] \simeq 0.183 \times 10^{-9} \text{ km/s}^2$$

These results indicate that some perturbations did exist in the postmaneuver trajectory and that their effect can be accounted for by solving for nongravitational acceleration perturbations. The causes of these perturbations in the acceleration have not yet been determined and are still under investigation. However, the solar radiation pressure, uncanceled velocity increment from normal operations of the attitude control system, possible attitude jet misalignment, and possible gas or propellant leaks would be some of the causes for the perturbations. Even though these trajectory perturbations were not accounted for during inflight computations, the orbit determination requirements were met. Numerical values from the best estimate  $17 \times 17$  postmaneuver orbit solutions are presented in Table 15. The amount of data used in this solution, together with the associated noise statistics, is shown in Table 16.

#### D. Evaluation of Midcourse Maneuver from DSIF Tracking Data

The *Surveyor III* midcourse maneuver can be evaluated by examining the velocity change at midcourse epoch, and by comparing the maneuver aim point with the target parameters from the best-estimate solution of the postmidcourse orbit.

The observed velocity change due to midcourse thrust is determined by differencing the velocity components of best-estimate orbit solutions derived from postmaneuver data only and premaneuver data only. These solutions are independent; i.e., a priori information from premaneuver data is not used during the processing of postmaneuver data. The estimated maneuver execution errors, at midcourse epoch, are determined by differencing the observed velocity changes and the commanded maneuver velocity increments. The remaining source of major contribution to the total maneuver error is made by the orbit determination process and includes ODP computational and model errors, and errors in tracking data. These errors may be obtained by differencing the velocity components, at midcourse epoch, of the best-estimate solution of the premaneuver orbit and the inflight orbit used for the maneuver computations. Numerical results of this part of the evaluation are presented in Table 17, in which it can be seen that the execution errors in DX, DY and DZwere only -0.0375 m/s, +0.0103 m/s, and -0.0074 m/s respectively. The orbit determination errors are also very small. Total maneuver errors for Surveyor III are well within specifications.

A more meaningful evaluation can be made by examining certain critical target parameters. Since the primary objective of the midcourse maneuver is to achieve lunar encounter at the selected landing site, the maneuver unbraked aim point is used as the basic reference for this evaluation. The unbraked aim point for *Surveyor III* was  $2.88^{\circ}$  S lat and  $336.93^{\circ}$  E lon. Trajectory corrections were based on the predicted unbraked impact point from the best estimate inflight orbit solution (LAPM YC) to achieve landing at the desired site. To evaluate the total maneuver error at the target, the maneuver aim point is compared with the predicted unbraked impact point from the current best estimate postmaneuver orbit solution.

		Current best			Total mane	UVer errors
Current best estimate of premaneuver velocity, m/s	Inflight" estimate of premaneuver velocity, m/s	estimate of postmaneuver velocity at mid- course epoch, <sup>b</sup> m/s	Observed velocity change due to maneuver (best post—best pre), m/s	Commanded <sup>a</sup> maneuver velocity change, m/s	Execution errors (observed change —commanded change), m/s	Orbit determina- tion errors (best pre-inflight), m/s
DX = -1385.9217	- 1385.9256	- 1382.1752	$\Delta DX = 3.7465$	3.7840	-0.0375	+ 0.0039
DY = 610.82415	610.81945	609.90406	$\Delta DY = -0.9201$	-0.9304	+ 0.0103	0.0047
DZ = 517.65969	517.66004	519.19749	$\Delta DZ = 1.5378$	1.5452	-0.0074	0.0004
Note All velocity components	are given in geocentric sp	bace-fixed Cartesian coor	dinates.			
<sup>a</sup> Based on inflight premane	suver orbit solution (LAPN	YC) used for midcourse	maneuver computations.			
$^{ extsf{b}}$ Midcourse epoch $\simeq$ end c	of reorientation after moto	r burn, April 18, 1967,	05:00:05.000 GMT.			

Table 17. Midcourse maneuver evaluated at midcourse epoch, Surveyor III

Orbit determination errors can be obtained by differencing the unbraked target parameters of the current best estimate premaneuver orbit solution and the inflight orbit solution used for maneuver computations. Execution errors, consisting of both attitude maneuver errors and engine system errors, are then determined by differencing the total and the orbit determination errors. Numerical results of these computations are presented in Table 18, in which it can be seen that landing was achieved within 0.10 deg south and 0.13 deg west of the desired aiming point. These differences in latitude and longitude are roughly equivalent to 3.0 km and 3.9 km, respectively, on the lunar surface. The orbit determination **B**-space position errors ( $\Delta \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{T}T = 1.39$  km,  $\Delta \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{R}T = 0.458$  km)

Table 18.	Lunar unbraked	impact points,
	Surveyor III	

Source		Latitude, de (south)	g Longi (	tude, deg east)
Best estimate of premi	dcourse	- 10.09	3	23.04
Inflight premidcourse (LAPM YC)	orbit	- 10.08	3	23.01
Best estimate of postm	idcourse	- 2.98	3	36.80
Maneuver unbraked a	im point	- 2.88	3	36.93
Estimated midcou	rse errors r	napped to unb	raked impact	point
	Δ	Latitude	Δ Lon	gitude
Source	deg (minus, south)	≈km	deg (minus, west)	≈km
OD errors <sup>a</sup>	-0.01	-0.3	0.03	0.9
Maneuver errors <sup>b</sup>	-0.09	- 2.7	-0.16	-4.8
Overall errors <sup>c</sup>	-0.10	-3.0	-0.13	- 3.9
<sup>a</sup> Orbit determination err for maneuver computat <sup>b</sup> Maneuver errors: Overal	ors: Current ions (LAPM '	best premaneuve YC). s OD errors.	r estimate <i>min</i> u	us orbit used

<sup>e</sup>Overall errors: Current best postmaneuver estimate minus aiming point.

are well within the  $9 \times 2$  km, one standard deviation, expected accuracy.<sup>7</sup> The accuracy of the Surveyor III midcourse maneuver was well within Surveyor Project specifications. It should be noted that these results cannot be used to precisely evaluate the Centaur injection accuracy since the inflight aim point was not exactly the same as the prelaunch aim point.

#### E. Estimated Tracking Station Locations and Physical Constants

1. Introduction. Computations were made to determine the best estimate of  $GM_{earth}$ ,  $GM_{moon}$  and station location parameters for Surveyor III mission. The parameters estimated in these computations were the spacecraft position and velocity at an epoch; GMearth; GMmoon; spacecraft acceleration perturbations  $f_1$ ,  $f_2$  and  $f_3$ ; the solar radiation constant G; and two components (geocentric radius and longitude) of station locations for each of DSSs 11, 42, 51 and 61. These solutions were computed using only the two-way doppler data from stations 11, 42, 51 and 61 for both the premidcourse and postmidcourse phases. In an effort to obtain the best estimate of the parameters to be solved for, the premidcourse data block was combined with the postmidcourse data block. The procedure of combining the two data blocks is to fit only the premidcourse data, accumulate the normal equations at the injection epoch, and map the converged estimate to the midcourse epoch with a linear mapping of the inverted normal equation matrix (i.e., covariance matrix). The estimate is then incremented with the best estimate of the maneuver, and the mapped covariance matrix is corrupted in the velocity increment and used as a priori for the postmidcourse data fit. The ephemeris used in the reduction was the JPL DE-19 with the updated mass ratios and Eckert's corrections.

See Ref. 9 for expected accuracy of orbit determination.



Fig. 14. Surveyor III postmaneuver two-way doppler residuals, trajectory not corrected for perturbations



Fig. 14 (contd)



Fig. 15. Surveyor III postmaneuver two-way doppler residuals, trajectory corrected for perturbations



Fig. 15 (contd)

2. Results. The results of these computations are presented in Table 19 in an unnatural station coordinate system (geocentric radius, latitude, and longitude) and in a natural coordinate system  $(r_s, \lambda, Z)$  where  $r_s$  is the distance off the spin axis (in the station meridian),  $\lambda$  is the longitude, and Z is a line along the earth spin axis (Fig. 16).

The numerical results indicate that the values obtained for  $r_s$  and longitude for DSS 11, and  $r_s$  for DSS 42, are a few meters higher than any of the previous solutions listed (except by Goddard). The value of  $r_s$  for DSS 61 is only slightly lower (<1 m) than previous solutions. This may be due to the abundance of low elevation data incor-

\*Indices of refraction obtained from A. S. Liu, JPL: DSS 11 = 240, DSS 42 = 310, DSS 51 = 240, DSS 61 = 300.

porated in the solution and the improved values<sup>8</sup> of DSS indices of refraction used in the solution. The new indices improved the data fit for all stations which took low elevation data. Previous to the availability of new indices, a value of 340 was used for all Deep Space Stations.

Surveyor I and III solutions for longitude of DSS 42 are both higher than previous solutions. However, these values are consistent with all the other Surveyor solutions which have been computed in postflight analysis of the tracking data. Therefore, the estimate for DSS 42 longitude is considered a good one. All other station locations estimated for Surveyor III are within the range of the previous solutions listed. The statistics obtained with the station locations are higher than those of most other missions because larger effective data weights were used for

DSS	Data source	Distance off spin axis r*, km	rs Standard deviation (10), m	Geocentric Iongitude, deg	Longi- tude standard deviation (1 s), m	Geocentric radius, deg	Geocentric latitude*, deg
11	Marina II	5206 3357	30	243 15058	8.8	6372.0044	35.208035
	Mariner IV cruise	404	10.0	067	20.0	.0188	08144
	Mariner IV, crosse	378	37.0	072	40.0	.0161	08151
	Pioneer VI Dec 1965-June 1966	359	9.6	092	10.3	.0286	08030
	Goddard Land Survey, Aug. 1966	718	29.0	094	35.0	.0640	08230
	Surveyor I. post-touchdown	276	2.9	085	23.8	.6446	16317
	Surveyor Linflight	417	49.3	125	46.0	.0240	08192
	Surveyor III, inflight	431	22.1	086	45.0	.0258	08192
42	Mariner IV. cruise	5205.3478	10.0	148.98136	20.0	6371.6882	- 35,219410
	Mariner IV, postencounter	.3480	28.0	134	29.0	.6824	19333
	Pioneer VI, Dec. 1965–June 1966	.3384	5.0	151	8.1	.6932	19620
	Goddard Land Survey, Aug. 1966	.2740	52.0	000	61.0	.7030	20750
	Surveyor I, post-touchdown	.3474	3.5	130	22.1	.6651	19123
	Surveyor I, inflight, postmidcourse only	74	29.2	161	41.0	.6845	19372
	Surveyor III, inflight	74	25.3	156	42.0	.6847	19372
51	Combined Rangers, LE-3 <sup>b</sup>	5742.9315	8.5	27.68572	22.2	6375.5072	
•••	Ranger VI, LE-3	203	19.7	572	69.3	.4972	9215
	Ranger VII, LE-3	211	25.5	583	61.3	.4950	<b>9</b> 157
	Ranger VIII, LE-3	372	22.3	548	85.0	.5130	9159
	Ranger IX, LE-3	626	56.6	580	49.5	322	8993
	Mariner IV, cruise	363	10.0	540	20.0	120	9148
	Mariner IV, postencounter	365	40.0	557	38.0	143	9198
	Pioneer VI, Dec. 1965-June 1966	332	11.6	569	12.0	094	9176
	Goddard Land Survey, Aug. 1966	706	39.0	586	43.0	410	8990
	Surveyor I, inflight	382	33.9	572	41.2	146	9169
	Surveyor III, inflight	347	32.7	570	45.0	108	9169
61	Lunar Orbiter II, doppler	4862.6067	9.6	355.75115	44.4	6369.9932	40.238566
	Lunar Orbiter II, doppler and ranging	6118	3.4	138	4.0	69.9999	566
	Mariner IV, postencounter	6063	14.0	099	24.0	70.0009	655
	Pioneer VI, Dec. 1965-June 6, 1966	59	8.8	103	10.4	60	715
	Surveyor III, inflight	65	21.2	124	45.0	54	701
*Latitude	was not estimated for Surveyor inflight solutions.			-			

Table 19. Station locations and statistics, Surveyor III (referenced to 1903.0 pole)

<sup>b</sup>Lunar ephemeris 3 (DE-15); all Surveyor inflight solutions used LE-4 (DE-19).



Fig. 16. Station coordinate system

Surveyor missions and the amount of data available is generally smaller.

The  $GM_{earth}$  and  $GM_{moon}$  estimates for Surveyor III are given in Table 20 along with previous solutions. The value for  $GM_{earth}$  is slightly lower than most of the Ranger solutions, but is well within 1  $\sigma$  of the combined Ranger estimates. The value obtained for  $GM_{moon}$  is within the range of the Ranger estimates and slightly higher than the combined Ranger values. The correlation matrix on postmaneuver data with premaneuver data as a priori is given in Table 21.

3. Conclusion. The  $GM_{earth}$  and  $GM_{moon}$  estimates are within the same range as previous individual Ranger and Lunar Orbiter estimates. Other than DSS 11  $r_s$  and longitude, and DSS 42 longitude, the station location parameters are in good agreement with the Ranger, Mariner, Lunar Orbiter, and Pioneer missions. However, additional solutions are being made for other Surveyor missions

which indicate the value for DSS 42 longitude is consistent. The results of successive Surveyor estimates will be presented in their associated flight path reports. For Surveyor IV estimates, see Section X. E.

Table 20. Physical constants and statistics, Surveyor III

Data source	GM <sub>rarth</sub> , km <sup>3</sup> /s <sup>2</sup>	Standard deviation {1 s}, km <sup>3</sup> /s <sup>2</sup>	GM <sub>meen</sub> , km³/s²	Standard deviation (1 \sigma}, km <sup>3</sup> /s <sup>2</sup>
Lunar Orbiter II (doppler)	398600.88	2.14	4902.6605	0.29
Lunar Orbiter II (doppler and range)	398600.37	0.68	4902.7562	0.13
Combined Rangers	398601.22	0.37	4902.6309	0.074
Ranger VI	398600.69	1.13	4902.6576	0.185
Ranger VII	398601.34	1.55	4902.5371	0.167
Ranger VIII	398601.14	0.72	4902.6304	0.119
Ranger IX	398601.42	0.60	4902.7073	0.299
Surveyor I	398600.62	0.63	4902.6529	0.236
Surveyor III	398600.78	0.72	4902.7102	0.230

Ŀ		ļ,	,	•	Å	À	6	10	6	GM	-	2	4	2	Lonu	R.	Lonts	Rai	Lonsi	2	Lonei
Annor	1 178	, 8	0.680	0.226	-0.277	0.055	- 0.444	- 0.360	0.00	-0.117	0.057	0.080	0.057	-0.058	0.579	0.032	-0.530	0.159	-0.592	0.068	-0.607
< >	1.700		0001	0.555	-0.289	0.290	-0.532	0.113	-0.001	0.144	-0.110	-0.206	0.260	-0.547	-0.737	- 0,436 -	-0.848	-0.267	-0.827	-0.420	-0.713
N	3.072			- 1.000	661.0	-0.257	0.241	- 0.530	0.002	-0.353	0.154	0.254	-0.334	0.685	0.255	0.606	0.478	0.544	0.370	0.633	0.193
Xq	0.021				- 1.000	0.702	0.743	0.025	0.001	-0.512	0.964	0.854	-0.528	0.253	-0.163	0.085	-0.047	0.081	-0.030	0.116	-0.204
ý	0.023					1.000	0.079	0,164	0.000	-0.403	0.726	0.484	0.165	-0.332	-0.626	-0.351	-0.553	-0.204	-0.516	-0.288	-0.581
DZ	0.041						1.000	-0.016	100.0	-0.261	0.694	0.753	-0.549	0.580	0.265	0.363	0.301	0.210	0.325	0.360	0.162
GM	·* 0.725							000.1 —	0.008	0.175	-0.016	-0.091	0.133	666.0	0.001	-0.359	0.192	-0.193	-0.134	-0.293	0.007
U	0.1								- 1.000	-0.003	- 0.004	0.001	-0.002	0.002	-0.001	0.002	0.000	100.0	0.003	0.002	0.000
GM.	0.230										0.502	-0.268	0.046	-0.243	0.118	-0.267	0.037	-0.172	0.007	-0.271	0.058
÷	0.37 × 10 <sup>-4</sup>										1.000	0.852	-0.408	0.244	-0.321	0.100	-0.218	0.113	-0.199	0.167	6/6.0
<u> </u>	0.46 × 10 <sup>-1</sup>											00: 1	-0.861	0.382	-0.245	660'0	-0.075	0.141	-0.114	0.102	-0.337
<u>'</u>	0.29 × 10 <sup>-1</sup>												- 1.000	<b>66</b> E.0 —	0.120	-0.064	-0.090	-0.149	0.004	-0.009	0.210
ž	0.027													- 1.000	0.314	0.581	0.460	0.502	0.355	0.547	0.224
Lonu	0.00045														- 1.000	0.385	0.891	0.213	0.893	0.282	0.923
, A	0.031															- 1.000	0.383	0.436	0.410	0.558	0.319
Long	0.00042																- 1.000	0.299	0.888	0.324	0.860
R	0.036																	- 1.000	0.115	0.372	0.125
Lona	0.00045																		1.000	0.331	0.872
R	0.028																			1.000	0.244
Lones	0.00045																				1.00
5	s of measure X) DX		3		ł, ,	Ū	G (salar ra	Jiation coeffi	cient), uniti	550											
	× km DV	, ""	CM=	* { km <sup>a</sup> /s <sup>3</sup>	ية مريخ ت ت	۳/s <sup>2</sup>	kon, deg 8. km														

6	
III (solution	auver epoch)
estimated parameters, Surveyor I	naneuver data as a <i>priori</i> at maneu
matrix of	with pre
. Correlation	naneuver data
Table 21	postr

JPL TECHNICAL REPORT 32-1292

:

-

### VII. Observations and Conclusions From Surveyor III Mission

#### **A. Tracking Data Evaluation**

The only significant loss of prime two-way doppler data during the Surveyor III mission occurred during the first pass over DSS 61. At 14:32:02 GMT, on April 17, DSS 61 began taking two-way doppler data, and approximately 15 min later the results of the data monitor program indicated excessive noise in the DSS 61 data. The problem was traced to a dropped 8-bit in the least significant digit of the doppler counter. A transfer to DSS 51 could not be scheduled until 17:00:00 because of Canopus acquisition. At 17:33:02, DSS 61 stopped three-way tracking to repair the counter, and resumed three-way tracking at 18:36:31. Investigation disclosed that now bits were being dropped from the fifth significant digit in the doppler counter, and DSS 61 stopped tracking from 19:24:32 to 19:51:22 to again repair the doppler counter. After 19:51:22, no further such problems were encountered.

In general, doppler data yields far greater accuracy in the determination of a spacecraft orbit than does angle data and is therefore used almost exclusively in the orbit determination process during most of the mission. The one exception is the launch phase, when little doppler data is available and a quick determination of the orbit necessitates the use of both doppler and angle data. During the *Surveyor III* mission, angle data from DSS 42, DSS 61, and DSS 51 were used in the orbit determination program during the premideourse phase. To improve the quality of the angle data to be used in the orbit determination program, it is first corrected for antenna optical pointing error as discussed in Section II.B.

Experience gained in past missions has shown that the correction coefficients of the optical printing error do not remove all systematic pointing errors. This was verified again during the *Surveyor III* mission when examination of residual plots revealed a definite bias in angle data with respect to the doppler data.<sup>9</sup> During the third orbit computation period (PREL), a comparison was made between orbit solutions with angle data and those without. The result was a difference of 132 km in **B** space when the resulting orbit solutions were mapped to target encounter.

Results of the midcourse maneuver burn can be seen in the DSS 11 two-way doppler data shown in Fig. 17. Results of the retromotor burn as seen in the one-way doppler data from DSS 11 are presented in Fig. 18.

#### **B.** Comparison of Inflight and Postflight Results

The results of the inflight orbit determination can be evaluated by comparing them with the results obtained from the postflight computations. The degree to which these results agree is primarily influenced by the success attained in detecting and eliminating bad or questionable tracking data from the inflight computations, and accounting for all trajectory perturbations. Of these, the largest variations are usually caused by bad or questionable data resulting from equipment malfunction, incorrect time information, or incorrect frequency information. Other than gross blunder points, these data are not easily detected unless two-way doppler data are available from more than one station. That is, the least-squares method used to fit data in the ODP gives no information on constant data biases when data are available from only one station. Therefore, a comparison can be made only when data from more than one station are available. Furthermore, data must be available from three or more stations in order for bad blocks of data to be isolated.

The best comparison between the results of inflight and postflight orbit determinations can be made by examining the critical target parameters; namely, the unbraked impact time and the impact location. Table 22, which summarizes these results, shows that the inflight premaneuver impact point was in error by 0.01 deg in latitude and 0.03 deg in longitude. This is well within the uncertainty associated with the inflight estimate. The inflight postmaneuver impact point associated with orbit solution (5 POM YD) used for the terminal attitude maneuver computations was in error by 0.035 deg in latitude and 0.01 deg in longitude. These errors are also within the stated uncertainties associated with the inflight estimates. The inflight predicted unbraked impact time used to provide the AMR backup differed from the observed time by 0.159 s which was within the 1  $\sigma$  uncertainty of 0.500 s. Part of this error was due to an incorrect input of DSS 11 station frequency. Had the correct frequency been used, this error would have been reduced to 0.145 s.

The best estimate of the landing point determined by transit tracking data (i.e., current best postmaneuver orbit), and the landing points determined by independent observations are presented in Table 22. One of the independent observations was obtained by processing tracking data from the landed spacecraft. The other one was obtained by optical methods; i.e., correlating television photos of surrounding lunar horizon features taken by *Surveyor III* with the photos of the same lunar region taken by *Lunar Orbiter*. In the table it can be seen that the estimated location based on the preliminary analysis of the landed

See Figs. 1 to 4.



Fig. 17. DSS 11 midcourse maneuver doppler data for Surveyor III

÷

÷.

ŝ



Fig. 18. DSS 11 main retromotor burn phase doppler for Surveyor III



Fig. 19. Surveyor III estimated landed location on lunar surface
	Estimated un loco	braked impact ation	Uncertai point	nty about estin t (1 σ dispersio	nated impact n ellipse)	Estimated	Uncertainty in estimated
Source	Latitude, deg (south)	Longitude, deg	SMAA, km	SMIA, km	θ <sub>T</sub> , deg	time, GMT h:min:s	unbraked impact time (1ơ), s
Premaneuver (uncorrected)							
Inflight OD	- 10.08	323.01	10.0	2.0	71.395	23:58:16.856	2.74
Postflight OD	-10.09	323.04	10.0	2.0	77.330	23:58:16.297	2.74
Postmaneuver (transit)							
Inflight OD	- 2.94	336.79	7.0	5.0	82.90	00:01:48.000	0.500
Postflight OD	- 2.98	336.80	7.0	5.0	85.207	00:01:48.159	0.500
Observed unbraked impact		_	—		_	00:01:48.09	0.050
Post-landing							
Postflight OD (adjusted)	- 3.01	336.59					
Lunar Orbiter correlation	- 2.94	336.66					
Post touchdown OD	- 3.06	336.71					

Table 22. Summary of target impact parameters, Surveyor III

spacecraft tracking data falls outside of the 1- $\sigma$  dispersion ellipse associated with the transit location (Fig. 19). However, it is well within the 3- $\sigma$  dispersion ellipse. The estimate based on the *Lunar Orbiter* photos is within the 1- $\sigma$  uncertainty of the transit estimate. The unbraked impact time observed and the impact time predicted by the current best postmaneuver orbit solution (based on a lunar elevation of 1735.7 km) differ by only 0.069 s.

Based on the results of the comparison between inflight and postflight results, the following conclusions may be made: (1) the premaneuver OD requirements were met; (2) the postmaneuver OD requirements were met even with an incorrect frequency input for a pass of DSS 11 data.

# VIII. Analysis of Air Force Eastern Test Range Tracking Data—Surveyor III

### A. Introduction

During Surveyor missions, the Air Force Eastern Test Range (AFETR) is responsible for providing injection conditions and classical orbital elements for the parking orbit, the spacecraft transfer orbit, and the Centaur postretro orbit. The AFETR is also responsible for providing initial acquisition information to the SFOF for possible use by the deep space tracking stations. These data are computed with Centaur C-band tracking data obtained from the downrange AFETR tracking stations. Results of these calculations are transmitted to the SFOF for possible retransmission to the tracking stations. The injection conditions are sometimes used as starter values for the initial JPL orbit calculations. However, since Surveyor III experienced a near-nominal launch, the nominal injection conditions available before launch were used as starter values for the initial JPL orbits.

In addition to the above requirements, the AFETR transmits the C-band pulse radar data obtained during the parking orbit, the transfer orbit, and the *Centaur* postretro orbit to the SFOF. The transfer orbit data are used during flight operations to provide a check and a backup to the AFETR computations. The *Centaur* postretro data are important for verifying the *Centaur* retromaneuver and the *Centaur* postretro orbit. The retromaneuver is performed to ensure that the *Centaur* does not impact the lunar surface and to provide a separation between the *Centaur* and the spacecraft so that the Canopus seeker does not lock on the *Centaur* rather than Canopus.

*Centaur* C-band preretro data were obtained from Bermuda, Pretoria, Ascension, Antigua and Grand Turk. However, all the data from Bermuda and Grand Turk were from the burn period between launch and CACO<sup>10</sup> and were not used in any JPL orbit computations. Postretro data were obtained from Carnarvon only. Elevation angles for the *usable* data were as follows:

- (1) Carnarvon  $14 \leq el \leq 81 deg$
- (2) Pretoria  $17 \leq el \leq 23 deg$
- (3) Ascension  $5 \le el \le 12 \deg$
- (4) Antigua  $0 \leq el \leq 11 deg$

<sup>&</sup>quot;CACO means *Centaur* achieves circular orbit at the end of the first 100-lb thrust propellant settling phase.



Fig. 20. AFETR tracking coverage for Surveyor III

The AFETR data coverage and associated spacecraft events are shown in Fig. 20.

 Table 23. Parking orbit injection conditions,

 Surveyor III

## **B.** Analysis of the Parking Orbit Data

The parking orbit computed at JPL used 23 points of angle and range data from Antigua and 14 points of range and 11 points of angle data from Ascension. These data were all between CACO and *Centaur* second main engine start (MES2). The converged earth-fixed spherical injection conditions are given in Table 23 for orbit determinations computed by both JPL and AFETR. Although the epochs used are slightly different, they are near enough to see good agreement between the JPL and AFETR computations. The tracking data residuals are shown in Fig. 21. The type and amounts of data are shown in Table 24 along with their associated noise statistics.

#### C. Analysis of the Transfer Orbit Data

The Centaur transfer orbit was computed using angle and range data from Pretoria obtained during the period

Description	JPL orbit	AFETR orbit
Epoch, GMT	07:15:50.118	07:16:05.7
	(Apr. 17, 1967)	(Apr. 17, 1967)
Radius, km	6537.04	6537.0
Latitude, deg	21.598	21.171
Longitude, deg	303.078	304.168
Velocity, km/s	7.403	7.401
Flight path angle, deg	0.0036	0
Azimuth, deg	112.543	112.985
Semimajor axis, km	6546.0	6544.0
Eccentricity, deg	0.0013675	0.0010187
C3 (vis viva integral), km²/s²	- 60.89	60.91
True anomaly, deg	2.506	0.102
Inclination, deg	29.96930	29.96304
Longitude of ascending node, deg	120.129	120.1372
Argument of perigee, deg	130.02739	133.58394



-

;

•\_\_\_\_\_

1 F L -

.

-



Fig. 21. AFETR tracking data residuals for Surveyor III

.

Orbit identification	AFETR	Data	Beginnin (month/	g data time 'date-GMT)	End a (month)	lata time (date-GMT)	Number of	Standard	Root mean	Mean error residual <sup>a</sup>
Identification	station	туре	1967	h:min:s	1967	h:min:s	points	deviation	square"	(O — C)
AFETR parking	74	Az	4/17	07:15:54	4/17	07:18:18	23	0.00404	0.00449	0.00193
orbit		El	1	07:15:54	I	07:18:06	22	0.0161	0.0165	0.00357
		R		07:15:54		07:18:18	22	0.0222	0.0260	-0.0135
	75	Az		07:27:12		07:28.36	11	0.0245	0.0306	- 0.0183
		EI		07:27:12		07:28:36	11	0.00773	0.00868	- 0.00395
		R		07:27:12		07:28:36	14	0.00945	0.00955	- 0.00135
AFETR transfer	76	Az		07:40:24		07:40:48	4	0.0663	0.0663	0.000775
orbit		El		07:40:24		07:40:48	4	0.0238	0.0239	0.00122
		R		07:40:24		07:40:48	4	0.120	0.120	0.000137
AFETR postretro	83	Az		07:56:42		08:39:36	385	0.0132	0.0134	-0.00184
orbit		EI	♥	07:56 42	₹	08:39:36	372	0.00789	0.00791	0.000634
		R	4/17	07:56:42	4/17	08:39:36	390	0.0185	0.0185	0.000259

Table 24. Summary of AFETR tracking data used in orbit computations for Surveyor III/Centaur

Station 75, Ascension

Station 76, Pretoria

Station 83, Carnarvon

between separation and the beginning of the *Centaur* retromaneuver. Because of problems in locking onto the Centaur, no usable data were available between main engine cutoff and separation. The AFETR converged conditions (geocentric Cartesian position and velocity) are given in the top of Table 25. Since the AFETR and JPL transfer orbits were computed with different epochs, the JPL converged conditions were mapped to the AFETR epoch for comparison. The most significant differences revealed by this comparison were those in the X and Z velocity components of 18.8 and 48.7 m/s, respectively. However, differences this large are considered normal for these transfer orbit calculations. The differences may be attributed to the different data spans used in the orbits. The AFETR real-time orbits were computed before the mark times were known and, consequently, include some data taken during the Centaur retromaneuver. The JPL transfer orbit used only four points of data obtained between separation and start of Centaur retro.

Pretoria had problems locking-on with its radar. Out of 20 potential data points received from Pretoria between Centaur second main engine cutoff (MECO 2) and the beginning of retromaneuver, only 5 had a data condition code indicating an *in-lock* condition. Out of these 5 points only 4 were considered usable for the JPL orbit. The AFETR transfer orbit was computed with 17 points of data which, as already noted, include some burn data taken during Centaur retro.

## Table 25. Converged conditions at injection epoch in space-fixed cartesian coordinates, Surveyor III

Parameter	AFETR transfer orbit by JPL	AFETR transfer orbit	Difference between orbits by JPL and AFETR
	Epoch, GMT	07:42:17.9	
	(Apr. 17,	1967)	
X, km	6047.2997	6046.7853	-0.5144
Y, km	492.59301	506.50451	3.91150
Z, km	- 3162.9813	- 3161.8319	1.1491
DX, km/s	0.10297172	0.08416453	-0.01880719
DY, km/s	10.289004	10.290564	0.001560
DZ, km/s	3.0536272	3.0049606	0.0486666
	Epoch, GMT	07:38:39.838	
	(Apr. 17,	1967)	
		Best DSS orbit	
X, km	5836.2944	5839.9109	3.6165
Y, km	- 1742.4379	- 1730.0228	12.4151
Z, km	- 2405.2075	- 2413.5618	- 8.3543
DX, km/s	1.8607523	1.8349779	- 0.0259744
DY, km/s	10.096772	10.101964	0.005192
DZ, km/s	- 3.8775678	- 3.8396961	0.0388717

The orbital elements obtained from the best premaneuver orbit computed from DSIF data only are reasonably consistent with the IPL transfer orbit computed from Pretoria data. When comparing these two orbits, it should be kept in mind that the DSIF is tracking the spacecraft and the AFETR is tracking the Centaur. Since the Pretoria

Station 74, Antigua

Parameter	Best DSIF orbit	AFETR transfer orbit by JPL	AFETR transfer orbit	Difference between transfer orbits by JPL and DSIF orbit	Difference between transfer orbits by JPL and AFETR
Epoch, GMT	07:38:39.838	07:38:39.838	07:42:17.9		(Since JPL and AFETR used
	(Apr. 17, 1967)	(Apr. 17, 1967)	(Apr. 17, 1967)		different Epochs, the differences between injection conditions would be meaningless)
Radius, km	6551.5651	6548.5450	6842.0	- 3.0201	
Latitude, deg	- 21.616922	- 21,548509	- 27.522	0.068413	
Longitude, deg	24.083007	23.961265	44.461	-0.121742	
Velocity, km/s	10,549416	10.562811	10.298	0.013395	
Flight path angle, deg	2.0786519	2.1485487	12.475	0.0698968	
Azimuth, deg	112.17171	112.34263	102.808	0.17092	
Semimajor axis, km	261992.97	307887.81	252520.7	45894.84	5536.1
Eccentricity	0.97502421	0.97875873	0.9740863	0.00373452	- 0.0046724
Inclination, deg	29.980849	30.046146	29.93845	0.065297	- 0.09770
Longitude of node, deg	120.11426	120.32213	119.9996	0.20787	0.3225
Argument of perigee, deg	223.44343	223.00454	223.53038	0.43889	0.52584
C <sub>3</sub> , km <sup>2</sup> /s <sup>2</sup>	- 1.5214196	-1.2946315	- 1.57	0.2267781	- 0.26
Encounter					
18, km	821.98308	9749.1163	2714.3445	8927.1332	7034.7718
B•R7, km	- <b>97</b> .110296	7098.2878	1008.8109	7195.3981	- 8107.0987
B•T7, km	816.22667	- 6682.7819	2519.9140	-7499.0086	9202.6959
Latitude, deg	10.092257	- 38.751088	12.781923	- 28.658831	51.533011
Longitude, deg	323.02872	186.612	2.8061422	- 136.416	- 183.806

Table 26. Transfer orbit parameter solutions, Surveyo	or I	11
---	------	----

data were taken after separation, it is logical that the orbit based on those data would differ some from the orbit based on DSIF data only. The values for the orbital elements obtained from the AFETR transfer orbits and the DSIF orbit are given in Table 26 which also lists the differences between the orbits being compared. The amount and types of tracking data used, and their associated data noise statistics, are given in Table 24. The tracking data residuals (O - C) for the transfer orbit are shown in Fig. 21.

#### D. Analysis of the Postretro Orbit Data

Approximately one hour of postretro data from Carnarvon is available for analysis. These data are relatively noise-free, thus lending to a highly reliable postretro orbit computation. The AFETR postretro orbit computation was based on a data span of 12 min 50 s, from 07:50:06 to 08:02:56 GMT, which included 129 points of Carnarvon data. The JPL postretro orbit was based on approximately 390 points of range and angular data taken during the time span 07:56:42 to 08:39:36. Since the data were of

JPL solution is higher. Comparison of the two solutions reveals no outstanding differences. The AFETR solution gave a **B**-plane miss of 38,568 km, while the JPL solution gave a miss of 39,235 km, a difference of 667 km. However, this is considered reasonable for the postretro solutions. The orbit parameters for the JPL and AFETR postretro orbit solutions are given in Table 27. The tracking data residuals for the JPL solution are given in Fig. 21. **E. Conclusions** 

high quality and the JPL solution contained three times as many points as the AFETR solution, confidence in the

## Although limited in quantity and quality, the Pretoria transfer orbit data were useful during flight operations for verifying the initial DSIF orbit estimate.

The inclusion of burn data in the transfer orbit computed by the AFETR was not a discrepancy on the part of the AFETR. They were responsible for computing a *quick-look* orbit to provide initial acquisition information to the DSIF. They fulfilled this obligation.

Parameter	JPL orbit with Carnarvon data	AFETR orbit	Difference between orbits by JPL and AFETR
Epoch, GMT	07:56:32.9	07:56:32.9	_
	(Apr. 17, 1967)	(Apr. 17, 1967)	
Radius, km	10428.581	10435.	6.
Latitude, deg	- 25.781722	- 25.772	-0.010
Longitude, deg	99.213737	99.267	0.053
Velocity, <sup>a</sup> km/s	8.1047094	8.102	-0.003
Flight path angle, <sup>*</sup> deg	40.017568	40.039	0.021
Azimuth," deg	72.440034	72.420	-0.020
Semimajor axis, km	182487.62	183166.7	679.1
Eccentricity	0.96414709	0.9642721	0.0001250
Inclination, deg	29.970017	29.96997	- 0.00005
Longitude of node, deg	120.00405	120.0248	0.0207
Argument of perigee, deg	223.40281	223.40566	0.00285
C₃ , km²/s²	- 2.1842647	- <b>2</b> .17	-0.01
BB, km	39235.485	38568.279	-667.206
B•TT, km	36347.191	35678.663	- 668.528
<b>B • R</b> 7, km	- 14775.132		127.772
▶Earth-fixed.	·		·····

 Table 27. Postretro parameter solutions,

 Surveyor III

# IX. Surveyor IV Inflight Orbit Determination Analysis

# A. View Periods and Tracking Patterns

Figure 22 summarizes the tracking station view periods and their data coverage for the period from launch to loss of signal. Figures 23 through 27 are tracking station stereographic projections for the tracking stations which show the trace of the spacecraft trajectory for the view periods in Fig. 22.

#### **B.** Premaneuver Orbit Estimates

Table 28 summarizes the tracking data used for both the inflight and postflight orbital calculations and analyses. This table provides a general picture of the performance of the data recording and handling system. The first estimate of the spacecraft orbit (PROR Y) calculated from DSS data only was completed at launch plus 2 h 00 min (L + 02 h 00 min), based on approximately one hour of DSS 72 two-way doppler and angle (az-el) data and 20 min of DSS 51 two-way doppler and angle (HA-dec) data. When mapped to the moon, this orbit solution indicated that the correction required to achieve encounter at the prelaunch aiming point was well within the nominal midcourse correction capability. These results were verified by the second (ICEV) orbit computation completed at L + 2 h 54 min and the third (PREL) at L + 5 h 07 min.



Fig. 22. Tracking station view periods and doppler data coverage for Surveyor IV

JPL TECHNICAL REPORT 32-1292



Fig. 23. DSS 72 stereographic projection for Surveyor IV

COMPANY REPORT

glassing III was broth and

\_\_\_



Fig. 24. DSS 51 stereographic projection for Surveyor IV



Fig. 25. DSS 61 stereographic projection for Surveyor IV



Fig. 26. DSS 11 stereographic projection for Surveyor IV



Fig. 27. DSS 42 stereographic projection for Surveyor IV

TRUCT A STREET

÷

DSS	Data type	Points received	Numb points u real t % of re	er of used in ime, eceived	Bad fo % of re	ermat, eceived	Bad cond % of re	data ition, eceived	Blunder % of re	points, eceived	Rejection limits on blunder points	Points used in postflight analysis
			Points	%	Points	%	Points	%	Points	%		
(A)	(B)	(C)	(D	)	(E	)	(F	·)	{G	i)	(н)	(1)
					Pre	emaneuv	er data		·		•	
11	CC3	719	575	80.0	5	0.7	3	0.4	8	1.1	0.114	556
	НА	791	0	0.0	8	1.0	7	0.9		l —	_	0
	Dec	791	0	0.0	8	1.0	7	0.9	—	—		0
42	CC3	545	519	95.2	4	0.7	5	0.9	1	0.2	0.021	519
	HA	790	0	0.0	8	1.0	11	1.4		_	-	0
	Dec	790	0	0.0	8	1.0	11	1.4	_	-	_	0
51	ссз	1066	914	85.7	52	4.9	20	1.9	6	0.6	0.029	869
	HA	1516	171	11.3	61	4.0	1	0.1	12	0.8	0.098	0
	Dec	1516	171	11.3	61	4.0	1	0.1	9	0.6	0.088	0
61	CC3	90	39	43.3	4	4.4	7	7.8	20	22.2	0.100	0
	HA	919	0	0.0	27	2.9	62	6.7	_		_	0
	Dec	919	D	0.0	27	2.9	62	6.7	_	_		0
72	ссз	209	118	56.5	10	4.8	41	19.6	33	15.8	0.079	95
	Az	816	182	22.3	29	3.6	19	2.3	13	1.6	0.600	0
	El	618	182	22.3	29	3.6	19	2.3	11	1.3	0.240	0
		-	•	••	Pos	itmaneuv	er data	·		<b>.</b>		
11	CC3	362	289	79.8	39	10.8	1	0.3	I	0.3	0.030	286
42	ссз	541	505	93.3	0	0.0	9	1.7	2	0.4	0.021	505
51	ссз	498	463	93.0	I	0.2	29	5.8	0	0.0	0.022	462

 
 Table 28. Summary of premaneuver and postmaneuver data used in orbit determination for Surveyor IV

As additional data were received and used in the orbit computations, it became clear that the angle data were biased with respect to the two-way doppler data. This was partly due to the bias caused by mechanical deflection as the antenna moves from horizon to horizon. Consequently, the angle data were weighted out of the orbit solutions computed during the third orbit (PREL) period. Eliminating the angle data resulted in a change of approximately 40 km in **B**-space when the solution was mapped to target.

During the data consistency (DACO) orbit computation period, the first data from DSS 61 were received. As these data were added to the data already received from DSS 72 and DSS 51, it became evident that the data were not consistent. DACO orbits, which provided a comparison of the data from DSS 51, 72 and 61, influenced the decision not to use DSS 61 in any later orbit computations because of an apparent bias and excessive noise. Also, during the DACO period, the first DSS 11 data were processed and found to be consistent with DSS 51 and 72. Eleven orbits were computed during the DACO period, giving a good comparison of the relative consistency of the two-way doppler data. As mentioned earlier, the angle data were dropped from the solutions during the PREL orbit period.

By the end of the DACO orbit period (L + 9 h 49 min)it had been decided to delay the midcourse maneuver to approximately L + 39 h during the second view period at Goldstone. Orbit computations indicated a very small miss; consequently, executing the maneuver during the first Goldstone view period was dismissed in favor of the increased accuracy which could be achieved by the later one.

During the period from L + 9 h 49 min to L + 16 h 40 min, 9 additional orbits were run to update the twoway doppler solution and continue data consistency checks as new data came in. No problems were encountered during this time.

At the beginning of the last premideourse (LAPM) orbit computation period, the following amount of usable two-way doppler data was available: 5 h 18 min from DSS 11, 8 h 46 min from DSS 42, 13 h 38 min from DSS 51, and 36 min from DSS 72.

The LAPM orbit solutions indicated that the data from DSS 42 were consistent with the data from DSS 11, 51 and 72. After updating the ODP data file the final premideourse orbit was run (LAPM YC) using all the data (except DSS 61) to MC - 3 h 40 min. When mapped to target, this solution predicted an unbraked impact point at 2.00° S lat and 354.1° E lon approximately 178 km southwest of the initial aiming point.

The numerical results of the premaneuver orbit computations are presented in Tables 29 and 30. Amounts and types of tracking data used in the various orbit computations, together with the associated noise statistics, are given in Table 31. Figure 28 is representative of premidcourse residual plots for two-way doppler data used in *Surveyor IV* orbit solutions. Representative premidcourse unbraked impact points are shown in Fig. 29.

## C. Postmaneuver Orbit Estimates

i

Contraction of the second second second

A TELEVISION OF THE PERSON AND A DESCRIPTION 
Ę.

Ξ

÷.

\_

7

÷

The first postmidcourse orbit computation (1 POM) was completed approximately 10 h 30 min after maneuver execution. For the final (1 POM XF) orbit computation during this period, approximately 3 h 20 min of DSS 11 and 5 h 35 min of DSS 42 two-way doppler data were used. The initial values for the first postmidcourse orbit estimation were the conditions obtained by mapping the PRCL YB conditions to the epoch at the end of the midcourse burn and adding the midcourse velocity increment. A priori information from the premaneuver tracking data was not used. When the 1 POM XF orbit was mapped to the moon, it indicated the unbraked impact point as approximately 3.06 km south and 10.5 km west of the aim point. Subsequent inflight postmidcourse orbit computations refined the estimated unbraked impact point to 0.3 km north and 8.1 km west of the aim point.

A decision had to be made no later than 6 h before the *Surveyor* retrofiring sequence to determine whether to track the spacecraft with DSS 51 or DSS 61 just before switching to DSS 11 during the terminal phase. Since DSS 61 data had exhibited an unexplained bias and excessive data noise from the recurring counter problem, it was decided to track with DSS 51. The final terminal maneuver computations were based on the 3 POM YD orbit solution.

Numerical results of the inflight postmidcourse orbit solutions are presented in Tables 32 and 33. Figure 30 is a plot showing the postmidcourse unbraked impact points obtained from these solutions. The amounts of tracking data used in the various postmidcourse orbit computations, together with the associated data statistics, are given in Table 34. Representative two-way doppler residuals are presented in Fig. 31.

#### **D. AMR Backup Computations**

After retrofire minus 2 h (R - 2 h), primary emphasis was placed on obtaining the best estimate of unbraked impact time to be used for sending the ground command to back up the Surveyor AMR. The AMR backup computations were characterized by a consistent estimated unbraked impact time (EUBIT) between 02:02:29.593 and 02:02:30.397 GMT. The last orbit (3 POM YD) computation made before changing to FINAL (R - 5 h 40 min)epoch gave a EUBIT of 02:02:29.645, which is unusually close to the time indicated by the FINAL orbits. Some change in estimated unbraked time is expected as more near-encounter data are used in the orbit solution. This was seen as the FINAL YF orbit solution yielded a EUBIT of 02:02:30.397. This solution was used as the basis for computing the AMR backup time, using data up to R-1 h 40 min consisting of 53 min of two-way doppler from DSS 11 and 3 h from DSS 51. Another solution (POST 1) was computed later which included all data from the end of midcourse burn to R - 40 min. This solution gave a EUBIT of 02:02:30.228 GMT, thus increasing confidence in the solution chosen for the AMR backup.

Since all the postmidcourse data fitted well and appeared consistent with the near-encounter data, it was felt that the FINAL YF solution was good within the 1-σ stated uncertainty of 0.5 s. The estimated AMR mark time based on this solution was July 17, 1967, 02:01:53.99 GMT. It was used as the basic reference point from which the desired time of backup command transmission from the ground was calculated. The uncertainty (orbit determination and manual implementation) associated with executing the AMR backup command was determined as  $0.72 \text{ s} (1 \sigma)$ . With the use of this value and the amount of predicted vernier engine propellant available, a backup delay of 1.17 s was specified. Known fixed delays such as the propagation delay, operator delay, command generator and command decoder delays totaled 2.27 s. The final GMT for transmission of the AMR backup command was rounded up to the next second, yielding 02:01:53.0. This backup mark command should have arrived at the spacecraft approximately 1.27 s after the predicted mark. Telemetry records show that the backup command arrived at the spacecraft 1.25 s after the actual AMR mark time. Table 35 summarizes the results of the inflight orbit determinations performed to back up the AMR.

		e E					Target s	hatistics					Sele	nocentric unbrake	conditions d impact		Date	pesn	
Orbit identifi-	woo	puted													GMT	Type			
cation	Start h:min	Stop h:min	¢, E	B • 11, km	в. RT, km	ר, גי	SMAA, km (ارا	km km (1 <i>o</i> )	θT, deg	07. (mpact, \$ (10)	<sup>ტ</sup> ა, deg	SVFIXR, km/s (1 d)	Latitude, deg (south)	Longi- tude, deg	h:min:s July 17, 1967	1014	55 <b>0</b>	Data	1
ETR	12:27	12:42	3882.77	2498.0	2972.5	61.43	8224.0	1485.4	28.58	0.488E11	706.7	0.0282	- 29,15	102.5	01:50.12.319	6x6			1
PROR YA	13:25	13:53	1881.97	1878.4	115.33	62.19	93.42	35.80	16.79	60.93	3.14	0.000627	- 8.75	357.2	02:12:59.134	6x6	72.51	CC3. Anales	
PROR XA	13:45	14:21	1823.17	1819.9	- 108.73	62.18	92.87	17.43	96.81	40.20	2.187	0.000617	-4.47	355.4	02:12:09.999	φxφ		CC3, Anales	
ICEV YA	14:25	14:49	1824.92	1823.7	66.86	62.20	89.48	6.80	99.19	36.45	1.835	0.000615	-7.93	355.8	02:13:42.463	φxφ		CC3. Anoles	
ICEV XA	14:28	14:47	1806.21	1805.3	- 57.29	62.19	75.90	17.7	98.99	29.22	1.573	0.000613	- 5.52	355.1	02:12:48.886	6x6		CC3, Anoles	
PREL XB	15:39	15:53	1785.30	1767.4	- 251.9	62.17	55.82	5.78	104.1	17.24	1.044	0.000612	-1.74	354.0	02:11:39.209	6x6	72.51	CC3	
PREL YB	16:43	17:00	1785.69	1768.7	246.0	62.17	26.46	5.29	109.3	7.59	0.452	0.000611	-1.86	354.1	02:11:41.012	6x6	72, 51	Ũ	
DACO XB	18:28	18:43	1787.95	1772.6	-234.1	62.17	16.60	4.98	114.3	4.68	0.265	0.000610	2.09	354.2	02:11:44.535	éxé	72, 51	Ü	
DACO YB	18:46	19:02	1783.01	1767.8	-232.4	62.17	91.21	37.8	174.3	26.63	0.686	0.000629	-2.13	354.1	02:11:45.090	6x6	51,61	Ũ	
DACO YC	20:43	21:07	1786.40	1770.2	-240.1	62.17	5.01	3.93	55.76	1.501	0.103	0.000610	-1.97	354.1	02:11:43.937	6x6	72, 51, 61	ÿ	
DACO XF	20:56	21:10	1786.24	1769.9		62.17	4.9523	2.62	64.84	1.630	0.111	0.000610	- 1.96	354.2	02:11:42.518	éxé	72, 51	SC	
DACO XH	21:25	21:42	1785.14	1769.237	- 237.8	62.17	3.3263	2.23	46.3	1.4957	1.0636	0.000610	- 2.02	354.1	02:11:42.003	6x6	11, 72, 51	500	• • •
NOMA YA	00:59	01:21	1785.07	1769.207	- 237.5	62.17	3.012	1.93	34.69	1,4161	0.1026	0.000610	- 2.03	354.09	02:11:41.925	6x6	11, 72, 51	E U U	
NOMA YD	11:40	11:59	1784.26	1768.4	-237.2	62.17	2.469	1.798	49.86	0.9485	0.0733	0.000610	-2.03	354.1	02:11:42.388	éx6	72, 42, 51	ប្រ	
NOMA YE	11:59	12:25	1781.68	1765.9	- 236.7	62.17	6.133	2.946	147.67	1.373	0.1416	0.000610	- 2.05	354.0	02:11:43.204	6x6	72, 11, 42	CC3	
NOMA YF	12:27	13:25	1784.06	1768.3	-236.7	62.17	2.137	1.567	33.33	0.8641	0.0660	0.000610	-2.04	354.1	02:11:42.470	6x6	72, 11, 42, 51	CC3	
LAPM XA	21:23	21:44	1782.68	1766.9		42.26	1,848	1.41	34.91	0.762	0.0564	0.000610	- 2.05	354.0	02:11:42.614	éx6	42, 51	S	
LAPM YB	22:27	23:04	1784.19	1768.2	-238.7	62.17	7.21	3.18	82.59	2.027	0.1603	0.000610	- 2.01	354.1	02:11:42.121	18×18	72, 11, 42, 51	S	
LAPM XC	22:09	22:29	1781.78	1765.8	-237.7	42.26	4.00	3.12	89.49	1.412	0.1085	0.000610	-2.03	354.0	02:11:42.752	éxé	42, 51	003	_
LAPM XE	22:50	23:19	1781.70	1765.7	238.0	42.26	1.82	1.27	32.52	0.7519	0.0555	0.000610	-2.02	354.0	02:11:42.819	6x6	42, 51	បូ	
LAPM YC	23:12	23:43	1784.01	1768.0	-238.7	62.17	2.07	1.22	35.00	0.8223	0.0626	0.000610	- 2.00	354.1	02:11:42.145	éxé	72, 11, 42, 51	Ü	
PRCL YB"	04:33	05:58	1778.7	1763.0	-236.2	62.18	48.14	9.12	83.05	16.80	1.163	0.000712	- 2.07	354.0	02:11:45.992	éxé	72, 11, 42, 51	C) C)	
"Orbit use	l for midc	OUTS6 COM	1 putations.													1			1
<sup>b</sup> Current b	sst estimat	te, prèmai	neuver as of	4, July 24, 19	67.														
SMAA =	<sup>z</sup> Semimai	jor axis of	f dispersion	ellipse.															
SMIA ==	Semimin	or axis of	dispersion e	allipse.															
θ, ΠΟ Ο Π	rientation	angle of	dispersion e	liipse measu	red countercl	ockwise fro	m B • TT axis.												
OT. impo	در ۱۱	certainty i	in predicted	unbraked in	spact time.														
¢    ₩¢	9% veloc	city vector	r pointing er	ror.															
SVFIXE	11 Uncert	winty in m	analtuda af	under under	desident to and	Annual La													_

Table 29. Premaneuver computations for Surveyor IV

4+ •	(		-	Ċ					Uncertai	nties $(1\sigma)$		
Orbir identifi-	Geocenti	ric space-fixed pos	ition, km	Geocentric	space-fixed ve	10¢11Y, Km/S		Position, kr	F	>	'elocity, m/s	
cation	×	>	×	хa	Dγ	DZ	σx	σγ	σz	QDX	ØDY	σ <sub>DZ</sub>
ETR	3098.4646	5358.3490	2140.6742		6.1087959	-4.3545489	0.5546	0.6189	0.3257	27.05	31.15	14.49
PROR YA	3086.5737	5361.6350	2138.8208		6.0652971	4.3562983	1.189	1.179	1.601	0.6071	0.1893	0.9458
PROR XA	3086.9832	5364.9950	2135.5580	-8.0388224	6.0603508	-4.3596912	0.7629	1.090	1.503	0.4550	1.573	0.8266
ICEV YA	3085.4966	5362.9185	2138.8048		6.0628234	-4.3572016	0.5236	1.119	1.424	0.3092	1.581	0.9961
ICEV XA	3086.1033	5364.6475	2136.6177		6.0605345	4.3592688	0.4806	0.9204	1.185	0.3115	1.323	0.7652
PREL XB	3087.0362	5367.1017	2133.5783		6.0569386	-4.3606015	0.2847	0.7651	0.8512	0.4023	1.130	0.9905
PREL YB	3087.0036	5367.0326	2133.6613		6.0570451		0.2365	0.4447	0.4271	0.4173	0.6391	1.024
DACO XB	3086.9892	5366.8527	2133.8468		6.0573190		0.2323	0.3415	0.2973	0.4139	0.4704	1.006
DACO YB	3086.7373	5366.8889	2133.8368		6.0571453	4.3600178	4.324	3.969	2.641	3.407	5.011	12.55
DACO YC	3087.0555	5366.8391	2133.8549		6.0572518	4.3599387	0.2140	0.1609	0.1229	0.3439	0.1824	0.8014
DACO XF	3086.9770	5366.9696	2133.7339		6.0571463		0.1902	0.1367	0.1259	0.3925	0.1186	0.8343
DACO XH	3086.8602	5367.0487	2133.6730		6.0570837	4.3611032	0.106694	0.08313	0.09723	0.28117	0.07207	0.51466
NOMA YA	3086.8471	5367.0578	2133,6650		6.0570775	4.3611659	0.0840	0.07003	0.08895	0.2495	0.06294	0.42122
NOMA YD	3086.8385	5367.0451	2133.6892	8.0394281	6.0570733	-4.3610587	0.0750	0.0475	0.0568	0.1588	0.0540	0.2238
NOMA YE	3086.8241	5367.0160	2133.7534		6.0570534		0.0936	0.0809	0.0976	0.3537	0.1489	0.5234
NOMA YF	3086.8311	5367.0373	2133.6971		6.0570777	-4.3610265	0.0714	0.0414	0.0515	0.1487	0.0491	0.2092
LAPM XA"	-119963.34	-120517.78	-77576.644	-0.83177353	-1.3500233	-0.56701688	0.6386	0.6618	0.6670	0.0085	0.0053	0.0095
LAPM YB	3086.8492	5367.0903	2133,6695	8.0393941	6.0570272	-4.3611099	0.1421	0.0970	0.0909	0.1806	0.1205	0.2637
LAPM XC*	-119963.21	- 120517.92	-77576.751	0.83176856	-1.3500302	-0.56701319	0.9044	0.9487	1.017	0.0211	0.0197	0.0250
LAPM XE"	-119963.16	-120517.87	-77576.768	-0.83176783	-1.3500318	0.56701197	0.6272	0.6266	0.6434	0.0084	0.0049	0.0091
LAPM YC <sup>b</sup>	3086.8478	5367.0926	2133.6705		6.0570216	4.3611047	0.0706	0.0401	0.0498	0.1513	0.0408	0.2068
PRCL YB	3086.8904	5367.0377	2133.6794		6.0570880	-4.3609970	0.1348	0.1832	0.2694	0.5559	0.1343	0.9716
a Injection ep	och is July 14, 1967	7, 12:05:6.480 GMT,	for all solutions ex	ccept for the LAPM)	KA, LAPM XC, and	LAPM XE solutions,	for which it i	s July 15, 8:0	00:5.000 GMT			
bOrbit used	for midcourse maneuv	rer computations.										
<sup>c</sup> Current best	) estimate premaneuve	er as of July 24, 1967	Į.									

Table 30. Premaneuver position and velocity at injection epoch,<sup>a</sup> Surveyor IV

Ē

Orbit		Data		Data sp	an, GMT		Number				
identifi- cation	DSS	type"	Beg 1967	ginning h:min:s	E 1967	nding h:min:s	of points	Standard deviation <sup>a</sup>	Root mean square <sup>n</sup>	Mean residual" {O ··· C}	Sample rate, s
ETR	91	Az	7/14	12:05:12	7/14	12:06:18	10	0.0126	0.0217	0.0177	6
		EI		12:05:12	1	12:06:06	9	0.0139	0.0298	- 0.0263	6
		R		12:05:12		12:06:18	9	0.00343	0.00906	0.00839	6
	77	Az		12:05:15		12:05:33	4	0.0198	0.0928	-0.0906	6
		El		12:05:15		12:05:33	4	0.123	0.446	0.428	6
		R		12:05:15		12:05:33	4	0.0487	0.111	- 0.0999	6
PROR YA	72	CC3		12:26:08		13:04:32	118	0.136	0.144	- 0.0478	10
		Az		12:16:23		13:17:02	149	0.0223	0.0292	0.0189	10
		El		12:16:23		13:17:02	154	0.0323	0.0367	0.0174	10
	51	HA		12:42:11		13:04:02	35	0.0175	0.0202	-0.0100	60
	1	Dec		12:42:11		13:04:02	35	0.00456	0.0141	-0.0133	60
		CC3		13:14:32		13:16:32	3	0.0392	0.179	-0.174	60
		HA		13:14:02		13:17:02	4	0.00102	0.00905	- 0.00900	60
		Dec		13:14:02		13:17:02	4	0.00240	0.00255	- 0.000865	60
PROR XA	72	CC3		12:26:08		13:04:32	113	0.0926	0.0944	-0.0183	10
		Az		12:26:53		13:37:02	135	0.0186	0.0386	- 0.0338	10
		EI		12:26:53		13:37:02	134	0.0239	0.0454	0.0387	10
	51	HA		12:42:11		13:04:02	152	0.0114	0.0181	0.0140	60
		Dec		12:42:11		13:04:02	152	0.0136	0.0217	- 0.0169	60
		CC3		13:14:32		13:35:32	18	0.0744	0.0744	0.00255	60
		HA		13:14:02		13:36:02	19	0.00283	0.0182	0.0180	60
		Dec		13:17:02		13:36:02	19	0.00147	0.00330	-0.00295	60
ICEV YA	72	CC3		12:26:08		13:04:32	115	0.0797	0.0801	- 0.00810	10
		Az		12:26:53		14:16:02	182	0.0177	0.0332	-0.0280	10
		EI		12:26:53		14:16:02	182	0.0227	0.0482	0.0425	10
	51	CC3		13:14:32		14:14:32	61	0.0259	0.0262	-0.00382	60
		HA		12:42:11		14:15:02	97	0.0111	0.0128	0.00641	60
		Dec		12:42:11		14:15:02	97	0.00912	0.0103	0.00479	60
ICEV XA	72	CC3		12:26:08		13:04:32	110	0.0353	0.0355	-0.00400	10
		Az		12:26:53		14:16:02	165	0.0169	0.0372	-0.0332	10
		El		12:26:53		14:16:02	164	0.0238	0.0513	0.0455	10
	51	HA		12:18:51		12:26:21	28	0.00559	0.0355	0.0351	60
		Dec		12:18:51		12:26:21	27	0.00689	0.0351	- 0.0344	60
		CC3		13:18:32		14:15:32	53	0.0293	0.0294	0.00254	60
		HA		12:26:31		14:16:02	180	0.0102	0.0195	0.0166	60
		Dec		12:26:31		14:16:02	180	0.0157	0.0189	-0.0106	60
PREL XB	72	CC3		12:26:48		13:04:32	101	0.0212	0.0212	-0.000387	10
	51			13:18:32		15:24:32	115	0.00725	0.00729	-0.000713	60
PREL YB	72			12:26:48		13:04:32	96	0.0208	0.0208	0.0000509	10
	51			13:18:32		16:13:32	164	0.00775	0.00776	-0.000408	60
DACO XB	51			13:18:32		16:59:32	199	0.0514	0.0514	-0.0000810	60
	72			12:26:48	<b>⊥</b>	13:04:32	96	0.0207	0.0207	0.000346	60
DACO YB	51		V I	12:26:48	▼	16:58:32	205	0.00788	0.00788	-0.000119	60
	61	CC3	7/14	17:03:32	7/14	17:46:32	33	0.0190	0.0190	0.000163	60
*Hour angle (H	IA), declinat	ion (dec), as	zimuth (az)	, and elevation	on (el) are	expressed in (	legrees; two-w	ay doppler (CC3),	in Hz; and range	(R), in kilometers.	

Table 31. Summary of premaneuver DSS tracking data used in orbit computations for Surveyor IV

Orbit		_		Data sp	an, GMT		Number	Standard	Root mean	Mean residual <sup>a</sup>	Sample
identifi- cation	DSS	Data type"	Beg 1967	inning h:min:s	E 1967	nding h:min:s	of points	deviation"	square <sup>n</sup>	(O - C)	rate, s
DACO YC	72	ссз	7/14	12:26:48	7/14	13:04:32	96	0.0268	0.0273	0.00545	10
	51			13:18:32	1	16:58:32	205	0.0104	0.0134	- 0.00837	60
	51			18:33:32		20:27:32	61	0.0102	0.0103	0.00183	60
	61			17:03:32		18:23:32	39	0.0135	0.0342	0.0314	60
DACO XF	72			12:26:48		13:04:32	96	0.0208	0.0208	0.00107	10
	51			13:18 32		16:58:32	205	0.00928	0.00931	0.000724	60
	51			18:33:32		22:24:32	145	0.00837	0.00843	-0.00099	60
DACO XH	11			23:38:32	1	23:57:32	20	0.00824	0.0209	0.0193	60
	51			13:18:32	<b>V</b>	16:38:32	205	0.0106	0.0108	- 0.00201	60
	51		7/14	18:33:32	7/14	23:04:32	172	0.00767	0.00771	-0.000713	60
NOMA YA	11		7/14	23:38:32	7/15	00:42:32	65	0.00958	0.0118	0.00684	60
	72		7/14	12:26:48	7/14	13:04:32	96	0.0358	0.0368	0.00838	60
	51		7/14	13:18:32	7/14	16:58:32	205	0.0108	0.0111	-0.00231	60
	51		7/14	18:33:32	7/14	23:04:32	215	0.00809	0.00809	-0.000357	60
NOMA YD	72		7/14	12:28:08	7/14	13:04:32	95	0.0308	0.0324	0.0100	10
	42		7/14	23:38:32	7/15	11:30:32	373	0.00840	0.00842	-0.000586	60
	51		7/14	13:18:32	7/14	16:58:32	205	0.0114	0.0118	-0.00301	60
	51		7/14	18:33:32	7/14	23:04:32	215	0.00860	0.00867	0.00109	60
NOMA YE	72		7/14	12:28:08	7/14	13:04:32	95	0.0262	0.0268	0.00599	10
	11		7/14	23:38:32	7/15	04 56:32	317	0.00782	0.0101	0.00644	60
	42		7/15	05:13:32	7/15	11:30:32	373	0.00707	0.0114	0.00899	60
NOMA YE	72		7/14	12:28.08	7/14	13:04:32	95	0.0316	0.0340	0.0125	10
	11		7/14	23:38:32	7/15	04:56:32	317	0.00822	0.00895	0.00354	60
	42		7/15	05:13:32	7/15	13:15:32	478	0.00786	0.00795	-0.00121	60
	51		7/14	13:18:32	7/14	16:58:32	205	0.0115	0.0126	- 0.00504	60
1	51		7/14	18:33:32	7/14	23:04:32	215	0.00839	0.00854	0.00158	60
LAPM XA	42		7/15	08:00:32	7/15	13:59:32	355	0.00700	0.00712	-0.00131	60
	51		7/15	14:15:32	7/15	19:59:32	324	0.00762	0.00787	-0.00197	60
LAPM YB	72		7/14	12:28:08	7/14	13:04:32	95	0.0292	0.0299	0.00652	10
	11		7/14	23:38:32	7/15	04:56:32	299	0.00815	0.00817	0.000523	60
	42		7/15	05:13:32	7/15	13:59:32	519	0.00689	0.00700	-0.00126	60
	51		7/14	14:00:32	7/14	16:58:32	162	0.0102	0.0103	-0.00134	60
	51	1	7/14	18:33:32	7/14	23:04:32	220	0.00910	0.00948	- 0.00265	60
	51		7/15	14:15:32	7/15	21:58:32	425	0.00881	0.00885	0.000793	60
LAPM XC	42		7/15	08:00:32	7/15	13:59:32	355	0.00719	0.00719	-0.000287	60
	51		7/15	14:15:32	7/15	21:53:32	429	0.0133	0.0133	0.000228	60
LAPM XE	42		7/15	08:00:32	7/15	13:59:32	355	0.00711	0.00711	-0.00217	60
	51		7/15	14:15:32	7/15	22:29:32	441	0.00730	0.00730	0.000117	60
LAPM YC	72		7/14	12:28:08	7/14	13:04:32	95	0.0288	0.0296	0.00707	10
	11		7/14	23:38:32	7/15	04:56:32	299	0.00805	0.00810	0.000873	60
	42		7/15	05:13:32	7/15	13:59:32	519	0.00694	0.00694	-0.000270	60
	51		7/14	14:00:32	7/14	16:58:32	162	0.0105	0.0105	0.000193	60
	51		7/14	18:33:32	7/14	23.04:32	220	0.00967	0.00997	-0.002243	60
	51		7/15	14:15:32	7/15	22:50:32	454	0.00917	0.00931	0.00158	60
PRCL YB	72		7/14	12:28:08	7/14	13:04:32	95	0.0269	0.0275	-0.00600	10
	11		7/14	23:38:32	7/15	04:56:32	299	0.00861	0.00874	0.00147	60
	11		7/15	23:41:32	7/16	02:29.59	258	0.0382	0.0386	0.00519	60
1	42		7/15	05:13:32	7/15	13:59:32	519	0.00685	0.00687	0.000425	60
	51		7/14	14:00:32	7/14	16:58:32	162	0.00991	0.00995	-0.000922	60
	51	1	7/14	18:33:32	7/14	23:04:32	220	0.00797	0.00801	-0.000801	60
	51	CC3	7/15	14:15:32	7/15	23 32:32	489	0.00748	0.00750	0.000477	60

Table 31 (contd)

al- a deferment

7



Fig. 28. Premaneuver two-way doppler residuals for Surveyor IV, trajectory not corrected for perturbations



Fig. 28 (contd)



Fig. 29. Estimated premidcourse unbraked impact point for Surveyor IV

	Tin						Target s	tatistics					Seler at	unbraked	onditions impact		Data u	Pes
Orbit	comp	-ted													GMT	Type		
identifi- cation	Start h:min	Stop h:min	e E	ka TT,	в. R, km	<u>, </u>	sMAA, km (1 <sub>0</sub> )	SMIA, km (اه)	θT' deg	07. impaot. \$ (10)	φ <sup>w,</sup>	SVFIXR, km/s (1 d)	Latitude, deg	Longi- tude, deg	h:min:s July 17, 1967	tion	SSO	Data
1 POM YC	09:20	09:34	1966.58	1945.6	- 286.5	23.58	1009.8	102.5	92.24	206.6	16.32	0.0016	-0.661	358.49	02:02:17.992	6x6	11,42	S
1 POM XE	10.37	10:37	1977.88	1947.8	- 343.5	23.59	477.3	56.69	99.56	104.3	8.317	0.00114	0.466	358.52	02:02:29.648	όxό	11, 42	
1 POM YE	10:53	11:09	1975.46	1943.5	-354.1	23.59	340.2	50.08	102.5	75.31	6.10	166000.0	0.665	358.41	02:02:31.887	φxφ	11, 42	
1 POM XF	11:50	12:05	1978.44	1949.3	-338.2	23.59	126.2	42.03	113.8	27.82	2.497	0.000738	0.365	358.56	02:02:28.432	6x6	11, 42	
2 POM XA	12:30	12:48	1677.51	1948.9	- 335.0	23.59	73.66	0.50	121.7	16.80	1.537	0.000678	0.301	358.54	02:02:27.620	6x6	11,42	
2 POM YA	13:27	13:39	1978.40	1950.2	-332.6	23.59	12.95	22.37	48.59	9.59	0.546	0.000624	0.256	358.58	02:02:26.964	óxó	11,42	
2 POM XC	13:48	14:04	1978.64	1950.3	-333.6	23.59	40.19	30.00	44.94	10.13	0.687	0.000631	0.275	358.58	02:02:27.249	6x6	11, 42	
2 POM YC	15:49	16:03	1984.08	1954.8	-339.5	23.59	13.60	9.84	111.4	3.842	0.299	0.000613	0.401	358.69	02:02:28.946	όxό	11, 42, 51	ប្ល
3 POM YA	20:53	21.07	1983.20	1953.9	- 339.5	23.59	12.26	3.41	89.29	3.361	0.202	0.000611	0.400	358.66	02:02:29.020	6x6	11, 42, 51	
3 POM YC	22:36	22:49	1982.57	1953.3	-339.4	23.59	12.21	2.78	89.92	3.353	0.202	0.000611	0.396	358.65	02:02:28.990	óxό	11, 42, 51	
3 POM XB	21:56	22:07	1982.57	1953.3	- 339.3	23.59	12.20	2.79	90.02	3.348	0.202	0.000611	0.393	358.65	02:02:28.938	6×6	11, 42, 51	
3 POM YD <sup>b</sup>	22:54	23:06	1982.15	1952.4	-341.9	23.59	05.11	2.26	87.22	3.139	0.181	0.000610	0.443	358.62	02:02:29.645	6x6	11, 42, 51	
FINAL XA	23:45	23:54	1982.10	1952.1	-343.8	57.40	10.04	1.99	85.94	2.839	0.158	0.000610	0.480	358.62	02:02:30.158	6x6	51	
FINAL XD	00:36	00;48	1981.73	1951.8	-342.8	57.40	2.95	1.27	53.68	1.246	0.034	0.000609	0.461	358.62	02:02:29.93	óxó	11,51	
FINAL YA	00:21	00:30	1981.89	1952.0	343.0	57.40	2.80	1.22	50.91	1.189	0:030	0,000609	0.464	358.62	02:02:30.024	ôxô	11,51	
FINAL XE	00:52	00:10	1981.93	1952.0	-343.0	57.40	2.72	1.20	49.66	1.153	0.029	0.000609	0.465	358.62	02:02:30.046	φxφ	11, 51	
FINAL YB	00:34	00:42	1981.85	1952.0	- 342.9	57.40	2.54	1.19	48.18	1.076	0.027	0.000609	0.463	358.62	02:02:29.996	6x6	11,51	
FINAL YC	00:45	00:55	1981.89	1952.0	- 343.0	57.40	2.09	1.18	51.16	0.8852	0.024	0.000609	0.464	358.62	02:02:30.018	φ×φ	11,51	
FINAL XH	NA°	NA	1980.93	1951.1	-342.3	57.40	1.51	0.896	83.34	0.5805	0.021	0.000609	0.450	358.60	02:02:29.593	6x6	11, 51	
FINAL YE	00:58	01:06	1981.16	1951.3	-342.5	57.40	1.48	0.816	87.76	0.5499	0.022	0.000609	0.453	358.60	02:02:29.690	6x6	11, 51	
FINAL YF	01:10	01°10	1982.91	1952.9	-343.5	57.40	1.43	0.509	96.17	0.4748	0.021	0.000609	0.477	358.64	02:02:30.397	6x6	11, 51	
POST 1 <sup>4</sup>	03:52	04:17	1982.41	1952.3	- 344.0	23.59	2.31	1.32	64.42	0.808	0.029	0.000609	0.484	358.63	02:02:30.228	6x6	11, 42, 51	ប្ល
"Minus denotes	iouth.																	
bOrbit used for	terminal ma	Ineuver comp	wtations.															
<sup>c</sup> Not available.																		
dCurrent best er	timate, post	maneuver as	of July 24, 1	967.														

Table 32. Postmaneuver computations for Surveyor IV

JPL TECHNICAL REPORT 32-1292

Orbit	Geo	centric space-i	lixed	Geo	ocentric space-fi	xed		U	ncertaintie	s (1 <b>0</b> )		
identifi-		position, km			velocity, km/s		1	Position, kr	n	Ve	locity, m	/s
carion	x	Y	Z	DX	DY	DZ	σχ	σγ	σz	$\sigma_{DX}$	σ <sub>DY</sub>	$\sigma_{DZ}$
1 POM YC	-163930.13	- 197947.25	- 107718.92	-0.54590966	-1.0145030	-0.36380790	35.85	202.4	407.5	4.266	6.149	5,288
1 POM XE	-163929.24	- 197934.88	- 107696.62	-0.54572961	- 1.0148241	-0.36348289	32.09	82.54	200.8	2.703	3.225	2.104
I POM YE	- 163930.66	- 197933.92	- 107691.66	-0.54564363	- 1.0149091	-0.36345131	30.03	55.81	144.8	2.140	2.386	1.393
1 POM XF	- 163928.77	- 197935.66	- 107699.00	-0.54576651	-1.0147841	-0.36350271	23.35	21.36	54.83	1.098	0.9932	0.4513
2 POM XA	- 163928.91	197936.62	- 107700.22	-0.54577585	- 1.0147660	-0.36352205	19.74	17.48	31.89	0.7681	0.6154	0.3397
2 POM YA	-163928.39	- 197936.99	- 107701.45	-0.54580227	- 1.0147424	0.36352693	12.80	16.74	11.72	0.3306	0.2224	0.3207
2 POM XC	-163928.39	- 197936.64	- 107701.07	-0.54579803	- 1.0147488	-0.36352155	14.35	16.92	13.97	0.4104	0.2790	0.3261
2 POM YC	- 163926.73	197933.64	- 107699.55	-0.54582115	- 1.0147636	-0.36346257	6.129	6.917	6.606	0.1797	0.1432	0.0846
З РОМ УА	163927.08	197933.78	- 107699.35	-0.54580950	- 1.0147697		4.635	6.771	5.708	0.1104	0.1116	0.0690
3 POM YC	- 163927.42	- 197933.90	- 107699.25	-0.54580488	- 1.0147729	0.36347323	4.521	6.739	5.696	0.1079	0.1111	0.6658
3 POM XB	- 163927.35	- 197933.99	- 107699.34	-0.54580350	-1.0147715	-0.36347320	4.529	6.735	5.696	0.1082	0.1112	0.6644
3 POM YD	- 163928.87	- 197932.63	-107697.82	-0.54576737	-1.0148022	-0.36346779	3.781	6.324	5.117	0.0906	0.0987	0.0650
FINAL XA	- 195243.91	-256945.42	- 127512.74	-0.47410485	-0.84318697	-0.26018892	2.210	1.708	7.431	0.0860	0.0827	0.0504
FINAL XD	- 195244.08	- 256945.46	- 127513.43	-0.47410837	-0.84318072	-0.26019648	0.5056	1.661	2.067	0.0207	0.0216	0.0315
FINAL YA	- 195244.05	- 256945.35	- 127513.28	-0.47410674	0.84318242	-0.26019540	0.4842	1.635	1.905	0.0161	0.0185	0.0314
FINAL XE	- 195244.05	- 256945.32	- 127513.24	-0.47410620	-0.84318296	-0.26019512	0.4726	1.612	1.818	0.0137	0.0170	0.0313
FINAL YB	- 195244.06	- 256945.38	- 127513.33	-0.47410725	-0.84318189	-0.26019573	0.4494	1.546	1.664	0.0106	0.0146	0.0310
FINAL YC	-195244.06	- 256945.35	127513.30	-0.47410684	-0.84318232	-0.26019547	0.3945	1.310	1.391	0.0092	0.0120	0.0290
FINAL XH	- 195244.22	- 256945.99	-127513.86	-0.47410549	-0.84317895	-0.26020567	0.3073	0.8561	1.068	0.0090	0.0104	0.0247
FINAL YE	195244.18	- 256945.84	-127513.73	-0.47410614	-0.84317958	-0.26020306	0.2981	0.8090	1.041	0.0089	0.0104	0.0242
FINAL YF	- 195243.87	- 256944.72	- 127512.88	-0.47411540	-0.84318265	-0.26018002	0.2732	0.6806	0.9840	0.0082	0.0103	0.0226
FINAL YG	195243.95	- 256944.97	127513.04	-0.47411162	-0.84318265	-0.26018649	0.2753	0.6904	0.9873	0.0083	0.0103	0.0228
POST 1	163929.68	- 197931.45	- 107696.87	-0.54574736	-1.0148227	-0.36345852	1.395	1.564	1.750	0.0174	0.0123	0.0317
	and POST L ach						ł			<b>_</b>		

Table 33. Postmaneuver position and velocity for Surveyor IV at injection epoch

All FINAL orbits are at unbraked impact minus 5 h 40 min.



Fig. 30. Estimated postmidcourse unbraked impact point for Surveyor IV

JPL TECHNICAL REPORT 32-1292

74



Fig. 31. Postmaneuver two-way doppler residuals for Surveyor IV, trajectory not corrected for perturbations



Fig. 31 (contd)

Table 34. Su	mmary of	postmaneuver DSS t	racking date	a used in orbi	t computations fo	or Surveyor IV
--------------	----------	--------------------	--------------	----------------	-------------------	----------------

				Data sp	an, GMT		Number	Standard	Root mean	Mean residual	Sample
Orbit identification	DSS	Data type	Beg 1967	jinning h:min:s	E 1967	nding h:min:s	of points	deviation, Hz	square, Hz	(O - C)	rate, s
1 POM YC	11	ссз	7/16	02:30:19	7/16	02:40:19	50	0.0498	0.0508	0.0101	10
	11			02:43:32	1	05:53:32	149	0.00662	0.00666	0.000670	60
	42			06:03:32		09:01:32	166	0.00711	0.00711	-0.0000287	60
1 POM XE	11			02:30:19		02:40:19	50	0.0498	0.0511	-0.0116	10
	11			02:43:32		05:53:32	148	0.00670	0.00672	0.000576	60
	42			06:03:32		10:13:32	235	0.00715	0.00715	0.0000291	60
I POM YE	11			02:30:19		02:40:19	49	0.0516	0.0539	0.0156	10
	11			02:43:32		05:53:32	149	0.00690	0.00699	0.00109	60
	42			06:03:32		10:34:32	256	0.00718	0.00718	0.0000057	60
1 POM XF	11			02:30:19		02:40:19	50	0.0498	0.0512	-0.0117	10
	11			02:43:32		05:53:32	148	0.00669	0.00671	0.000610	60
	42			06:03:32		11:39:32	315	0.00723	0.00723	0.0000093	60
2 POM XA	11			02:30:19		02:40:19	48	0.0507	0.0530	-0.0155	10
	11			02:43:32		05:53:32	148	0.00682	0.00689	0.00101	60
	42			06:03:32		12:18:32	353	0.00728	0.00728	0.0000145	60
2 POM YA	11			02:30:19		02:40:19	49	0.0517	0.0543	-0.0168	10
	11			02:43:32		05:53:32	149	0.00689	0.00698	0.00116	60
	42			06:03:32		14:09:32	462	0.00725	0.00725	0.00000766	60
2 POM XC	11			02:30:19		02:40:19	48	0.0508	0.0532	-0.0159	10
	11			02:43:32		05:53:32	148	0.00684	0.00690	0.000958	60
	42			06:03:32		13:39:32	428	0.00721	0.00721	- 0.0000074	60
2 POM YC	11			02:30:24		02:40:19	48	0.0509	0.0550	- 0.0208	10
	11			02:43:32		05:53:32	149	0.00668	0.00674	0.000927	60
	42			06:03:32		14:53:32	505	0.00722	0.00722	0.000220	60
	51			15:03:32		16:42:32	90	0.00754	0.00757	0.000677	60
3 POM YA	11			02:30:24		02:40:19	48	0.0508	0.0549	- 0.0208	10
	11			02:43:32		05:53:32	149	0.00669	0.00673	0.000749	60
	42			06:03:32		14:53:32	505	0.00722	0.00723	0.000369	60
	51			15:03:32		20:20 32	291	0.00731	0.00732	-0.000343	60
3 POM YC	11			02:30:24		02:40:19	48	0.0509	0.0550	0.0208	10
	11			02:43:32		05:53:32	149	0.00666	0.00668	0.000495	60
	42		1	06:03:32		14:53:32	505	0.00722	0.00723	0.000421	60
	51	CC3	7/16	15:03:32	7/16	21:39:32	352	0.00815	0.00816	0.000248	60

76

=

1

- -

Table 34 (contd)

0.4%		Data		Data sp	oan, GMT		Number	Standard	Root mean	Mean residual	1
identification	DSS	type	Beg 1967	jinning h:min:s	E 1967	nding h:min:s	of points	deviation, Hz	square, Hz	(O C), Hz	Sample rate, s
З РОМ ХВ	11	ССЗ	7/16	02:30:24	7/16	02:40:19	52	0.0590	0.0638	0.0242	10
	11			02:43:32		05:53:32	148	0.00663	0.00671	0.000985	60
	42			06:03:32		14:53:32	501	0.00726	0.00727	0.000526	60
	51			15:03:32		21:39:32	356	0.00775	0.00777	0.000453	60
3 POM YD	11			02:30:24		02:40:19	48	0.0508	0.0552	0.0216	10
	11			02:43:32		05:53:32	149	0.00708	0.00711	0.000601	60
	42			06:03:32		14:53:32	505	0.00751	0.00751	0.0000147	60
	51			15:03:32		22:38:32	418	0.00942	0.00942	0.000239	60
FINAL XA	51			20:21:32		22:06:32	80	0.00696	0.00696	0.0000641	60
FINAL XD	11			23:33:32		23:54:32	22	0.00557	0.00558	0.000139	60
	51			20:21:32	7/16	23:23:32	174	0.00738	0.00738	-0.0000182	60
FINAL YA	11			23:33:32	7/17	00:10:32	29	0.00724	0.00724	0.0000210	60
	51			20:21:32	7/16	23:23:32	171	0.00742	0.00742	0.000124	60
FINAL XE	11			23:33:32	7/17	00:13:32	32	0.00770	0.00770	0.00000381	60
	51			20:21:32	7/16	23:23:32	174	0.00736	0.00736	0.0000982	60
FINAL YB	11			23:33:32	7/17	00:22:32	41	0.00841	0.00841	0.000134	60
	51			20:21:32	7/16	23:23:32	171	0.00743	0.00743	-0.0000200	60
FINAL YC	11			23:33:32	7/17	00:37:32	56	0.00771	0.00771	0.000142	60
	51			20:21:32	7/16	23:23:32	171	0.00741	0.00741	-0.0000514	60
FINAL XH	11			23:33:32	7/17	00:58:32	72	0.00814	C.00814	0.0000559	60
	51			20:21:32	7/16	23:23:32	174	0.00735	0.00735	-0.0000379	60
FINAL YE	11			23:33:32	7/17	01:01:32	75	0.00840	0.00840	0.0000309	60
	51			20:21:32	7/16	23:23:32	171	0.00740	0.00740	0.00000428	60
FINAL YF	11			23:33:32	7/17	01:15:32	87	0.00989	0.00990	0.000281	60
	51			20:21:32	7/16	23:23:32	171	0.00744	0.00744	-0.000136	60
POST 1	11			02:30:24	7/16	02:40:19	52	0.0590	0.0647	-0.0267	10
	11			02:43:32	7/16	05:53:32	149	0.00787	0.00793	0.000957	60
	11			23:33:32	7/17	01:16:32	88	0.0105	0.0106	0.000610	60
	42	V	T T	06:03:32	7/16	14:53:32	505	0.00796	0.00796	-0.000198	60
	51	CC3	7/16	15:03:32	7/16	23:23:32	462	0.00964	0.00965	0.000420	60

Table 35. Inflight results of orbit determinationAMR backup computations for Surveyor IV

Orbit soluti	on data span	Pı	edicted sel conditio unbraked	enocentric ms at impact
From	То	Latitude, deg (minus, south)	Longi- tude, deg	GMT, h:min:s (July 17, 1967)
Midcourse <sup>®</sup>	E 5 h 40 min <sup>b</sup>	-0.400	358.666	02:02:29.020
E — 5 h 40 min	E 1 h 50 min	-0.464	358.619	02:02:30.024
E — 5 h 40 min	E — 1 h 38 min	0.463	358.618	02:02:29.996
E — 5 h 40 min	E — 1 h 23 min	-0.464	358.619	02:02:30.018
E — 5 h 40 min	E — 1 h 14 min	-0.464	358.619	02:02:30.014
E — 5 h 40 min	E — 59 min	-0.453	358.603	02:02:29.690
E — 5 h 40 min	E — 45 min	-0.477	358.641	02:02:30.397
Best estimate	e of unbraked impo	act time		02:02:31.171
*Midcourse refers mate of AMR ma <sup>b</sup> E refers to lunar	to initial postmidco rk time. encounter.	urse epoch.	Solution use	ed for initial esti-

# X. Surveyor IV Postflight Orbit Determination Analysis

#### **A. Introduction**

÷

-

ě

Ę

3

ź

\_\_\_\_\_

This section presents the best estimate of the Surveyor IV flight path and other significant results obtained from analysis of the DSIF tracking data. The analysis verified that both the premaneuver and postmaneuver inflight orbit solutions were within the Surveyor Project orbit determination accuracy requirements. The inflight philosophy of estimating only a minimum parameter set (i.e., the 6 components of the spacecraft position and velocity vectors) for the orbital computations was again proved valid.

For the postflight orbital computations and analysis, only two-way doppler data were used. Column I of Table 28 summarizes the data used for the premaneuver orbit computation in the postflight analysis. A comparison between columns D (amount of data used inflight) and I of Table 28 shows that, in general, fewer two-way doppler data points were used for the postflight computations. This was the result of removing some noisy DSS 61 data caused by the counter problem and rejecting some suspected bad data points. Column I of Table 28 summarizes the data used for postmaneuver orbit computations in postflight analysis. Once again the amount of data used for postflight computations was smaller than the amount of data used for inflight computation. The major difference is the rejection of data obtained at elevation angles below 17 deg.

#### **B.** Premaneuver Orbit Estimate

All the known bad data points were removed in the orbit data generator program (ODG) before the start of the postflight analysis. However, further analysis revealed that additional data, not previously suspected, were bad. This included the 60-s sample rate data from DSS 72 shortly after acquisition and some 10-s sample rate data from DSS 11 just before midcourse maneuver. When included in the fit with data from DSS 11, 42, and 51, the 60-s data from DSS 72 were not consistent. They showed a bias of approximately 0.04 Hz. An attempt to compensate for this bias by estimating the station location parameters (radius, latitude, longitude) failed to improve the fit significantly, so these data were eliminated from the final best-estimate orbit solution. The 10-s data from DSS 11 taken just before the midcourse motor burn were eliminated because of perturbations caused by spacecraft orientation (yaw and roll) maneuvers. Data below 17 deg elevation were also eliminated.

Because of the large amount of premidcourse data (38 h) available from Surveyor IV, it was difficult to fit the premidcourse data as well as on previous missions. An orbit solution based on estimating only the standard 6 parameters (position and velocity) with DSS 11, 42, 51, and 72 data was obtained and mapped forward to the target. The residual plots indicated a rather poor fit, but the parameters resulting when the solution was mapped to target were consistent with inflight results. Several runs made to check the consistency of data between stations showed that the data were fairly consistent. In an attempt to remove the remaining perturbations in the data, an orbit solution was computed estimating the station location parameters (radius, latitude, longitude). Although this improved the fit, it was still not as good as desired. At this point it became apparent that long spans of data (greater than 20 h) are difficult to fit with the customary " $\mathbf{6} \times \mathbf{6}$ " or " $\mathbf{6} \times \mathbf{6}$  plus station locations" type orbit solution. It was decided to expand the list of estimated parameters to include estimates of acceleration due to nongravitational forces<sup>11</sup> such as solar radiation pressure, uncancelled attitude jet forces, etc. The resulting  $17 \times 17$ solution significantly improved the data fit and gave results reasonably consistent with the inflight solution. The 17 parameters estimated included position and velocity (6), geocentric radius, and longitude of DSS 11, 42, 51 and 72 (8), and the accelerations due to nongravitational forces (3). All estimated station-location parameters were within 3 m of nominal values. The accelerations estimated<sup>11</sup> are as follows:

$$f_1 = 0.42 \times 10^{-9} \text{ km/s}^2$$

$$f_2 = 0.31 \times 10^{-9} \text{ km/s}^2$$

$$f_3 = -0.42 \times 10^{-9} \text{ km/s}^2$$

$$[\Delta \mathbf{\ddot{r}}] = 0.52 \times 10^{-9} \text{ km/s}^2$$

The  $17 \times 17$  solution is considered the best estimate of the spacecraft premaneuver orbit. The uncorrected unbraked impact point predicted by this solution (latitude =  $2.067^{\circ}$ S, longitude =  $353.943^{\circ}$ E) is approximately 2.7 deg south and 5.5 deg west of the prelaunch unbraked aiming point. This is approximately equal to 81 km and 165 km, respectively. Other numerical values from this solution are presented in Table 36 and the number of data points, together with data noise statistics, are given in Table 37. A graphic comparison between the predicted unbraked impact points (in the **B**-plane) of this solution and the inflight solutions may be seen in Fig. 29. The residual plots are presented in Fig. 32.

<sup>&</sup>quot;See Section II.A for explanation of the model used to estimate these accelerations.

Parameter	Premidcourse	Postmidcourse
Epoch, GMT	12:05:06.480	02:30:10.461
	(7/14/67)	(7/16/67)
Geocentric position and		
velocity at epoch		
X, km	3086.8998 ±0.1573 (1 σ)	- 163926.88 ± 4.92
Y, km	5367.0501 ±0.1543	$-197932.47 \pm 5.08$
Z, km	2133.6768 ± 0.2245	$-107696.98 \pm 9.20$
DX, km/s	$-8.0394010 \pm 0.0005463$	-0.54579016 ± 0.0000800
DY, km/s	6.0570800 ± 0.0000717	-1.0147810 ±0.0000767
DZ, km/s	$-4.3610388 \pm 0.0008395$	-0.36347278 ± 0.0000993
Target statistics		
Bl, km	1778.1800	1983.7764
B•T7, km	1762.4350	1954.3440
B∙RT, km	-236.1143	340.46074
SMAA, km	10.0	7.0
SMIA, km	2.0	5.0
θ <sub>T</sub> , deg	34.71	77.47
𝕶𝔽, impact \$	2.66	0.500
φ <sub>₩</sub> , deg	0.222126	0.154230
SVFIXR, m/s	0.610626	0.610880
Latitude, deg	- 2.0674965	358.69741
Longitude, deg	353.94333	0.42522965
Unbraked impact, GMT	02:11:44.824	02:02:31.171
	(July 17, 1967)	(July 17, 1967)

Table 36. Summary of postflight orbit parameters, Surveyor IV

Table 37. Summary of data used in postflight orbit solutions, Surveyor IV

		Time da	la, GMT <sup>a</sup>			<b>Standard</b>		
DSS	Beg	linning	E	nding	Number of	deviation,	square,	(O — C),
	1967	h:min:s	1967	h:min:s		Hz	Hz	Hz
				Premidco	Jrse		<b>.</b>	<b>_</b>
72	7/14	12:28:08	7/14	12:44:48	75	0.0253	0.0257	0.00445 <sup>b</sup>
11	7/14	23:38:32	7/15	04:56:32	245	0.00730	0.00740	0.00118
11	7/15	23:41:32	7/16	02:09:32	89	0.00771	0.00837	-0.00325
42	7/15	05:13:32	7/15	13:59:32	519	0.00773	0.00809	-0.00241
51	7/14	14:00:32	7/14	16:58:32	162	0.0104	0.0106	0.00209
51	7/14	18:33:32	7/14	23:04:32	196	0.00784	0.00791	0.00105
51	7/15	14:15:32	7/15	23:32:32	476	0.00757	0.00786	0.00211
				Postmidco	urse		•	
11	7/16	02:30:39	7/16	02:40:19	47	0.0520	0.0539	-0.0140 <sup>b</sup>
11	7/16	02:43:32	7/16	05:53:32	149	0.00670	0.00676	0.00945
11	7/16	23:33:32	7/17	01:16:32	88	0.00801	0.00801	0.000233
42	7/16	06:03:32	7/16	14:53:32	505	0.00722	0.00723	0.000145
51	7/16	15:03:32	7/16	23:23:32	462	0.00727	0.00727	0.00000106



Fig. 32. Premaneuver two-way doppler residuals for Surveyor IV, trajectory corrected for perturbations

80

----



C. Postmaneuver Orbit Estimate

Before the analysis of the postmaneuver tracking data was started, all known or suspected bad data points were removed. The objective of the analysis in this section was to obtain an orbit solution based on processing all postmaneuver tracking data in one block. This differed from the inflight computations which required that the data be processed in two blocks in order to meet the AMR backup requirements. A  $6 \times 6$  orbit solution based on all postmaneuver data was obtained and mapped forward to target. Examination of residual plots indicated a very poor fit. The predicted unbraked impact location from this solution was in very good agreement with the inflight results, but the impact time was approximately 1.079 s earlier than the observed time, indicating that the lunar radius of 1736.8 km at the impact location, which was based on *Lunar Orbiter* data, might be in error. It was therefore decided to try a radius of 1735.7 km, which was obtained by subtracting 2.4 km from the elevation shown on the ACIC charts. The 2.4 km is the amount by which the ACIC elevations exceed those obtained from *Rangers VI*, *VII*, and *VIII* tracking data. Furthermore, it was discovered that an incorrect DSS 11 station frequency had been used in the above solution and inflight. Correcting this frequency input and using the 1735.7 km lunar radius yielded an improved  $6 \times 6$  solution with an impact time only 0.595 s earlier than the observed time.



Fig. 33. Postmaneuver two-way doppler residuals for Surveyor IV, trajectory corrected for perturbations

JPL TECHNICAL REPORT 32-1292

82

-



Fig. 33 (contd)

A number of  $6 \times 6$  orbit computations were made with various combinations of data from three stations. A comparison of the results showed that all data were consistent. An attempt was made to improve the fit by expanding the set of estimated parameters from 6 to 18 to include the station location parameters of the four stations. Examination of the residual plots from this  $18 \times 18$  solution still indicates a poor fit, although the predicted target parameters did agree with previous results. A total of 25 orbit solutions was computed by estimating various combinations of physical constants and trajectory perturbations.

A number of orbital computations were made using the MOD II ODP in an attempt to improve the data fit by solving for nongravitational trajectory perturbations and thereby provide a refined estimate of the postmaneuver orbit. The formulation referred to in this paragraph is discussed in Section II.A. The coefficients of the time polynomial  $(\alpha_1, \alpha_2)$  were estimated for two cases, but the data fit was not improved. For most cases the solar radiation coefficients  $(G_R, G_r, G_s)$  were not estimated. In such computations, where the  $\alpha$ 's and G's were not estimated, Eq. (1) was reduced to simply

$$\Delta \mathbf{\ddot{r}} = f_1 \mathbf{U} + f_2 \mathbf{T} + f_3 \mathbf{N}$$
 (2)

An  $18 \times 18$  orbit solution, using all postmaneuver data, was obtained and mapped to target. This geocentric solution was based on estimating the standard 6 parameters, the station location parameters (radius, latitude, longitude) for the three stations, and the three accelerations  $(f_1, f_2 \text{ and } f_3)$  for the entire trajectory. Examination of the doppler residual plots (Fig. 33) indicated that the fit had been significantly improved. Also, the predicted unbraked impact point agreed very well with the inflight results, and the predicted impact time agreed with the observed time to within 0.136 s. Table 38 presents a comparison of the inflight and postflight determination of unbraked impact time. The  $18 \times 18$  orbit solution using all postmaneuver data is considered to be the current best estimate of the Surveyor IV postmaneuver orbit.

The following are the nongravitational acceleration perturbations estimated in the  $18 \times 18$  solution:

$f_1 = 0.94  imes 10^{-10}  { m km/s^2}$
$f_2 = 0.11  imes 10^{-9}  { m km/s^2}$
$f_3 = 0.23  imes 10^{-9}  { m km/s^2}$
$[\Delta \ddot{\mathbf{r}}] \simeq 0.272 \times 10^{-9}  \mathrm{km/s^2}$

## Table 38. Comparisons of inflight and postflight AMR backup computations for Surveyor IV

Orbit solutio	on data span	Unbraked in	npact, GMT	Differ-
From	Το	Inflight computa- tions h:min:s	Postflight computa- tions" h:min:s	ence be- tween solu- tions, s
Midcourse <sup>b</sup>	E — 5 h 40 min	02:02:29.020	02:02:29.495	0.475
E 5 h 40 min	E — 1 h 50 min	02:02:30.024	02:02:30.500	0.476
E — 5 h 40 min	E — 1 h 38 min	02:02:29.996	02:02:30.462	0.466
E — 5 h 40 min	E — 1 h 23 min	02:02:30.018	02:02:30.484	0.466
E 5 h 40 min	E — 1 h 14 min	02:02:30.014	02:02:30.470	0.456
E — 5 h 40 min	E 59 min	02:02:29.690°	02:02:30.698	1.008
E — 5 h 40 min	E — 45 min	02:02:30.397	02:02:30.967	0.570
<sup>a</sup> With corrected D	ISS II frequency and	lunar radius.		

<sup>h</sup>Postmidcourse epoch at end of motor burn.

"Bad run because of computer problems encountered.

These results indicate that some perturbations did exist in the postmaneuver trajectory and that their effect can be accounted for by solving nongravitational acceleration perturbations. The causes of these perturbations in the acceleration are still being investigated. However, the solar radiation pressure, uncancelled velocity increment from normal operations of the attitude control system, possible attitude jet misalignment, and possible gas and propellant leaks could be some of the causes for the perturbations. Even though these trajectory perturbations were not accounted for during inflight computations, the orbit determination requirements were met. Numerical values from the best estimate  $18 \times 18$  postmaneuver orbit solutions are presented in Table 36. The amount of data used in this solution, together with the associated noise statistics, is shown in Table 37. From this current best estimate, and the assumption of a nominal landing sequence, the Surveyor IV spacecraft is estimated to be at  $358.450^{\circ}$ E lon and  $0.373^{\circ}$ N lat. This is  $0.044 \deg (\approx 1.3 \text{ km})$ south and 0.217 deg ( $\approx$ 6.5 km) west of the final soft landing aim point.

## D. Evaluation of Midcourse Maneuver from DSIF Tracking Data

The Surveyor IV midcourse maneuver can be evaluated by examining the velocity change at the midcourse epoch and by comparing the maneuver aim point with the target parameters from the best-estimate postmidcourse orbit solution.

NUMBER OF STREET STREET

÷

the statistic distribution of the second state

Inc. Inc.
Current best		Current best	Observed velocity		Total mane	uver errors
estimate of premaneuver velocity, m/s	Inflight" estimate of premaneuver velocity, m/s	estimate of postmaneuver velocity at midcourse epoch, <sup>b</sup> m/s	change due to maneuver (best post—best pre), m/s	Commanded" maneuver velocity change, m/s	Execution errors (observed change —commanded change), m/s	OD errors (best pre-inflight), m/s
DX = -535.8995	-535.9417	- 545.7902	$\Delta DX = -9.8907$	-9.9447	0.0540	0.0422
DY = -1014.3888	- 1014.3666		$\Delta \mathrm{DY} = -0.3922$	-0.3421	-0.0501	-0.0222
DZ = -366.0315	- 366.0038	- 363.4728	$\Delta DZ = 2.5587$	2.5494	0.0093	-0.0277
Note All velocity componen "Based on inflight prema "Baild course epoch $\simeq$ end	ts are given in geocentric sneuver orbit solution (LA d of reorientation after m	space-fixed Cartesian coo PM YC) used for midcourse otar burn, July 16, 1967, (	rdinates. maneuver computations. 02:30:10.461 GMT.	<b>-</b>	4	

Table 39. Midcourse maneuver evaluated at midcourse epoch, Surveyor IV

The observed change in velocity owing to midcourse thrust is determined by differencing the velocity components of best-estimate orbit solutions taken from postmaneuver data only and premaneuver data only. These solutions are independent; i.e., a priori information from premaneuver data is not used during the processing of postmaneuver data. The estimated maneuver execution errors, at midcourse epoch, are determined by differencing the observed velocity changes and the commanded maneuver velocity increments. The remaining major contribution to the total maneuver error is made by the orbit determination process. This error source includes ODP computational and model errors, and errors in tracking data. These errors may be obtained by differencing the velocity components, at midcourse epoch, of the bestestimate premaneuver orbit and the inflight orbit solution used for the maneuver computations. Numerical results of this part of the evaluation are presented in Table 39 in which it can be seen that the execution errors in DX, DY and DZ were only +0.0540 m/s, -0.0501 m/s, and +0.0093 m/s, respectively. The OD errors are also very small. The total maneuver errors for Surveyor IV were well within specifications.

A more meaningful evaluation can be made by examining certain critical target parameters. Since the primary objective of the midcourse maneuver is to achieve lunar encounter at the selected landing site, the maneuver unbraked aim point is used as the basic reference for this evaluation. The unbraked aim point for *Surveyor IV* was  $0.469^{\circ}N$  lat and  $358.914^{\circ}E$  lon. To achieve landing at the desired site, trajectory corrections were based on the predicted unbraked impact point from the best estimate inflight orbit solution (LAPM YC). To evaluate the total maneuver error at the target, the maneuver aim point is compared with the predicted unbraked impact point from the current best-estimate postmaneuver orbit solution. Orbit determination errors can be obtained by differencing the unbraked target parameters of the current bestestimate premaneuver orbit solution and the inflight orbit solution used for maneuver computations. Execution errors, consisting of both attitude maneuver errors and engine system errors, are then determined by differencing the total and the orbit determination errors. Numerical results of these computations, presented in Table 40, show that encounter was achieved within 0.044 deg south and 0.217 deg west of the desired aiming point. These differences in latitude and longitude are roughly equivalent to 1.32 km and 6.51 km, respectively, on the lunar surface. The OD **B**-space position errors ( $\Delta \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{TT} =$ -5.0 km,  $\Delta \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{RT} = 2.5$  km) are well within the expected

Table 40. Lunar unbraked impact points, Surveyor IV

Source		Latitude, de (minus, sout	ig Longi h) (	itude, <b>deg</b> least)
Best estimate of pre	emidcourse	- 2.067	3:	53.943
Inflight premidcour: (LAPM YC)	se orbit	2.005	3	54.070
Best estimate of po midcourse	ist-	0.425	35	58.697
Maneuver unbraked	aim point	0.469	35	58.914
Estimated midca	ourse errors n	napped to unb	oraked impact	point
	Δ1	.atitude Δ Lor		gitude
Source	deg (minus, south)	≈km	deg (minus, west)	≈km
OD errors"	-0.062	- 1.86	-0.127	- 3.81
Maneuver error <sup>b</sup>	0.018	0.54	-0.090	- 2.70
Overall errors <sup>®</sup>	-0.044	-1.32	-0.217	-6.51
<sup>a</sup> Orbit determination er for maneuver computat <sup>b</sup> Maneuver errors: Overc	rors: Current L tions {LAPM YC all errors minus	oest premaneuve }. OD errors.	r estimate minu	s orbit used
<b>Coverall errors: Current</b>	best postmane	uver estimate mi	nus aiming poin	t.

DSS	Data source	Distance off spin axis r, , km	r, Standard deviation (10), m	Geocentric Iongitude, deg	Longi- tude standard deviation (10), m	Geocentric radius, deg	Geocentric latitude, * deg
	Mariner II	5206.3357	3.9	243.15058	8.8	6372.0044	35.208035
	Mariner IV. cruise	404	10.0	067	20.0	.0188	08144
	Mariner IV, postencounter	378	37.0	072	40.0	.0161	08151
	Pioneer VI, Dec. 1965-June 1966	359	9.6	092	10.3	.0286	08030
	Goddard Land Survey, Aug. 1966	718	29.0	094	35.0	.0640	08230
	Surveyor L. post-touchdown	276	2.9	085	23.8	.6446	16317
	Surveyor L inflight	417	49.3	125	46.0	.0240	08192
	Surveyor III. inflight	431	22.1	086	45.0	.0258	08192
	Surveyor IV, inflight	326	41.1	097	49.0	.0129	08192
42	Mariner IV, cruise	5205.3478	10.0	148.98136	20.0	6371.6882	- 35.219410
	Mariner IV. postencounter	.3480	28.0	134	29.0	.6824	19333
	Pioneer VI, Dec. 1965-June 1966	.3384	5.0	151	8.1	.6932	19620
	Goddard Land Survey, Aug. 1966	.2740	52.0	000	61.0	.7030	20750
	Surveyor L. post-touchdown	.3474	3.5	130	22.1	.6651	19123
	Surveyor 1, inflight, postmidcourse only	74	29.2	161	41.0	.6845	19372
	Surveyor III, inflight	74	25.3	156	42.0	.6847	19372
	Surveyor IV, inflight	87	34.8	161	49.0	.6861	19372
51	Combined Rangers, LE-3 <sup>b</sup>	5742.9315	8.5	27.68572	22.2	6375.5072	- 25.739169
•	Ranger VI. LE-3	203	19.7	572	69.3	.4972	9215
	Ronger VII. LE-3	211	25.5	583	61.3	.4950	9157
	Ronger VIII 1E-3	372	22.3	548	85.0	.5130	9159
	Ranger IX IE-3	626	56.6	580	49.5	322	8993
	Mariner IV cruise	363	10.0	540	20.0	120	9148
	Mariner IV, costencounter	365	40.0	557	38.0	143	9198
	Pioneer VI. Dec. 1965-June 1966	332	11.6	569	12.0	094	9176
	Goddard Land Survey, Aug. 1966	706	39.0	586	43.0	410	8990
	Surveyor L inflight	382	33.9	572	41.2	146	9169
	Surveyor III. inflight	347	32.7	570	45.0	108	9169
	Surveyor IV, inflight	337	39.3	575	46.8	096	9169

# Table 41. Station locations and statistics, Surveyor IV (referenced to 1903.0 pole)

.

į

accuracy.<sup>12</sup> In general, the accuracy of the Surveyor IV midcourse maneuver is well within the Surveyor Project specifications. These results cannot be used to precisely evaluate the Centaur injection accuracy since the inflight aim point was not exactly the same as the prelaunch aim point.

#### E. Estimated Tracking Station Locations and Physical Constants

1. Introduction. Computations were made to determine the best estimate of  $GM_{earth}$ ,  $GM_{moon}$  and station location parameters for Surveyor IV mission. The parameters estimated in these computations were the spacecraft position and velocity at an epoch;  $GM_{earth}$ ;  $GM_{moon}$ ; spacecraft acceleration perturbations  $f_1$ ,  $f_2$  and  $f_3$ ; the solar radiation constant G; and two components (geocentric radius and longitude) of station locations for each of DSS 11, 42, 51 and 61. These solutions were computed using only the two-way doppler data from stations 11, 42, 51 and 61 for both the premidcourse and postmidcourse phases. In an effort to obtain the best estimate of the parameters to be solved for, the premidcourse data block was combined with the postmidcourse data block. The procedure of combining the two data blocks is to fit only the premidcourse data, accumulate the normal equations at the injection epoch, and map the converged estimate to the midcourse epoch with a linear mapping of the inverted normal equation matrix (i.e., covariance matrix). The estimate is then incremented with the best estimate of the maneuver, and the mapped covariance matrix is corrupted in the velocity increment and used as a priori for the postmidcourse data fit. The ephemeris used in the reduction was the JPL DE-19 with the updated mass ratios and Eckert's corrections.

2. Results. The results of these computations are presented in Table 41 in an unnatural station coordinate system (geocentric radius, latitude and longitude) and in a natural coordinate system  $(r_s, \lambda, Z)$  where  $r_s$  is the distance off the spin axis (in the station meridian),  $\lambda$  is the longitude, and Z is a line along the earth spin axis (see Fig. 16).

The numerical results indicate that the value obtained for  $r_s$  for DSS 11 is a few meters smaller than most of the previous solutions listed. All other station location parameters estimated are consistent with previous solutions. As with *Surveyors I* and *III*, the improved values<sup>13</sup> of DSS indices of refraction were used in the solution. The new indices improved the data fit for all stations which took low elevation data. Previous to the availability of new indices, a value of 340 was used for all Deep Space Stations.

The Surveyor I solution for longitude of DSS 42 is higher than previous solutions. However, the Surveyor IV solution is consistent with this and all the other Surveyor solutions which have been computed in postflight analysis of the tracking data. Therefore, the estimate for DSS 42 longitude is considered a good one. All other station locations estimated for Surveyor IV are within the range of the previous solutions listed. The statistics obtained with the station locations are higher than those of most other missions because larger effective data weights were used for Surveyor missions and the amount of data available is generally smaller.

Tc	ıble	42.	Phy	/sical	constants	and	statistics.	Surve	vor IV
			1						,

Data source	GM <sub>carth</sub> , km <sup>3</sup> /s <sup>2</sup>	Standard deviation (1 \sigma), km <sup>3</sup> /s <sup>2</sup>	GM <sub>moon</sub> , km <sup>3</sup> /s <sup>2</sup>	Standard deviation (1 \sigma), km <sup>3</sup> /s <sup>2</sup>
Lunar Orbiter II (doppler)	398600.88	2.14	4902.6605	0.29
Lunar Orbiter II (doppler and range)	398600.37	0.68	4902.7562	0.13
Combined Rangers	398601.22	0.37	4902.6309	0.074
Ranger VI	398600.69	1.13	4902.6576	0.185
Ranger VII	398601.34	1.55	<b>4902.537</b> 1	0.167
Ranger VIII	398601.14	0.72	<b>49</b> 02.6304	0.119
Ranger IX	398601.42	0.60	<b>49</b> 02.7073	0.299
Surveyor 1	398600.62	0.63	4902.6529	0.236
Surveyor III	398600.78	0.72	4902.7102	0.230
Surveyor IV	398601.19	0.99	4902.6297	0.247

The  $GM_{earth}$  and  $GM_{moon}$  estimates for Surveyor IV are given in Table 42 along with previous solutions. The value for  $GM_{earth}$  is consistent with the combined Ranger solutions. It is also within the range of individual Ranger solutions. The value obtained for  $GM_{moon}$  is consistent when compared with the other solutions, being slightly lower than previous Surveyors. It is within the value plus 1  $\sigma$  of the combined solutions for Ranger. The correlation matrix on postmaneuver data with premaneuver data as a priori is given in Table 43.

3. Conclusion. The  $GM_{earth}$  and  $GM_{moon}$  estimates were well within the standard deviation  $(1 \sigma)$  of the combined *Ranger* estimates, but differ slightly from estimates of *Surveyors I* and *III*. The station location parameters are

<sup>&</sup>quot;See Ref. 8 for expected accuracy of orbit determination.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Indices of refraction obtained from A. S. Liu, JPL: DSS 11 = 240, DSS 42 = 310, DSS 51 = 240.

Table 43. Correlation matrix of estimated parameters, Surveyor IV (solution on postmaneuver data with premaneuver data as a priori at maneuver epoch)

rd deviation	×	۲	z	XQ	Ъ	ZQ	GMearth	ი	GM	5	4	f,	<b>R</b> 11	Lonii	R.:	Lona	<b>R</b> 31	Lonai
2.32	1.000	0.375	-0.287	-0.770	0.651	0.299	0.107	0.000	0.052	0.592	0.308	0.286	0.141	0.293	0.151	0.349	0.152	0.512
2.60		- 1.000	-0.707	0.093	0.080	-0.108	0.021	0.000	110.0	-0.149	-0.023	-0.121	0.579	0.661	0.717	0.679	0.741	-0.672
4.52			- 1.000	0.532	-0.520	160.0	-0.012	0.000	0.081	-0.410	-0.191	-0.229	-0.814	0.492	-0.914	0.383	-0.860	0.373
0.088				- 1.000	-0.796	-0.442	0.035	0.000	0.234	-0.947	0.558	0.405	-0.420	-0.037	-0.413	-0.148	-0.318	-0.250
0.062					- 1.000	-0.188		0.000	-0.159	0.749	0.017	0.727	-0.422	-0.154	0.417	0.152	0.298	0.038
0.079		,			ŗ	- 1.000	0.033	0.000	-0.158	0.435	0.871	0.403	0.013	0.370	-0.013	0.102	0.006	0.418
0.99							1.000	0.000	0.003	0.001	0.027	EE0'0-	0.051	0.036	0.021	0.003	-0.010	-0.023
0.10								- 1.000	0.000	- 0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
0.247									1.000	-0.334	660'0-	-0.221	0,104	0.048	0110	0.073	0.071	0.050
0.17 × 10 <sup>-1</sup>										1.000	0.507	0.517	0.344	0.076	0.302	0.224	0.143	0.255
0.14 × 10-*											1.000	-0.473	0.219	111.0	0.183	-0.110	0.224	0.167
0.19 × 10 <sup>-1</sup>												1.000	0.127	0.027	0,131	0,343	-0.082	0.106
0:050													- 1.000	-0.419	0.732	-0.359	0.672	-0.440
0.00049														- 1.000	- 0.531	0.854	-0.521	0.897
0.043															000'1	0.457	0.875	-0.418
0.00049																1.000	-0.531	0.859
0.044																	- 1.000	-0.444
0.00047																		000.1
DX	GMr	1	4 V		G (solar re	idiation co	efficient), uni	tless										
DZ ZD	GM	т., <mark>к</mark> та/,	2 - E 12	km/s"	lon, deg R, km													

----

The annual of the

in good agreement with the Ranger, Mariner, Lunar Orbiter, and Pioneer missions. The results of successive Surveyor estimates will be presented in their associated flight path reports. For Surveyor III estimates, see Section VI.E.

## XI. Observations and Conclusions from Surveyor IV

#### A. Tracking Data Evaluation

The most serious loss of two-way doppler data during the Surveyor IV mission occurred during the first pass at DSS 61. DSS 61 began taking two-way doppler data at 17:03:02 GMT on July 14, and approximately 20 min later the results of the data monitor program indicated excessive noise in the DSS 61 doppler data. The problem was traced to a dropped 8-bit in the least significant digit of the doppler counter. A transfer to DSS 51 could not be effected until 18:30:00 on July 14, at which time DSS 51 reacquired good two-way doppler data. This problem at DSS 61, which resulted in the loss of approximately 1½ h of two-way doppler, almost parallels the problem which occurred during the first pass of DSS 61 on the Surveyor III mission. Minor losses of data occurred during the initial acquisition at DSS 72, when a loss of the uplink was responsible for a 10-min loss of prime early data, and during the second pass at DSS 11, when an intermittent loss of the most significant digit of the doppler counter accounted for a 30-min loss of data. The effect from these data losses on the mission was negligible.

1. Premidcourse phase angular tracking. Because doppler data yield far greater accuracy in the determination of a spacecraft orbit than angle data do, they are used almost exclusively in the orbit determination process. The one exception is during the launch phase, when little doppler data are available and a quick determination of the orbit necessitates the use of both doppler and angle data. During the Surveyor IV mission, angle data from DSS 72 and DSS 51 were used in the orbit determination program during the premidcourse phase of the mission. To improve the quality of the angle data to be used in the orbit determination program, they are first corrected for antenna optical pointing error as discussed in Section II.B.

Since DSS 72 was the initial acquisition station, the angle data taken by it was the most important angle data for use in the early orbits. These data, when fitted through the final postflight orbit, show a bias of +0.046 deg in azimuth and +0.097 deg in elevation, and a standard

deviation of 0.210 deg. Considering these biases and the high noise level, the DSS 72 angle data are poor. The quality of these angle data match that of the very poor angle data taken by DSS 72 during its first pass of *Surveyor III*, in contrast to the better angle data taken by DSS 72 on the *Atlas-Centaur* 9 and *Surveyor II* missions. First-pass angle data from DSS 51, when fitted through the final postflight orbit, shows biases of  $\pm 0.028$ deg in hour angle and  $\pm 0.018$  deg in declination. These values correlate well with past experience on *Surveyor* missions. For instance, the DSS 51 hour angle and declination biases averaged over *Atlas-Centaur* 9, *Surveyor II*, and *Surveyor III* were  $\pm 0.028$  deg and  $\pm 0.020$  deg, respectively.

**2.** Doppler tracking. The first prime station to see the spacecraft after injection, DSS 72, began taking good two-way, 10-s-count doppler data at 12:16:23 GMT on July 14, 1967. However, two-way lock was lost at 12:17:03 and was not recovered until 12:25:54. At this time DSS 72 resumed taking good 10-s-count two-way doppler data. The sample rate was changed to 60 s at 12:45:02 and two-way tracking was transferred to DSS 51 at 13:11:02. These early data from DSS 72 were quite acceptable, showing a standard deviation of 0.026 Hz. Results of the midcourse maneuver burn can be seen in the DSS 11 two-way doppler data shown in Fig. 34.

All post-midcourse orbit computations used only twoway doppler from the prime stations DSS 11, DSS 42, and DSS 51. Very good two-way doppler data were obtained throughout the postmidcourse phase without exception. The doppler data from all stations indicated a standard deviation of 0.007 Hz during this period, and any biases in the data were minuscule. Results of the retroengine burn as seen in the one-way doppler data over DSS 11 are presented in Fig. 35.

#### **B.** Comparison of Inflight and Postflight Results

The orbit determination inflight results can be evaluated by comparing them with the results obtained from the postflight computations. The degree to which these results agree is primarily influenced by the success attained in detecting and eliminating bad or questionable tracking data from the inflight computations, and accounting for all trajectory perturbations. Of these, the largest variations are usually caused by bad or questionable data resulting from equipment malfunctions, incorrect time information, or incorrect frequency information. Other than obvious blunder points, these data are not easily detected. Having data from more than two stations is necessary to isolate bad data.



Fig. 34. Midcourse maneuver doppler for Surveyor IV

The most meaningful comparison between inflight and postflight orbit determination results can be made by examining the critical target parameters—the unbraked impact time and impact location. These results, summarized in Table 44, show that the inflight premaneuver impact point was in error by 0.07 deg in latitude and 0.13 deg in longitude. This is well within the uncertainty associated with the inflight estimate. The inflight postmaneuver impact point associated with the orbit solution (3 POM YD) used for the terminal attitude maneuver

	Estimated un loca	oraked impact ition	Uncertainty (1	about estimated i $\sigma$ dispersion ellip	mpact point se)	Estimated	Uncertainty in estimated
Source	Latitude, deg (minus, south)	Longitude, deg	SMAA, km	SMIA, km	θ <sub>τ</sub> , deg	time, GMT h:min:s	impact time (1 σ), s
Premaneuver							
(uncorrected)							
Inflight OD	- 2.00	354.07	10.0	2.0	35.00	02:11:42.145	2.66
Postflight OD	- 2.07	353.94	10.0	2.0	34.71	02:11:44.824	2.66
Postmaneuver (transit)							
Inflight OD	0.44	358.63	7.0	5.0	87.22	02:02:29.645	0.500
Postflight OD	0.43	358.70	7.0	5.0	77.47	02:02:31.171	0.500
Observed unbraked impact	_	_	-	-	_	02:02:31.267	0.050

Table 44. Summary of target impact parameters, Surveyor IV



Fig. 35. Main retromotor burn phase doppler for Surveyor IV

computations was in error by 0.018 deg in latitude and 0.068 deg in longitude. These errors are also within the stated uncertainties associated with the inflight estimates. The inflight predicted unbraked impact time used to provide the AMR backup was in error by 0.774 s which was within  $2-\sigma$  uncertainty of 1.000 s. Part of this error was caused by an incorrect input of DSS 11 station frequency and part was caused by an incorrect input of lunar elevation as discussed in Section X. C. Had the correct frequency and lunar elevation been used, this error would have been reduced to 0.340 s.

Since no posttouchdown data are available from *Surveyor IV*, no independent estimates of impact location can be based on posttouchdown tracking data or photo correlation with *Lunar Orbiter*. The *observed* unbraked impact time and impact time predicted by the current best postmaneuver orbit solution (based on a lunar elevation of 1735.7 km) differ by only 0.136 s.

The following conclusions may be made from the results of the comparison between inflight and postflight results: (1) the premaneuver guaranteed OD accuracies were met; (2) the postmaneuver guaranteed OD accuracies were met even though an incorrect frequency was used for the last few points of DSS 11 data.

# XII. Analysis of Air Force Eastern Test Range Tracking Data—Surveyor IV

### A. Introduction

1

The AFETR supports the Surveyor missions by computing injection conditions and classical orbital elements for the parking orbit, the spacecraft transfer orbit, and the Centaur postretro orbit. However, since Surveyor IV was a direct ascent mission, parking orbit computations were not applicable. The injection conditions computed by the AFETR are relayed to the SFOF in Pasadena where they may be used as the initial values for early JPL orbit computations. The AFETR also transmits initial acquisition information to the SFOF, which may be relayed to the Deep Space Stations. The input for the AFETR calculations is the Centaur C-band tracking data obtained from various AFETR and MSFN tracking stations,<sup>14</sup> the locations of which are given in Table 45.

In addition to fulfilling these requirements, the AFETR transmits the C-band tracking data taken during the transfer orbit and the *Centaur* postretro orbit to the SFOF.

Table 45.	AFETR station	locations used	for	Surveyor IV
-----------	---------------	----------------	-----	-------------

Station	Radar type	Geocentric radius, km	Geocentric latitude, deg (minus, south)	Longitude, deg
Pretoria	MPS-25	6375.7617	- 25.7960	28.35670
Ascension	TPQ-18	6377.9609	-7.9223	345.59729
Trinidad"	FPS-43	6377.7316	10.6717	298.39093
Antigua	FPQ-6	6376.3798	17.0349	298.20663
Grand Turk	TPQ-18	6375.3547	21.3313	288.86751

The transfer orbit data are used to compute an early JPL transfer orbit based solely on the C-band data that are used as a backup should unusual circumstances cause a failure of the AFETR orbit computation system. Under normal conditions, the early JPL orbit is used as a quick check on the AFETR transfer orbit. The *Centaur* postretro orbit is made available to verify that the *Centaur* retromaneuver was performed properly, ensuring that the *Centaur* will not impact the moon and that the spacecraft will be separated from the *Centaur* sufficiently so that the Canopus sensor on board the spacecraft will not lock up on the *Centaur*. The AFETR tracking coverage for *Surveyor IV* is shown in Fig. 36.

#### **B.** Analysis of the Transfer Orbit Data

The inflight transfer orbit computed at JPL from the C-band tracking data used only data taken during the time span from *Centaur* main engine cutoff to separation of the spacecraft from the *Centaur*. All data before main engine cutoff are unusable since the vehicle is experiencing a high-thrust acceleration that would perturb any transfer orbit solution. Any C-band data taken after separation of the spacecraft from the *Centaur* are questionable for use in a spacecraft transfer orbit solution because the C-band radars are actually tracking the *Centaur* and not the spacecraft. After separation, the *Centaur* executes a turnaround maneuver and lateral thrust maneuver preparatory to the *Centaur* retromaneuver.

Centaur transfer orbit data were obtained from the Trinidad and Antigua tracking stations. About 18 s of low-elevation data at a rate of 1 point/6 s was obtained from Trinidad skin-tracking during the unpowered part of the flight. About 48 s of free-flight data was obtained from Antigua C-band tracking at the same sample rate but at somewhat higher elevation angles. Figure 37 shows the elevation angles at Antigua and Trinidad during the time free-flight data were being taken.

<sup>&</sup>quot;Trinidad uses skin tracking of the *Centaur* vehicle; it does not have C-band tracking capability.







Fig. 37. AFETR station elevation angles for Surveyor IV

A comparison of the AFETR and JPL injection conditions is given in Table 46. The inflight best-estimate of the transfer orbit, also shown, is based on premidcourse DSIF data. Table 47 shows the data spans used for the

Table 46. Tra	nsfer orbit	solutions,	Surveyor	IV	'
---------------	-------------	------------	----------	----	---

		the second s	
Parameter	Best inflight orbit computed by AFETR	Inflight orbit computed from AFETR data by JPL	Best DSIF orbit computed from premidcourse data
	Epoch, GMT	12:05:06.480	
	(July 14,	1967)	
Geocentric			
position and			
velocity at			
epoch			D004 0004
X, km	3084.3324	3098.4646	3086.8904
Y, km	5367.6490	5358.3490	5367.0377
Z, km	2133.4062	2140.6742	2133.6794
DX, km/s	- 8.0374844	- 8.0054246	- 8.0394324
DY, km/s	6.0574391	6.1087959	6.0570880
DZ, km/s	- 4.3658312	4.3545489	- 4.3609970
Unbraked impact			
quantities		0000 77	1770 7995
B, km	1781.04	3882.//	1778.7323
B∙T7, km	1778.32	2497.99	1/02.9834
B∙R⊺, km	-98.51	2972.54	236.16865
Latitude, deg	-4.78	- 29.15	-2.0651264
Longitude, deg	354.48	102.452	353.95643
SMAA, km	Value not available	8224.	48.14
Unbraked	02:11:06.400	01:50:12.319	02:11:45.992
impact,	(July 17, 1967)	(July 17, 1967)	(July 17, 1967)
GMT			

 Table 47. Statistics of real-time transfer orbit

 tracking data residuals, Surveyor IV

	Data spo	in, GMT	Number	Stan-	Mean
Station and data type	Beginning h:min:s	Ending h:min:s	of points	devia- tion	residual (O — C)
Trinidad					
Range, km	12:05:15	12:05:33	4	0.049	-0.100
Azimuth, deg	12:05:15	12:05:33	4	0.020	- 0.091
Elevation, deg	12:05:15	12:05:33	4	0.123	0.428
Antigua					
Range, km	12:05:12	12:06:00	9	0.003	0.008
Azimuth, deg	12:05:12	12:06:06	10	0.013	0.018
Elevation, deg	12:05:12	12:06:00	9	0.014	-0.026

JPL inflight transfer orbit on AFETR data and the associated statistics for the tracking data residuals. Figure 38 shows a time history of the residuals.

The AFETR solution agrees very closely to the best inflight DSIF orbit computed from premidcourse data. The AFETR solution represents a remarkable solution when one considers that it was based on a short span of data. The JPL transfer orbit computed from the AFETR data does not compare quite as well with the DSIF orbit. However, the unbraked impact point of the best DSIF solution falls well within the impact dispersion ellipse of the JPL transfer orbit computed from the AFETR data. For this reason the three transfer orbit solutions are considered consistent. The AFETR solution is a fairly accurate one and the JPL solution is consistent with it and serves as a good check on the AFETR solution.

The fact that there is a difference between the AFETR solution and the JPL solution should not be alarming because some difference has always existed between the two solutions for all *Surveyor* missions. Five possible causes for the difference in the solutions are advanced:

- (1) Modifications made to the raw data used by the AFETR to compute the transfer orbit. Before launch, the AFETR obtains the latest weather information from the various tracking stations to determine the index of refraction for each station. The AFETR is thus able to apply refraction corrections based on the current local atmospheric conditions. The SPODP program used by JPL applies a refraction correction to the computed observations but does not consider local conditions. The difference in refraction corrections used by the AFETR and JPL could account for a few meters in the range observable and a few hundredths of a degree in angle data. This difference in the data observables would also mean some difference in the converged transfer orbit solutions.
- (2) Difference in the tracking station locations used by the AFETR and JPL. Since there is an uncertainty associated with the location of any tracking station, there is always a difference of opinion about which station location is best. As a part of the postflight analysis for Surveyor IV, a short study was made to determine the sensitivity of the AFETR transfer orbit solution to station-location variation. The conclusion drawn from this study was that minor station-location variations could not account for



JPL TECHNICAL REPORT 32-1292

-----





Fig. 38. AFETR tracking data residuals for Surveyor IV

+

the relatively large difference in the geocentric inertial position and velocity of the JPL and AFETR transfer orbit solutions.

- (3) Different epochs associated with the JPL and AFETR transfer orbit solutions. The epoch used for the AFETR orbit solution was 12:04:55.600 GMT. To compare this solution with the JPL solution, the AFETR converged conditions had to be mapped to the JPL epoch of 12:05:06.480. Some accuracy could be lost by the mapping but this should have only a minor effect.
- (4) Different data spans used by AFETR and JPL to compute a transfer orbit. During the postflight analysis, it was not possible to determine which data were used in the various AFETR solutions. Consequently, additional postflight analysis was performed using various data spans in the transfer orbit solution in an attempt to match the best AFETR solution. Three additional postflight transfer orbits were computed and the solutions are

Parameter	Solution using Antigua data only	Solution using burn data from Antigua and Trinidad	Solution using DSS 72 angle data with Antigua and Trinidad
	Epoch, GMT	12:05:06.480	
	(July 14,	1967)	
Geocentric			
position and			
velocity at			
epoch			
X, km	3098.3648	3098.4306	3099.0084
Y, km	5358.5347	5358.7887	5358.9018
Z, km	2140.0163	2140.1980	2140.9097
DX, km/s	8.0202025	- 8.0963849	- 8.0406861
DY, km/s	6.0849217	5.9829855	6.0729472
DZ, km/s	- 4.3556044		- 4.3768332
Unbraked impact quantities			
BB,km	2868.93	14037.1	12067.6
B•T7, km	2827.33	13234.5	- 8031.20
<b>₿ • R</b> 7, km	486.81	4678.2	9007.00
Latitude, deg	— 12.23	- 17.44	- 44.10
Longitude, deg	24.58	217.31	205.88
Unbraked	02:15:11.353	23:48:18.721	23:14:59.077
impact, GMT	(July 17, 1967)	(July 16, 1967)	(July 16, 1967)

Table 48. Postflight transfer orbit solutions, Surveyor IV

given in Table 48. Table 49 shows the data spans used for these postflight transfer orbit solutions and the associated statistics for the tracking data residuals.

The first solution is based on only the C-band tracking data received from Antigua. The time span used is from main engine cutoff to just before separation of the spacecraft from *Centaur*. No Trinidad data were used in the solution since the small amount of Trinidad data available did not appear

Table 49.	Statistics a	of postflight	transfer orbit
tracki	ng data re	siduals, Su	rveyor IV

	Data span, GMT		Nissar	Stan-	
Station and data type	Begin- ning h:min:s	End- ing h:min:s	ber of points	dard devia- tion	Mean residual (O — C)
		Antigua data	only		
Antigua	ſ		[		
Range, km	12:05:06	12:05:54	9	0.002	0.000664
Azimuth, deg	12:05:06	12:05:54	9	0.0075	0.000002
Elevation, deg	12:05:06	12:05:54	9	0.0148	0.00668
	Burn data	from Antigu	a and Tr	rinidad	L
Antigua					Γ
Range, km	12:04:48	12:05:54	12	0.217	0.0704
Azimuth, deg	12:04:48	12:06:00	13	0.0290	0.00540
Elevation, deg	12:04:48	12:05:54	12	0.126	0.0763
Trinidad					
Range, km	12:04:51	12:05:27	7	0.245	0.0212
Azimuth, deg	12:04:51	12:05:33	8	0.0353	-0.0967
Elevation, deg	12:04:51	12:05:27	7	0.254	0.188
DSS	72 angle a	lata with Aı	ntigua ar	nd Trinidad	I
Antigua					
Range, km	12:05:06	12:05:54	9	0.0545	-0.0219
Azimuth, deg	12:05:06	12:05:54	9	0.0153	0.0167
Elevation, deg	12:05:06	12:05:54	9	0.0325	- 0.00706
Trinidad					
Range, km	12:05:09	12:05:33	5	0.0952	- 0.0601
Azimuth, deg	12:05:09	12:05:33	5	0.0261	- 0.0880
Elevation, deg	12:05:09	12:05:33	5	0.190	0.317
DSS 72					
Azimuth, deg	12:16:23	12:28:53	47	3.70	- 0.0250
Elevation, deg	12:16:23	12:28:53	47	0.224	0.0116

to be good. This solution is very close to the inflight transfer orbit solution computed by JPL.

A second transfer orbit solution used Antigua and Trinidad tracking data from before main engine cutoff to separation of the spacecraft from *Centaur*. The time span was chosen to add two points of burn data (data received before main engine cutoff) to the data span for each station. Since the AFETR real-time orbits were computed before the actual mark times were known, it was thought that an error in main engine cutoff mark time had perhaps brought some burn data into their solutions. However, a comparison of this postflight solution with the AFETR real-time solution shows that this was probably not true.

Both Antigua and Trinidad lost track of the spacecraft-*Centaur* before their separation (Fig. 36). This rules out any possibility that data taken during *Centaur* retrothrust could have been used in the AFETR real-time transfer orbit solution. So an error in the *Centaur* retro mark time would not affect the AFETR transfer orbit solution.

The third postflight transfer orbit solution contained data from DSS 72 in addition to the Trinidad and Antigua data. In the past the AFETR transfer orbit solutions have been based only on tracking data from the AFETR and MSFN tracking stations. But the AFETR personnel indicated they had used early data from DSS 72 in one of their transfer orbit solutions. A transfer orbit solution using the first 10 min of two-way doppler data and angle data from DSS 72 showed that the poor quality of the doppler data made a converged solution impossible. When only the angle data from DSS 72 and the data from Trinidad and Antigua were used, a converged solution was possible. From this solution (Table 48) it is clear that the early DSS 72 data was inconsistent with the data from Trinidad and Antigua.

(5) Different orbit determination programs used by the AFETR and JPL. The fact that the inflight AFETR transfer orbit solution is very close to the best DSIF solution while the inflight JPL solution did not give as close a comparison should not be alarming. The AFETR orbit determination program is designed specifically to deal with short spans of data and can make special corrections for the AFETR data (e.g., refraction corrections). The JPL orbit determination program is designed to yield very accurate solutions from long spans of data. With such a small amount of data, it is difficult to find the accurate solution for the orbital parameters. Thus the JPL inflight solution was considered a good one for the amount of data available.

### C. Analysis of the Postretro Orbit Data

*Centaur* C-band tracking data from Pretoria and Ascension were available for postretro orbit computations. Approximately 30 min of data from Pretoria and 90 min of data from Ascension were used in the JPL postflight postretro orbit solution. The AFETR personnel were unable to provide information on the data used in their

 Table 50. Summary of Centaur postretro orbit injection

 conditions, Surveyor IV

Parameter	Inflight orbit computed by AFETR	Postflight orbit computed by JPL			
Εŗ	Epoch, GMT 12:15:30.000 (July 14, 1967)				
Geocentric position and velocity at epoch					
X, km	- 2289.6226	- 2277.9752			
Y, km	7557.4279	7555.1903			
Z, km	895.16378	- 885.98453			
DX, km/s	- 8.5209694	- 8.5240357			
DY, km/s	1.1773870	1.1875719			
DZ, km/s	4.9415631	4.9420839			
Unbraked impact quantities					
B, km	26479.433	26472.925			
B•TT, km	22427.062	22490.459			
B•R7, km	14077.900	-13964.061			

Table 51. Statistics of JPL postflight Centaur postretro orbit tracking data residuals, Surveyor IV

Station and data type	Data span, GMT		Num	Stan-	Mogn
	Begin- ning h:min:s	End- ing h:min:s	ber of points	dard devia- tion	residual (O C)
Pretoria					
Range, km	12:15:36	13:37:06	476	0.0850	-0.00423
Azimuth, deg	12:15:36	13:37:06	673	0.0225	0.00182
Elevation, deg	12:15:36	13:37:06	673	0.0169	0.00721
Ascension					
Range, km	12:18:12	12:43:06	179	0.0169	- 0.00860
Azimuth, deg	12:18:12	12:43:06	182	0.158	0.0224
Elevation, deg	12:18:12	12:43:06	180	0.0164	0.000961

solution. The AFETR and JPL postretro solutions are given in Table 50. The data used for the JPL solution and the statistics of the postretro orbit tracking data residuals are given in Table 51.

#### **D.** Conclusions

The AFETR data and the early DSS 72 data were not consistent. In fact, the early DSS 72 data were of such poor quality that they were not useful in any transfer orbit solutions. The elevation angles at Trinidad were so low that these data were also of poor quality. The best postflight transfer orbit solution computed from early data was from the C-band data received from Antigua after main engine cutoff and before separation. This orbit solution agrees closely with the inflight transfer orbit computed on AFETR data. The elevation angles at Antigua were all below 10 deg and these data were not considered good enough to accurately define the transfer orbit.

The data used for the JPL postretro orbit solution were obtained at elevation angles above 10 deg. The relatively large amount of postretro data that were available yielded a reliable postretro orbit solution. The JPL and AFETR solutions agree closely, particularly in the **B**-plane quantities.

# Appendix A Definition of Doppler Data Types

Three types of doppler data were obtained by the DSN tracking stations – one-way, two-way, and three-way doppler. The following sketches and definitions distinguish the methods.



TWO-WAY DOPPLER

DEEP SPACE STATION I THREE-WAY DOPPLER (NONCOHERENT) The spacecraft transmits to the ground station. The ground station operates in receive mode, only.

The ground station transmits to the spacecraft; the spacecraft retransmits signal to the same ground station. The ground station operates in both transmit and receive modes.

The first ground station transmits a signal to the spacecraft; the spacecraft retransmits the signal to the second ground station. Station 1 does *not* transmit a reference frequency to station 2.

## Appendix B

# Definition of the Miss Parameter B

The miss parameter **B** is used at JPL to measure miss distances for lunar and interplanetary trajectories; it is described by W. Kizner in Ref. 10. The parameter has the desirable feature of being very nearly a linear function of changes in injection conditions.

The osculating conic at closest approach to the target body is used in defining **B**, which is the vector from the target's center of mass, perpendicular to the incoming asymptote. Let  $S_I$  be a unit vector in the direction of the incoming asymptote. The orientation of **B** in the plane normal to  $S_I$  is described in terms of two unit vectors, **R** and **T**, normal to  $S_I$ . Unit vector **T** is taken parallel to a fixed *reference plane*, and **R** completes a right-handed orthogonal system. Figure B-1 illustrates the system.

For Surveyor, two reference planes have been used: the plane of the earth's equator TQ or the plane of the moon's equator TT.



Fig. B-1. Definition of B.T, B.R system

# Glossary

•

Abbreviations		Parameters (co	ntd)	
ACIC	Air Force Aeronautical Chart and Infor-	DX, DY, DZ	geocentric space-fixed velocity	
AMR	mation Center altitude marking radar	SMAA	semimajor axis of one-sigma dispersion ellipse	
az	azimuth	SMIA	semiminor axis of one-sigma dispersion ellinse	
CACO	Centaur achieves circular orbit	SVEIVB	one-sigma uncertainty in magnitude of y	
dec	declination angle	<b>57</b> FIAR	locity vector at unbraked impact (Sigma	
el	elevation	_	Velocity at FIXed Kadius)	
Ε	lunar encounter (when shown with <i>time</i> )	$T_{L}$	time of launch	
EUBIT	estimated unbraked impact time	X, Y, Z	geocentric space-fixed position	
HA	hour angle	$\sigma_{T, impact}$	one-sigma uncertainty in predicted un- braked impact time	
L	launch (when shown with <i>time</i> )	$\sigma_x, \sigma_y, \sigma_z$	one-sigma uncertainties in position	
lat	latitude	$\sigma_{DX}, \sigma_{DY}, \sigma_{DZ}$	one-sigma uncertainties in velocity.	
lon	longitude	$\theta_{\mathbf{T}}$	orientation angle of dispersion ellipse measured counterclockwise from <b>B</b> • <b>T</b> 7 axis	
LaRC	Langley Research Center	-		
0 – C	observed value <i>minus</i> computed value (residual)	$oldsymbol{\phi}_{\mathfrak{s}\mathfrak{s}}$	99% velocity vector pointing error	
OD	orbit determination	Orbit identifications		
ODG	orbit data generator program	DACO	data consistency orbit	
MECO	Centaur main engine cutoff	ETR	orbit computed at AFETR real-time com- puter complex	
MC	midcourse	FINAL	AMR backup computation orbit	
R	radius; retromaneuver (when shown with	ICEV	initial condition evaluation orbit	
SPODP	single precision orbit determination pro	LAPM	last premidcourse orbit	
SPODI	gram	NOMA	nominal maneuver orbit	
TDP	tracking data processor program	РОМ	postmidcourse orbit	
AFETR	Air Force Eastern Test Range	PRCL	premidcourse data cleanup orbit	
Parameters		PREL	preliminary evaluation orbit	
	vis viva integral (twice the energy per	PROR	predict orbit	
$\bigcirc_3$	unit mass)	PTD	post touchdown orbit	

ŧ,

...

₹

3

 $\overline{a}$ 

## References

- 1. Surveyor III Mission Report, Part I. Mission Description and Performance, Technical Report 32-1177. Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Pasadena, Calif., Sept. 1, 1967.
- 2. Surveyor IV Mission Report. Mission Description and Performance, Technical Report 32-1210. Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Pasadena, Calif., Jan. 1, 1968.
- Warner, M. R., and Nead, M. W., SPODP-Single Precision Orbit Determination Program, Technical Memorandum 33-204. Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Pasadena, Calif., Feb. 15, 1965.
- White, R. J., et al., SPACE-Single Precision Cowell Trajectory Program, Technical Memorandum 33-198. Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Pasadena, Calif., Jan. 15, 1965.
- 5. Holzman, R. E., User's Guide to the Tracking Data Processor and Orbit Data Generator Programs, Reorder No. 62-205, Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Pasadena, Calif., May 27, 1965.
- Vegos, C. J., and Trask, D. W., "Ranger Combined Analysis, Part II: Determination of the Masses of the Earth and Moon from Radio Tracking Data," in *The Deep Space Network*, Space Programs Summary 37-44, Vol. III, Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Pasadena, Calif., Mar. 31, 1967.
- Clarke, V. C., Jr., Constants and Related Data for Use in Trajectory Calculations, Technical Report 32-604. Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Pasadena, Calif., Mar. 6, 1964.
- 8. Wollenhaupt, W. R., Surveyor HAC-JPL Orbit Determination Interface Agreement, Project Document No. 62, Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Pasadena, Calif., Mar. 30, 1966.
- Labrum, R. G., HAC-JPL Orbit Determination Interface Agreement for Surveyor Parking Orbit Trajectories, Project Document No. 602-26, Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Pasadena, Calif., June 6, 1967.
- 10. Kizner, W. A., A Method of Describing Miss Distances for Lunar and Interplanetary Trajectories, External Publication No. 674, Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Pasadena, Calif., Aug. 1, 1959.

. .

.

.

\_